University of Missouri, St. Louis IRL @ UMSL

UMSL Graduate Works Dissertations

12-12-2013

What is the Transformational Learning Experience of Secondary Teachers Who Have Dealt with Burnout?

Julius Sims University of Missouri-St. Louis

Follow this and additional works at: https://irl.umsl.edu/dissertation



Part of the <u>Education Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Sims, Julius, "What is the Transformational Learning Experience of Secondary Teachers Who Have Dealt with Burnout?" (2013). Dissertations. 269.

https://irl.umsl.edu/dissertation/269

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the UMSL Graduate Works at IRL @ UMSL. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of IRL @ UMSL. For more information, please contact marvinh@umsl.edu.

What is the Transformational Learning Experience of Secondary Teachers Who Have Dealt with Burnout?

Julius R. Sims I M.Ed., Curriculum and Instruction, National-Louis University-St. Louis, 2000 B.S., Industrial Arts Education, Virginia State University- Petersburg, VA., 1979

A Dissertation Submitted to The Graduate School at the University of Missouri-St. Louis in

partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

Doctor of Education in Educational Leadership & Policy Studies with an emphasis in

Adult & Higher Education

November 2013

Advisory Committee

E. Paulette Isaac-Savage, Ed.D. Chairperson

Lynn Beckwith Jr., Ed.D.

Mavis Clark, Ed.D.

John A. Henschke, Ed.D.

Matthew J. Taylor, Ph.D.

Abstract

i

Burnout is a syndrome consisting of emotional exhaustion (EE) and depersonalization (DPZ) (Yong & Yue, 2007). Teachers who fall victim to burnout are likely to be less sympathetic toward students, have a lower tolerance for classroom disruption, be less apt to prepare adequately for class, and feel less committed and dedicated to their work (Betoret, 2006; Byrne, 1991; Fisher, 2011). The purpose of this phenomenological study was to explore the burnout experiences among secondary teachers and the ways they cope with the adverse conditions. The participants were eight school high teachers from a large metropolitan area school district. Using in-depth interviews, the researcher was able to understand the personal meanings, expressed opinions, feelings, points of view, and other detailed descriptions of the participants. Administration issues, administrative workload, negative teacher/student relationships, and lack of student effort were themes associated with emotional exhaustion and depersonalization effecting teaching performance. In contrast, mental efficiencies, interpersonal relationships, and outside resources were themes associated with the coping activities/strategies of teachers. Preventing negative outcomes and minimizing unproductive behaviors and performance due to adverse effects of emotional exhaustion and detached attitudes towards students (i.e., depersonalization) may help teachers become more effective in the classroom (Hammond & Onikama, 1996; Maslach, 2003; Zonlnierczyk-Zreda, 2005).

Acknowledgements

First, my sincere acknowledgements and deepest thanks go to The God of all creation and His Christ for such a wonderful grace (i.e., ability) that allowed me to complete such an esteemed academic endeavor of this magnitude. The courage, fortitude, perseverance, resiliency, and commitment I was able to exhibit are truly due to God's blessings. Throughout this demanding and exhausting journey, my feeble ability at times to recognize this endeavor as part of my destiny helped produce the stamina I needed to continue.

Second, I owe an extreme amount of gratitude to my loving wife Cathy for positioning herself as my consistent supporter, great encourager, and private intercessor. Her desire for my success will remain priceless. Additionally, I extend my sincere thanks for the support from my great sons. I hope this achievement provides an incentive for them to walk the paths of possibilities that are in them as men, fathers, and humanitarian contributors. I greatly appreciate the encouragements and support from many others within my family along with the friends of my inner circle and members of the Word of Life Christian Church.

Many sincere-hearted supporters stood on my behalf and faithfully cheered for my success. Attaining such an achievement of this nature was also the results of the professional and scholarly contributions from my dissertation committee members and my gifted and well-respected advisor, Dr. P. Isaac-Savage. She is a woman of God and esteemed scholar who had set the bar of excellence very high. Along with the many other contributing professors that have participated in this achievement, I will always salute Professor John A. Henschke, the internationally known scholar and contributor of Adult Education who acted as my mentor. I thank him for being a father-like figure throughout my journey. I also acknowledge and

appreciate the work of those special scholars that were instrumental in molding/shaping my mind, but have since then passed away. I salute the late Dr. Mary Cooper and Dr."Vic" Battistich.

Contents

Abstract	i
Acknowledgements	ii
Chapter 1	1
Introduction	1
Background	3
Problem Statement	7
Purpose of the Study	8
Significance of Study	9
Operational Definitions	10
Summary	11
Chapter II	12
Review of Literature	
Field of Teaching.	12
Tanahar/Student Polationshin	1.4
Teacher/Student Relationship Teaching Demands	
Emotional Demands	
Physical Demands	
Burnout	
Causes of Burnout	
Maslach Burnout Inventory	26
Stages of Burnout	27
Emotional exhaustion	28
Depersonalization	29
Reduced personal accomplishment	29
Addressing Burnout	30
Stress	
Teacher Stress.	37
Elementary and middle/secondary school teachers and burnout/stress	39
Elementary School Teachers	40
Middle School Teacher	41
Secondary School Teachers	42
Coping	44
Coping Strategies	46
Direct Actions Techniques.	47

Palliative Techniques	48
Teacher Self-Efficacy	50
Transformational Learning	52
Gaining a New Perspective	54
Critical Reflection	
Transformational Triggers	57
Summary	58
Chapter III	62
Methodology	62
Research Design	63
Participant and Sample	66
Participant Selection and Researcher's Subjectivity	68
Data Collection and Instrumentation	70
Validity of Study	72
Data Analysis	73
Coding	
Triangulation	75
Bracketing	76
Study Limitations	77
Summary	77
Chapter IV	78
Participants' Demographics	78
Interview Guide and Resource Questions	80
Themes	81
Themes Associated to EE and DPZ	81
Administration Issues	82
Administrative Workload and Responsibilities	
Negative Teacher/Student Relationships	
Lack of Student Effort	
Chapter V.	
Coping Strategies Associated with EE and DPZ	
Positive Interpersonal Relationships	
Mental Efficiencies	
Outside Resources.	
Chapter VI.	
Discussion and Summary.	
Summary of the Present Study	
/ MIIIIIIM AUDII 1884C8	

Administrative Workload	111
Negative Teacher/Student Relationships	112
Lack of Student Effort	113
Coping with EE and DPZ	115
Positive Interpersonal Relationships	116
Mental Efficiencies	117
Outside Resources.	118
Transformational Learning.	120
Implications for Action	123
Administrators/Principals, Policy-Makers, Counselors, and Teachers	124
School Districts	125
Teacher Education Programs	126
Teachers	126
Adult Educators and Supervisors of Adult Education Programs/Training Programs	ams126
Recommendation for Future Study	128
Conclusion.	129
References	130
Appendices	
Appendix A: Informed Consent	179
Appendix B: Open-Ended Interview Questions	181
Appendix C: Background Information	182
Appendix D: Introduction of Study to Faculty	183
Appendix E: Request Permission from Superintendent to Conduct Study	184
Appendix F: IRB Approval	186
Tables	
Table 4.1 Demographics	80
Table 4.2 Themes and Descriptors of EE and DPZ	82
Table 4.3 Coping Strategies	98

Chapter 1

Introduction

There may be enough evidence suggesting that there is a distinct relationship between the cultural and social progression of a nation and the quality of its educational priorities. There could be an anticipation of lawlessness, moral corruption, and a general breakdown of established order if quality education, teacher proficiency, and mandated schooling were not available in all communities (Cohen & Schemer, 1997; Lochner & Moretti, 2004; Segall & Wilson, 2004). The United States emerged as a nation from the period of history between 1775 and 1789 (Stewart, 2005) and education progressed to become that important component that would help qualify the institutions, people, and cultures that took shape. Commitment to quality education and great teaching are endorsements toward human development that can help create productive citizenship.

Quality education and the skillful art of teaching played major roles that helped forge the identity and freedom of this nation. In addition, some governmental initiatives and vocational fields of education served as catalysts that contributed towards America's progression and established order. Some notable contributions involved, but were not limited to, developing a democratic process for civic and/or social stability; establishing governmental guidelines and policies for public educational services; and employing the humanitarian skills and caring efforts of classroom teachers. Moreover, the evolution of religious expressions, expanding educational practices, and strategic methods of classroom teaching would help develop the framework of how people would interact among themselves for the common good and form the well-being of a society (Boers, 2007). The meaningful and sometimes successful exploits that teachers orchestrate with children and adult learners alike in classrooms can become so significant in the

learning process. In short, the well-being and skillfulness of teachers can provide many quality educational services that benefit the clients (i.e., students) they serve. The art of teaching and idea of life-long learning are still important aspects within our society.

As valuable service providers, teachers serve or accommodate clients such as their colleagues, parents, community leaders, administrators, and various local and state officials. In addition, teachers faithfully serve school systems that have student populations which many of the students may require special needs or unique educational services from teachers. Though there are multiple professional services and other important duties teachers tend to fulfill, it is essential that teachers maintain a quality degree of self-motivation, determination, resiliency, empathy, and passion about the interactive learning process of students (Bowman, 2007). Teachers emotionally, physically, and mentally provide the required and sometimes unique services intended to manage, educate, train, help, motivate, and develop their students. In other words, quality teaching is a challenging job and it demands so much from teachers.

The overwhelming job responsibilities of teachers, increasing academic demands regarding all students, and the accountability factors facing teachers have caused new pressures upon those in the teaching vocation (Evers, Brouwers, & Tomic, 2002). Additional pressures from federal and state mandates along with societal expectations have resulted in levels of emotional/physical breakdowns and indifferences within teachers. Moreover, extreme mental exhaustion has caused many sincere-hearted teachers to perform poorly and/or display negative attitudes (Betoret, 2006; Black, 2003). For teachers to adapt, adjust, cope, and progress while dealing with mental or emotional exhaustion may require meaningful transformations. Such transformations may help teachers preserve good qualities of teaching. The job of teaching may require teachers to learn or self-educate themselves in how to preserve the quality of their well-

being and, subsequently, services to students.

The United States is one of the most influential and recognized nations striving to stay progressive and relevant while still competing with other global markets around the world. To accomplish additional achievements in education and increase priorities for social advancements, the significance of schooling, public education, evolving educational standards, and effective classroom teaching must take place. State and federal mandates concerning quality education have not diminished and societal expectations of teachers seem to be increasing. The following background information will briefly provide an overview of the field of teaching, the teacher/student relationship, teaching demands, and its affect on teachers, coping, and transformational learning.

Background

In 2006, the largest industry in the United States was the teaching profession (The Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2006). The Bureau also suggested that there would be record levels of elementary and secondary student enrollment through at least 2015. This potential increase in student population could affect the number of new teachers needed within the field of teaching in the future. In addition, educational reforms, funding, state, and federal educational requirements, and fluctuations of achievement levels of students have increasingly come to the forefront in education (Goe & Croft, 2009; Mitzel, 2005; U. S. Department of Education, 2004).

Nevertheless, with all the educational legislations, increasing student population, and increasing academic standards in place to increase student productivity, effective teaching practices from good teachers matter more than anything else (Hochschild & Scovronick, 2003). As a result, many teachers have become the victims of burnout (Hargreaves, 2003). Learning how to cope with burnout is a prevailing issue occasionally encountered while handling job-related

relationships and daily demands of the teaching field.

One of the most rewarding elements within the field of teaching involves the teacher/student relationship. The special inner qualities of teachers put them in position to establish healthy student relationships conducive for classroom learning. The teacher/student relationship becomes critical for student learning (Hargreaves, 2003; Maslach, 2003). It is highly important that teachers learn how to care for all learners and consider the power of nurturing the kinds of positive relationships that will help support the learning process of their students. We could be living in a defining moment concerning public education, student achievement, teacher/student relationship, and teacher accountability.

Learning successful techniques or strategies for coping with the stages of burnout (i.e., emotional exhaustion and depersonalization) could have favorable results for teachers who work at all grade levels. Kyriacou (2001) suggested that the ability of individuals to cope with burnout might be determined by learning one or both types of strategies known as: direct action techniques and palliative techniques. One applied technique deals with eliminating the source that produces the stress experience while the other technique deals with lessening the feelings of stress those individuals encounter. Despite the technique that deems successful, all teachers are required to be effective in their classroom duties while cultivating healthy relationships with their students.

Teachers that become emotionally exhausted with the job lose a sense of their professional effectiveness. In addition, when teachers become callous or insensitive (i.e., depersonalization) students tend to suffer. Teacher development, whether psychologically and/or professionally, is an important process for continued classroom effectiveness. Evers et al. (2002) found that teachers could feel unable to promote and/or establish an on-going quality learning

process with their students while carrying on with other challenging duties and tasks of the job. Evers et al. also asserted that when teachers have a sense of being in control of the learning process needed for students the professional self-worth and self-efficacy of teachers become strong. From my personal perspective, there is a relationship between a classroom teacher's effectiveness in establishing a positive learning process and the self-perceptions of one's professional worth as a teacher. Some working conditions and job challenges may require teachers to undergo some psychological development to remain positive, strong, and effective.

Demanding jobs and various stressful working conditions are components of life. They may also trigger a variety of personal observations and reflections (Mezirow, 1990).

Subsequently, the observations and reflections may cause some to arrive at perceived truths about the present matter or even themselves. Critically reflecting involves reevaluating assumptions individuals might have made about their jobs, themselves, and their world-view.

The beginning process of this kind of psychological development happens when people initially tend to "realize something is not consistent with what they once held to be true" (Taylor, 1998, p. 9). Some studies report that this form of psychological development happens when individuals have experienced a personal crisis (Dirkx, 1998; Kincheloe & Horn, 2008; Mezirow, 1991).

When teachers have experienced a personal crisis regarding their job, they tend to discover the importance of receiving additional help as professionals and/or learning the skills to adjust and adapt (Kincheloe & Horn). Many times the psychological development and transformational learning needs of teachers or other adults in general, often grow out of experiencing "a disorienting dilemma" or personal crisis (Mezirow, 1991, p. 61).

School districts can offer strategic interventions and/or professional services to assist teachers in their psychological development. Such interventions and/or professional services

may be useful and important for teachers to maintain measures of quality classroom performances. These interventions and services would be efforts to help address the issues affecting the classroom performances of teachers. Many school districts help teachers by using professional enrichment opportunities, staff development workshops, and mentorship programs. Along with having access to additional resources, school districts and other teacher-development organizations would seek to help teachers transform their thinking and possibly gain new perspectives about themselves and their job tasks (Murshidi, Konting, & Elias, 2006; Sparks, 2002; Wangberg, 1982).

The field of teaching requires teachers to be equipped mentally, professionally, and socially to face the responsibilities and needs of the vocation. As service providers, teachers should be mentally strong, professionally skilled, and socially able to adjust to the challenges of teaching students and upholding various other professional responsibilities. Classroom management, nurturing positive teacher/student relationships, carrying heavy workloads coupled with the lack of effective strategies for coping can lead to emotional exhaustion and depersonalization (i.e., callousness) (Evers et al., 2002; Maslach, 2003; Mee, 2009). When teachers are unable or fail to manage the daily tasks and responsibilities of their profession, the results could be costly to their happiness and/or personal fulfillment (Seligman & Csikszentmihalyi, 2000) and cause burnout (Maslach, 2003; Sheard & Golby, 2007; Vandenberghe & Huberman, 1999). Teachers, like many other working adults, can psychologically develop and learn to enhance and/or preserve their resiliency while maintaining favorable attitudes by learning and employing strategies for coping (Garrosa, Moreno-Jimenze, Liang, & Gonzalez, 2008; Sheard & Golby, 2007). School districts that professionally provide additional resources can have a vital role in assisting teachers to become proficient, equipped,

and caring professionals. The next sections will briefly discuss the selected research problem, purpose of the study, and significance to policy-makers and practitioners.

Problem Statement

Considerable research has been devoted to studying teacher stress and burnout at all levels of teaching. Burnout is a known phenomenon within human-service occupations such as teaching, social work, health care, law enforcement, and mental health services (Lumpkin, 2007; Maslach, 1981, 2003). Burnout continues to be a pressing issue among teachers (Dworkin, 1987; Maslach, 2003; Mee, 2009; Pedersen, 1998; Vandenberghe & Huberman, 1999). Although some coping strategies have been suggested (Fisher, 2011; Kyriacou, 2001), it is still unclear to some how best to help teachers prevent burnout (Lambert & McCarthy, 2006). According to Black (2003), when burnout conditions negatively affect the mental and emotional state of teachers, the teacher/student relationship becomes toxic having negative results. Maslach (2003) declares that teachers' inherent need to derive a sense of an existing significance from their work coupled with prolonged exposure to stressful conditions and a lack of affirming feedback that their work is meaningful provides a recipe for burnout.

Unfortunately, high levels of emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and attrition are characteristic of the teaching profession (Chang, 2009; Fisher, 2011). Teachers who fall victim to burnout are likely to be less sympathetic toward students, have a lower tolerance for classroom disruption, be less apt to prepare adequately for class, and feel less committed and dedicated to their work (Betoret, 2006; Byrne, 1991; Fisher, 2011). Burnout has, and will continue to be a job performance issue due to the emotional strain and the increased workload in the occupational field of teaching (Hughes, 2001; Schaufeli, Maslach, & Marek, 1993).

The vast literature on teacher burnout suggests that there are a number of problematic

factors affecting psychological outcomes and teaching performance. These factors include social support, locus of control, negative affectivity, professional efficacy, and coping behaviors. These factors may affect outcomes independently of, or in interaction with, work stressors (Schonfeld, 2001). Nevertheless, due to the emotional and mental nature of their work teachers have become prone to work-related issues such as anxiety, depression, stress, exhaustion, callousness, and anger (Chang, 2009). Emotional exhaustion of teachers, their dissipating lack of care and concern for students, and the lack of adequate measures for coping can become problems for effective teaching and student development (Chaplin, 2008). The problems and impact of burnout has affected the performance abilities, or the lack thereof in many teachers along with other employees and administrators in the field of human-service occupations (Gold, 1993; O'Reilley, 2005).

Purpose of the Study

As the preceding discussion outlined along with being a retired teacher experiencing stress and burnout, I believe that even the best-skilled teachers can feel overwhelmed, highly pressured by the job, professionally frustrated, and emotionally stressed. Previous research suggests that teaching is not the only vocation that is highly stressful, mentally demanding, and at times emotionally exhausting (Lumpkin, 2007). Nevertheless, the escalating conditions and unique tasks in the field of teaching can cause teachers to become prone to anxiety, depression, anger, indifference, intolerability, unproductiveness, and exhaustion. The purpose of this study is to gain an understanding of the coping strategies employed by secondary teachers who have experienced burnout and their transformational learning experiences because of burnout.

The following questions will be examined: (a) What are the factors that can lead to teacher stress and burnout?; (b) How do teachers cope with handling their professional duties

while dealing with burnout?; (c) What coping strategies do teachers use to address the effects of emotional exhaustion and/or feelings of callousness?; and (d) What are the transformational learning experiences of teachers who experienced burnout?

Significance of Study

Teachers have experienced a significant decline in their quality of professional care and educational performance for students when experiencing burnout and lacked strategies or measures for coping (Bakker & Schaufeli, 2000; Browers & Tomic, 2000; Folkman & Lazarus, 1988; Lumpkin, 2007; Montgomery & Rupp, 2005). The important issues of teacher burnout are prevalent throughout the education research (Alliance for Excellent Education, 2005; Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2007; Zolnierczyk-Zreda, 2005). Secondary school teachers are the focus of this study because they are highly susceptible to burnout which puts them at risk for specific consequences such as decreased quality of instruction and classroom management, emotional overload, lack of care in the teacher/student relationship, decreased efficacy, and decreasing job satisfaction (Chang, 2009; Chaplin, 2008; Maslach, 2003; Schonfeld, 2001).

Learned methods and strategies may alleviate the effects of teacher burnout and preserve the quality performance teachers need for the classroom and other job-related tasks. Preventing negative outcomes and minimizing unproductive behaviors and performance due to adverse effects of emotional exhaustion and detached attitudes towards students (i.e., depersonalization) can help teachers become more effective in the classroom and thus promote more responses that are positive from students (Hammond & Onikama, 1996; Maslach, 2003; Zonlnierczyk-Zreda, 2005). The benefits of relieving teacher burnout by learning and employing strategies for coping, before negative consequences or poor job performance start, would be of immense value to all student-teacher programs, novice teachers in the field, tenured teachers, school

administrators and district officials, educational policy-makers, educational specialists, and all educational institutions that serve students (Yavuz, 2009). This study may also add to the field of adult education research in an effort to understand further the transformational learning process of adults; and the social or environmental context that shapes or influences the learning that adults encounter.

Operational Definitions

This section provides the following terms used in this study.

Burnout is a condition resulting from a diminished or depleted motivation to pursue further achievement or efforts; it is when one's dedication to a objective fails to produce the desired personal results; "it is the chronic condition, something a person has been working toward over a period of weeks, months, even years"; a condition that can lead to exhaustion, frustration, and detachment (Freudenberger & Richelson, 1980, p. 13).

<u>Depersonalization</u> (DPZ) is the negative and uncaring attitudes that individuals developed toward their job responsibilities, colleagues, and those they serve (Maslach & Jackson, 1991).

Emotional Exhaustion (EE) is the on-going feelings of emotional fatigue, or a depletion of enthusiasm, and lack of commitment that have developed (Maslach & Jackson, 1991).

<u>Secondary Teachers</u> are certified teachers at the high school level teaching grades ranging from 9-12.

<u>Stress</u> is the physical and psychological result of internal and external pressure caused by a task or multiple tasks (The Psychology Dictionary, 2003).

<u>Teacher Stress</u> is the experiences of unpleasant or negative emotions of teachers, such as tension, frustration, anxiety, anger and depression, resulting from aspects of work as a teacher (Kyriacou, 1987).

<u>Transformation</u> is a process that results in a permanent change in an individual's world-view or mental viewpoint (Mezirow, 2000).

<u>Transformational Learning (TL)</u> is the psychological transformation of one's known and accepted mental frames of reference (i.e., habits of mind, mind-sets, personal perspectives), to make individuals more emotionally capable of change so that they may generate beliefs and/or opinions that will prove more true to guide behaviors or actions; it is a permanent change in one's mental view (Mezirow, 1991).

Summary

This chapter briefly outlined some of the responsibilities and job tasks of the teaching field along with the issues and concerns related to teacher stress and burnout. Despite the numerous studies, there is a gap in the education literature regarding the importance of preserving quality classroom instruction along with the effectiveness of employing coping strategies or protective measures for handling teacher burnout. Gaining a new perspective and learning effective strategies for coping with burnout and stress can result in transformational learning experiences for teachers. Secondly, Chapter I provided research questions that define the parameters of the study, the purpose of the study, and its importance to the field of teacher education and adult education. Chapter II will provide the theoretical framework for the study, while, Chapter III outlines the proposed methodology, the sample; identify the instrument selected, procedures for data collecting, the proposed analyses, and limitations.

Chapter II

Review of Literature

The state of public education and teacher quality have been under review and analyzed for a number of years (U. S. Department of Education, 2004). This chapter will discuss issues, reports, conditions, and concerns regarding the work of teachers. The sections in this chapter will provide an overview regarding the field of teaching and other job-related components such as teacher/student relationships, teaching demands, and expectations. This chapter provides discussions about the complexities of burnout, present the known causes, and identified stages. In subsequent sections, brief discussions will present an overview of stress and teacher stress. Though the aim of this research involves high school teachers, there are brief discussions regarding the work-related factors and stressors of teachers at other grades levels (i.e., elementary and middle school). Furthermore, remaining sections will discuss previous studies on techniques for coping, addressing burnout, teacher efficacy, and transformational learning. It will conclude with a chapter summary.

Field of Teaching

The field of teaching has provided students, and adult learners alike, with quality educational experiences while also preparing them for the challenges, responsibilities, transitions, and career opportunities ahead. The field of teaching has made its mark throughout our history. The vocational field of teaching and its affects upon human development have accomplished great benefits (Awa et al., 2010; Delors, 1996). Additionally, the literature suggests that the demands for qualified teachers have not diminished. A continued increase of teachers is expected (Murnane & Steele, 2007; U. S. Agency for International Development [USAID], 2008; U.S. Department of Education, 2009). Despite the noble considerations about the field of teaching, the complexities involving academic achievement and the idea of

establishing healthy social relationships can be challenging. Though the field of teaching is enjoyable, it is not without its daily challenges. Similarly, there are challenges for educational policy-makers and school officials. There should be ongoing efforts to improve curricula and the academic productivity of students, redesign graduation protocols for low-achieving and at-risk students, prepare better caring teachers while promoting and supporting teacher effectiveness (U.S. Department of Education, 2009). The field of teaching can effectively serve all citizens willing to learn, but learning the skills and aptitudes to perform as a quality teacher is not for all citizens.

The emphasis of schooling and need for quality education has made the teaching field an important vocation in any society or thriving industrialized nation. Although the teaching field has been very rewarding to many teachers, the professional and meaningful responsibilities of teachers can be very engaging and taxing. College students that have entered the field of teaching have found school regulations, curriculum writing, administrative responsibilities, teacher/student relationships, and parent expectations much more demanding than going to class, writing papers, and studying for exams (Segall & Wilson, 2004). The instructional strategies of the classroom, the emotional interactions with learners, quality classroom management, and other job-related responsibilities make the field of teaching a unique profession (Saphier & Gower, 1997; Segall & Wilson, 2004). Teachers can help cultivate academic excellence in classrooms by creating a climate that allows students to feel valued (Doll, Zucker, & Brehm, 2004; Schmuck & Schmuck, 1997).

The professional job descriptions and service deeds of teachers have continued throughout the years. Along with engaging themselves to the art of classroom teaching, many other work-related aspects included teachers acting as role models, hall monitors, counselors,

mentors, advocates, researchers, surrogate parents, peacekeepers, and record keepers.

Apparently, the field of teaching is not without the constant personal and social demands along with other pressing job-related tasks (Chang, 2009). Students are in need of the best that teachers and the field of education have to offer. The relationship between teacher and student is one of those important components that comprise the field of teaching. Positive teacher/student relationships that teachers try to build and sustain are important for healthy classroom climates for learning.

Teacher/Student Relationships

Positive relationships with students offer teachers internal rewards and can provide significance or meaning to their work as educators. Teachers can experience wonderful rewards resulting from student achievement and productive teacher/student relationships (Saphier & Gower, 1997; Segall & Wilson, 2004). Teachers who feel associated with the success of their students have a sense of fulfillment and success. A positive relationship constructed and managed by both teacher and student tends to be an important component that allows the learning process to become rewarding for both teacher and student. Hargreaves (1998) and O'Connor (2008) found that positive teacher/student relationships are one of the core reasons for teachers staying in the profession for any length of time. There is also empirical evidence to support this widely assumed association between teacher/student relationships and teacher well-being. For example, conducting in-depth interviews with 60 teachers, Hargreaves (2000) found that good relationships with students were the most important source of enjoyment and motivation.

The task of fostering positive relationships with students can come with great difficulty

when the emotional make up of teachers is extremely challenged or negative. According to Rimm-Kaufman (2011), teachers can create classroom environments more conducive to learning while meeting student's developmental, emotional, and academic needs if they are able to foster positive relationships with their students. Furthermore, studies have shown that teachers who experience a great deal of job stress and burnout may have difficulty establishing rapport and maintaining positive relationships with their students (Hargreaves, 1998; Howard & Johnson, 2004; Lambert & McCarthy, 2006). Endangering a developing positive teacher/student relationship exists when teachers perceive their fluctuating job challenges and ongoing demands as becoming overwhelming and stressful (Howard & Johnson, 2004). Oftentimes, the teacher/student relationships can deteriorate due to the daily challenges teachers face such as, safeguarding the proper environment for learning in all their classes, meeting daily deadlines and requirements from administration, managing large class sizes, fulfilling other duties outside the classroom, and enforcing disciplinary measures upon disruptive students (Institute for Educational Leaderships [IEL], 2001). Rimm-Kaufman also found that if students feel personal connections to teachers, experience frequent positive communication with teachers, and receive more guidance, support, and praise rather than criticisms from teachers, then they are likely to become more trustful of teachers and open to develop positive relationships.

The job demands and emotional deposits of teaching can become a stressful vocation where teachers experience high levels of anxiety, frustration, pressure, weighty expectations, dread, indifference, and burnout, which in-turn can affect the teacher/student relationship. The mental and emotional strains of teaching are not isolated to veteran teachers who have served in the vocation for an extended period beyond five years. There appears to be some major concerns regarding early career burnout for beginning teachers, i.e., teachers with one to five years of

teaching (Alliance for Excellent Education, 2005). These major concerns are due to the emotional challenges of beginning teachers striving to cope with developing teacher/student relationships while dealing with the demands of their job and stress of teaching (Anderson & Iwanicki, 1981; Kelchtermans & Ballet, 2002; Schonfeld, 2001). The increasing numbers of beginning teachers, from all grades levels, associated with an early exit from the teaching profession seem to be due to unhealthy teacher/student relationships. Some of the job-related frustrations of teachers are due to the negative or unhealthy teacher/student relationships they deal with daily (Benner, 2000; Black, 2003; Brewster & Railsback, 2001; Macdonald, 1991). Teachers are important adults in children's scholastic lives. Sometimes the influences from teacher/student relationships can be just as strong or influential as the relationships from the parents of students. According to Malmberg and Hagger (2009), there is evidence that teacher/student relationships and teacher well-being have significant effects on children's socioemotional adjustment and academic performance.

In short, teachers that professionally accept the responsibilities for educating, guiding, motivating, training, and molding students must be caring adults with strong minds. Positive teacher/student relationships carry significant internal rewards for teachers and students. A positive relationship between teachers and students contribute towards academic success and a positive learning environment in the classroom (Doll et al., 2004; Hamer & Pianta, 2001). Positive teacher/student relationships can cultivate the needed awareness for students to feel able to academically advance. Additionally, creating and sustaining positive teacher/student relationships afford students the freedom to communicate their educational needs and deficiencies to their teachers without shame, insult, or ridicule. Moreover, positive relationships with students will afford teachers the freedom to communicate the needed responsibilities and

tasks from their students. Though the needs for positive teacher/student relationships are essential for effective learning, it requires the ongoing personal involvement and energies of teachers and students to participate in the building process. Jeopardizing the dynamics in creating the teacher/student relationships can become easy, when teachers emotionally deal with the daily requirements, expectations, and perceived demands of the job. The teaching field has important responsibilities, required relationships, and demanding tasks. Nevertheless, managing healthy teacher/student relationships and handling various job demands remain as foundational components within the school environment.

Teaching Demands

The demands, stress, and responsibilities of today's teachers exceed the expectations and demands of educational pioneers and teachers of yesterday (Hammond & Prince, 2007; Hargreaves, 2003). It is evident that the job demands within the teaching profession are not just limited to the traditional classroom teaching activities that promote learning. Some of the other duties that teachers perform include, motivating unmotivated students, increasing achievement levels of students taking standardized tests, and minimizing the achievement gaps among students. Furthermore, teachers must prepare engaging lesson plans that are authentic, measurable, and relevant; manage student behavior and maintain communications with parents; and adhere to district and academic policies (Awa et al., 2010; Baker, 2005; Berry, Smylie, & Fuller, 2008; Haberman, 2004; Sardiwalla, VandenBerg, & Esterhuyse, 2007). Thus, there are both emotional and physical demands of teaching.

Emotional Demands

The emotional demands of teaching and the stressfulness of teachers have become a widely recognized phenomenon (Chang, 2009; Tuettemann, 1991). The OECD's (2005) analysis into global trends and developments in the teaching workforce across 25 countries identified retention of quality teachers as one of the main concerns for policy makers worldwide. Strategically redesigning educational objectives and creating a safe environment for students and faculty within our nation's school systems may not be an option anymore. The strategies undertaken to lessen the emotional strain of teachers and improve the process of learning within American classrooms will be a daunting, demanding, and costly task for all invested stakeholders. Grappling with the ideas and potential problems of achieving a large-scale educational reform, increasing student achievement, and protecting the well-being and safety of teachers have become a great challenge for America and its teachers (Fullan, 2001).

Teachers often feel drained intellectually and emotionally when they deal with students' misbehaviors (Chang & Davis, 2009) while also striving to provide quality instructional time and guidance for other students that are in the classrooms. The emotional demands within the field of teaching are evident. Frequent interactions with adults and students can be a tiring experience each day. Along with being required to provide the energies necessary to carry out daily workloads, teachers find themselves regulating personal expressions, managing their actions, and controlling their emotions (Chang, 2009; Hargreaves, 2003; Maslach, Schaufeli, & Leiter, 2001). It is safe to suggest that striving to serve, help, and satisfy the needs of others are emotional requirements. Thus, in order to create and sustain an engaging lesson, teachers need to invest a great deal of emotional labor each day (Hargreaves, 2000; Shyman, 2010; Yong & Yue, 2007). For the many teachers in K-12 schools, teaching is a narrow focus on day-to-day events, a sense

of separation from other adults in the building, and limited opportunities for reflection (Fullan, 2001). Fullan also suggests that due to the isolated culture of the vocation, teachers depleted of energy may become frustrated and bored as they privately struggle with their anxieties.

Quality teaching that produces increased learning and student achievement is a demanding job that requires emotional stability and a balanced mental state of mind. Teaching is not like many other professions because it places continuous demands upon the very fibers of the human soul. Teaching is an emotional cost upon caring teachers and teachers are always prone to fall short emotionally (Maslach, 2003). There is a relationship between the affective work of classroom teaching and the emotional well-being of teachers. The emotional needs required to reach, teach, and serve all students are not the only objectives of teaching. There are also the demands for teachers to perform physically with endurance, skill, and ability.

Physical Demands

A portion of student achievement will be the results of the never-ending sacrifices and physical demands teachers face. According to Hargreaves (2003), challenging the stamina of a teacher can be every day on the job. In today's school systems, the physical demands upon teachers are constantly on the front line. Maintaining the instructional posture of standing, carrying teaching equipment/text books, various trips to different locations within the facility, moving classroom furniture, chaperoning field trips, and actively managing numbers of students each day can be physically costly upon any teacher. Consequently, being physically tired can have adverse effects on classroom performance (Hargreaves, 1998; Skvoholt & Trotter-Mathison, 2010). Handling disorderly classes and disruptive students can be an expression of a physical nature. Personally providing classroom assistance for students, physically suffering

from inadequate times for eating throughout the day, multi-tasking, and the need for more physical breaks can have its affects on the body.

As noted earlier, the field of teaching has been an enjoyable and fulfilling vocation for many teachers. It has provided the means for developing and preparing students for their futures. Students are in need of the best that teachers have to offer. Teachers within the field of education create opportunities to cultivate academic excellence in classrooms along with helping students feel valued. Nevertheless, the field of teaching is not without its daily challenges and demands that can threaten the well-being of teachers. The emotional and physical involvement of classroom teachers can be complex, daunting, and at times demanding. However, good teacher/student relationships seem to be the most important source of enjoyment and motivation for many tenured teachers in the field. Yet, teachers who experience burnout may have difficulty establishing and maintaining positive relationships with their students. In order to teach well, teachers must constantly and patiently solicit or draw the attention of all students and encourage them to listen, and provide verbal encouragement that leads to learning. Some of the special needs that students require for learning along with their limited or untapped abilities will require teachers to be prepared emotionally and physically to accommodate each day.

The objectives of the teaching profession are to prepare, advance, develop, educate, and train students for the future (Danielson, 2007). These objectives will require teachers to invest their energy, mind, emotions, and body. Most teachers will leave the school emotionally and physically exhausted at the end of the day, with the expectations that their students will return requiring meaningful services from their teachers again. Though the framework of teaching and the intricacies of student learning may largely rest upon the emotional and physical demands of classroom teachers, burnout has become an apparent reality within the teaching field.

Burnout

The term burnout refers to the conditions of physical and emotional exhaustion (Maslach, 2003; Skvoholt & Trotter-Mathison, 2010; Yong & Yue, 2007). These conditions are associated with the negative attitudes stemming from depersonalization (i.e., callousness or detachment), resulting from intense interactions while working with and/or serving people. Both emotional exhaustion and depersonalization are two primary conditions used to describe the burnout phenomenon (Maslach et al., 2001). The term burnout first emerged as a social problem, not as a scholarly construct (Freudenberger, 1974). The adverse conditions of burnout and the most discussion of it in the first five years of studies occurred in the fields of education, social services, health care, the criminal justice system, mental health, religion, and other peopleoriented occupations (Maslach, 2003). Burnout is a complex phenomenon and at times perceived to have an unknown origin, for which years ago no universal accepted definition existed (Farber, 1991). Previous findings also suggested that burnout is the unceasing emotional exhaustion and frustration resulting from continued devotion/dedication or work towards a goal or principle that has failed to produce corresponding rewards (Freudenberger, 1974; Freudenberger & Richelson, 1980; Terry, 1997).

Similarly today, burnout is considered as the extermination of motivation/enthusiasm for encouragement, especially where one's devotion to a cause or relationship fails to produce the desired results (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2010; Zolnierczyk-Zreda, 2005). It appears that much of the known research in the area of burnout is associated to Herbert Freudenberger, a psychologist practicing in New York during the 1960s and 1970s. Freudenberger (1974) used the term burnout to describe the effects of overworked, exhaustion, and frustration he experienced while operating a free clinic for drug users and impoverished persons. However, it seems the term

burnout originated during the 1960s as a description of the effects of drug abuse on an individual (Croom, 2003; Golembiewski, 1993).

Chronic exhaustion, negative attitudes, and frustration seem to be at the heart of much of the burnout syndrome. According to Maslach (2003), burnout is a pattern of emotional overload and subsequent emotional exhaustion. Maslach asserts a person gets overly involved emotionally, over-extends him or herself, and consequently feels overwhelmed and frustrated by the emotional demands imposed by the needs or services required by other people or clients. People tend to feel drained and/or used up due to this emotional overload and eventual emotional depletion. Individuals dealing with burnout lack enough energy to continue their services or face another demanding day. Some consider burnout to be a negative or inappropriate response to the chronic emotional strain of dealing extensively with others in need (Maslach, 1982a; Rimm-Kaufman, 2011). Yong and Yue (2007) suggest the compromising of quality education occurs when teachers have reached the stage of burnout and are no longer able to devote themselves adequately to the profession. The quality of their work tends to diminish greatly and the enthusiasm and care about their work tends to become lost.

A combination of various on-going stress factors or intense engagements in any work environment can possibly trigger the effects of burnout (Gavish & Friedman, 2010; Rimm-Kaufman, 2011; Seligman & Csikszentmihalyi, 2000). The neglect to employ strategies for coping or other preventive measures or if such strategies and measures have become ineffectual, burnout may become a severe issue. Some of the apparent results of burnout are: (a) emotional-exhaustion, mental overload, depletion of physical and mental energies, (b) cognitive-reduced sense of personal fulfillment, and personal or professional accomplishment, and (c) a reduced feeling of competence (Bakker & Schaufeli, 2000; Friedman, 1996). The well-being of a

person's state of mind or world view can be placed at risk if there are no employed means of managing or coping with the pressures or on-going challenges associated with high stress work settings in which failure can be costly (Seligman & Csikszentmihalyi, 2000).

According to Gavish and Friedman (2010), burnout is a long-term experience of emotionally damaging situations or conditions. These kinds of situations that can trigger burnout can exist within professional working relationships targeted at providing services for others (Perusek, 2011). Those that serve in vocational fields such as police officers, doctors, social workers, lawyers, and educators may become victims of emotionally damaging results or burnout (Gavish & Friedman, 2010; Schaufeli et al., 1993). Burnout tends to effect the social stability or well-being of the person; possibly causing varying degrees of dysfunctional or negative behaviors by distancing and/or insulating from individuals within the work environment. Cedoline (1982) found that burnout could manifest strong and negative feelings toward the self while causing poor morale and organizational inefficiency. Burnout happens gradually over time. The adverse effects of burnout tend to arise from constant responses required during demanding events or other perceived environmental conditions that are stressful or challenging. At the same time, there tends to be no immediate known resource for coping (Gavish & Friedman, 2010; Greenglass, Fiksenbaum, & Burke, 1994; Perusek, 2011).

The existence of the burnout phenomenon can be a concern among administrators, supervisors, researchers, and practitioners. When personal investments are still required within demanding and challenging vocations like the teaching profession, the social stability, job performance, and well-being of teachers is at risk. Opinions may vary as it relates to the financial cost of burnout or stress to businesses, other human-service occupations, and the field of teaching. However, annual expense has been between \$150 and \$300 billion because of

burnout in the workplace (Goldin, 2004). As it relates to teachers, burnout costs school districts billions of dollars annually as well (Durr, 2008; Haberman, 2004). Therefore, it appears that further research studies on the various causes of burnout within the workplace are important.

Causes of Burnout

A review of the literature makes it clear that teacher burnout is a consequence of the kinds of work responsibilities and demands within the teaching vocation (Carlyle & Woods, 2003; Cedoline, 1982; Faber, 1991). Attempts to establish some of the causes of burnout have identified personal and environmental (i.e., physical) factors as the primary causes (Brouwers & Tomic, 2000; Villa & Calvete, 2001). The perceived disproportion between the demands of the job and the resources (both material and emotional) that employees have available to them can trigger job burnout (Cedoline, 1982; Brock & Grady, 2000). When the demands of the job greatly outweigh an employee's available resources for coping, the psychological outcome may trigger the affects of burnout. Many possible causes of job burnout may factor into why teachers leave the field of education. When passionate, idealistic, and dedicated teachers feel unable to educate and inspire their students because of apathy, discipline problems, poor student attendance, overcrowded classrooms, shortage of available support staff and materials, excessive paperwork, and excessive testing; teachers are likely to burnout (Bloch, 1976; Brouwers & Tomic, 2000).

The research from Lueken, Lyter, and Fox (2004) suggest that among the teachers who left the profession, the five most commonly reported sources of dissatisfaction were a lack of planning time needed for class preparation and other administrative work, too heavy a work load throughout each day, over-crowded classrooms, too low a salary, and constant problematic student behavior. Consequently, teacher stress and/or burnout can stem from various causes.

Other causes may arise from administrative neglect or lack of sensitivity from those occupying administrative roles in district or state offices. A recent study about the role of relationships between supervisors and subordinates suggest that the insensitivities from administration or administrators towards their subordinates had significant negative effects (i.e., frustration and stress) on employee's intention to remain in the job (Vatcharasirisook, 2011). Additionally, administrative mismanagement of student issues and even personal mistreatment from colleagues could have negative effects on teachers. Elected school officials at the district, state, and federal levels can carry a large responsibility in establishing structures, policies, and operational systems that can contribute towards or protect the well-being of its teachers (Leithwood & Beatty, 2008).

Historically, burnout studies have reported work-related stressors and job challenges that exist independent of teacher perceptions (Kyriacou & Sutciffe, 1997). Some of these perceptions include ambiguous role expectations, unreasonable time demands (Lorite, 1975; Skvoholt & Trotter-Mathison, 2010), large classes (Carlyle & Woods, 2003; Coates & Thoresen, 1976), poor staff relations with administrators (Leithwood & Beatty, 2008; Young, 1978), inadequate buildings and facilities (Fullan, 2001; Rudd & Wiseman, 1962), and the lack of school resources, equipment, a sense of isolation, and fear of violence (Brissie, 1988; Lueken et al., 2004). Haberman (2004) endorses the issue of having too many disruptive students in a classroom as being a work-related stressor as well.

However, teacher burnout is not an issue stemming from just one challenging responsibility within the teaching profession. There have been other important factors of burnout of teachers that involve constant change or revising of school policies regarding discipline and tardiness, lack of moral support from principals, and lack of social interaction with staff (Byrne, 1994; Cunningham, 1982, 1983; Kyriacou & Sutcliffe, 1977; Sardiwalla et al., 2007). Dan

Lortie (1975) described the work of teachers as being "fraught with uncertainties" (p. 135). According to Day (2000), the constant stream of change, especially in curriculum, pedagogy, and teacher evaluation methods, have irritated rather than alleviated the already relentless pace of a teacher's daily work. In his earlier work, Day (1999) discussed how radically schooling had changed along with the behavior of teachers, students, and parents. Some of the causes that have also contributed to teacher burnout are teachers' beliefs that parent participation has diminished within the learning process of their children (Colangelo, 2004; Day, 2000). So often, the causes of burnout may include giving a great deal personally and not getting back much in the way of appreciation, commitment, or other positive responses (Corey, 1996; Sardiwalla et al., 2007).

According to Maslach (2003), burnout is not simply a matter of certain types of individuals who cannot handle the job, nor is it simply the nature of the job irrespective of the people who perform it. Maslach suggests there is a complex interaction between individual, interpersonal, and institutional factors that create burnout. Taking an account of these factors is important when attempting to understand not only the nature of burnout, but also the various stages that have surfaced in the research. Burnout is a complex issue and being able to identify the stages and measure how it affects individuals has benefited many.

Maslach Burnout Inventory

Both emotional exhaustion and depersonalization are terms globally recognized and accepted descriptors from a published survey instrument called the Maslach Burnout Inventory [MBI] (Maslach et al., 1996). Maslach and Jackson (1981) developed the MBI. This 22-item self-reporting inventory is the most widely used instrument of burnout (Lee & Ashforth, 1996; Maslach, 2003). Emotional exhaustion and depersonalization are subscales of this instrument. Several researchers (Aguayo, Vargas, Fuente, & Lozano, 2011; Beckstead, 2002; Pierce &

Molly, 1990) have reported reliability of this instrument. Universally accepted, the MBI became the premium standard to assess professional burnout (Schutte et al., 2000). This instrument became a self-reporting assessment that instructs participants to mark the frequency with which they experience certain feelings or attitudes toward their job and work environment. The MBI reflects and characterizes the range of burnout with three dimensions: emotional exhaustion, depersonalization (negative or cynical attitudes towards patients) and a diminished sense of personal accomplishment (Ames et al., 2004; Maslach & Jackson, 1986). Understanding that the MBI instrument is widely used within the medical vocation and other social service occupations, revisions have been made to include an Educator's Survey version (Maslach et al.) consisting of the original three subscales. The three subscales consist of sample items such as "I feel emotionally drained from my work" (i.e., emotional exhaustion), "I feel I treat some students as if they were impersonal objects" (i.e., depersonalization), and "I feel I am positively influencing other people's lives through my work" (i.e., personal accomplishment) (Maslach et al.). Other examples may consist of sample items such as "I feel frustrated by my job when..." or "I become overwhelmed and unable to function when..." Emotional exhaustion and depersonalization are the descriptors used for this study, but participants will not take the MBI.

Stages of Burnout

Most empirical work in the area of burnout has embraced the three-component structure of emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and reduced personal accomplishment proposed by Maslach and Jackson (1981). The original research that Maslach and Jackson offered about the burnout stages have been widely cited (Farber, 1991; Gold et al., 1992; Schutte, Toppinen, Kalimo, & Schaufeli, 2000). In their earlier work, Perlman and Hartman (1982) also formulated a synthetic definition of burnout as being a response to chronic emotional stress with their

version of three measurable components involving (a) emotional and/or physical exhaustion, (b) followed by a lowered job productivity, and (c) depersonalization.

Teachers exhibit signs of emotional exhaustion when they feel that they can no longer give of themselves emotionally to students as they did earlier in their career (Haberman, 2004; Schwab & Iwanicki, 1982a). The depersonalization of teachers will cause them to develop negative, cynical, and sometimes callous attitudes toward students, parents, and/or colleagues. The components that seem to consistently surface within the burnout syndrome are emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and reduced personal accomplishment.

Emotional exhaustion. The first step in the stages of teacher burnout is in the area of the human emotions. Emotional exhaustion appears to be the core element of burnout and the most obvious manifestation of this complex syndrome (Maslach et al., 2001). Researchers (Maslach, 2003; McCarthy, Lambert, O'Donnell & Melendres, 2009; Tomic & Tomic, 2000) examining the stages of burnout found that a majority of teachers have experienced some type of symptoms of work-related exhaustion. Emotional exhaustion or becoming depleted emotionally usually happens after individuals have become overly involved emotionally and have overextended themselves in the job and are no longer able to handle the emotional demands needed for others and from others (Maslach, 1982; Maslach et al., 2003). In other words, there is a depletion of the emotional resources of individuals (Noushad, 2008).

In a broad sense, emotional exhaustion involves a depletion of one's emotional resources and is perhaps the most obvious and central quality of the complex syndrome of burnout (Maslach et al., 2001). According to McCarty et al. (2009), persons experiencing emotional exhaustion also report being exhausted and feeling less able to cope with external demands of the work environment. Maslach et al. believed that emotional exhaustion is a necessary, but

insufficient, criterion for burnout. Although emotional exhaustion encompasses the stress-produced emotions caused by work and social demands, it fails to capture other important, and potentially problematic, aspects of the worker and workplace relation.

Depersonalization. Depersonalization is the second stage of burnout. Individuals start to ignore and pull away from the people who are in need of their service (Gold et al., 1992; Maslach et al., 1996; Maslach et al., 2001). Thus, teachers may have a detached or disconnected attitude towards students. This detached attitude works as a defense mechanism, because teachers do not have the emotional resources to cope with situations at hand or the continued stress they face (Curtaz, 2009; Kokkinos, 2007). To minimize the feelings of exhaustion, teachers build up a mental wall to protect themselves from the stressful situations and the demands of the work environment (Noushad, 2008). Teachers become cynical, negative towards students, and detached from those with whom they work with and teach (Noushad).

The risk of teachers developing depersonalization can become a large threat due to particular challenging conditions within the working environment. Often times many job-related responsibilities, activities of classroom teaching, and the daily work life of teachers occur in isolation or separated from other classes and faculty. Interpersonal relationships with other teachers are not easily established or continued due to the daily demands and responsibilities of individual teachers with their classes. The physical layout of most schools, with teachers working in separate classrooms and scheduling constraints, make finding time to meet or socialize with peers or administrators difficult (Bennett & LeCompte, 1990; Wood & McCarthy, 2002). In addition, the combination of these factors can also cause teachers to feel disconnected, unproductive, and isolated. This attitude can carry over into the teachers' job performance.

Reduced personal accomplishment. This is the third and last stage of burnout. Having

a reduced sense of personal accomplishment is a condition that adversely affects one's efficacy and causes that person to devalue his or her work with others (Maslach et al., 1996). Whereas emotional exhaustion and depersonalization may in part emerge from factors such as work overload and social conflict, the decreased efficacy associated with reduced personal accomplishment seems to arise more clearly from insufficient personal resources (Maslach et al., 2001). Teachers, from their perspectives, become inadequate and do not believe in their abilities to do the job that is expected (Maslach, 1982; Van Dick & Wagner, 2001). A sense of reduced personal accomplishment causes teachers to perceive their self-efficacy and self-esteem have declined (Noushad, 2008). During this stage, there becomes a lack of confidence from teachers and then from others with whom they work (Maslach & Leiter, 1997). They no longer have faith that they are capable of doing their job and, in turn, stop trying. Therefore, the teachers' psychological well-being, the need for a positive school culture, and the importance of student learning are some of the important reasons for addressing teacher burnout. Addressing the issues of burnout may help reduce stress levels of teachers, ensure successful student development in classrooms, and enhance the learning environment for all students (Biglan, 2008; Farber, 1982; Kyriacou, 2001).

Addressing Burnout

When work stress results in teacher burnout, it can have serious consequences for the health and happiness of teachers, student achievement, other professionals, and families that teachers interact with on a daily basis. Effectively addressing burnout among educators may help preserve quality performance and positive interactions. Addressing teacher burnout by searching for affective interventions and support systems are concerns for policy makers, teachers in the field, and the educational community at-large (Zellmer, 2004). In an attempt to

address burnout issues, Greenberg (1999) found:

Organizational practices and policies that prevent teacher burnout are generally those that allow teachers some control over their daily challenges. At the individual level, self-efficacy and the ability to maintain a perspective with regard to daily events have been described as anxiety-buffers. (p. 7)

Kyriacou (2001) explored the relationship between burnout prevention and the increased input of teachers within the work environment that affects student learning drawn from an Education Service Advisory Committee report (1998). The findings helped school district officials, policy makers, and administrators address the burnout syndrome effecting teachers. To help address some of the adverse effects of burnout, teachers should be directly involved with structuring the educational process and policymaking that affects their students. Kyriacou contends consulting teachers on "matters such as curriculum development or instructional planning" (p. 7) are important. Kyriacou further states that such matters as curriculum writing and instructional planning affect classroom teachers along with how their lesson plans and student activities are developed. Providing teachers with professional development activities such as mentoring and networking can serve as ways of building more self-confidence within teachers. These kinds of endeavors may give rise to teachers developing a greater sense of accomplishment, assurance, and self-worth. Continuing to develop a greater identity as a professional teacher is important for a strong and lasting well-being.

Addressing burnout should be a collaborative effort from both the teaching faculty and administration. Dennis (2008) suggests: "school systems can implement strategies to minimize teacher burnout; and administrators from district and school levels must recognize the existence of burnout and implement changes designed to improve teacher morale" (p. 17). Furthermore,

Owens, Mundy, and Harrison (1980) previously suggested principals should be sensitive about the school-related matters affecting teacher morale and the prevailing conditions within their buildings. Principals should also become more familiar with the issues and work-related conditions that can lead to burnout. Administrators can help assist with promoting the well-being of teachers by making sure teachers clearly understand their job duties and responsibilities. Owens et al. believed that administrators should always provide clear goals, open channels of communication and positive feedback to their teaching staff at all times. In addressing the working conditions and factors that can create burnout, administrators should also consider the strategies to reduce large class sizes and add more clerical assistance to reduce teacher paperwork. Teachers need to sense and observe the kinds of security measures and support systems they need for job satisfaction and quality performance. School administration and district officials can provide these measures.

Addressing burnout may involve reducing various stressors found within the workplace environment and organizational structures that affect teacher performance. Carefully addressing and/or restructuring the social environment of teachers can contribute toward reducing the risk of burnout within the workplace. In an effort to minimize burnout issues Vandenberghe and Huberman (1999) contend, "focusing on the redesign guidelines is clearly on the organizational level" and "it is clear that teachers need specific and individualized help" (p. 305).

Vandenberghe and Huberman found that school systems at the organizational level might need to discover the importance of establishing the kinds of environments or social systems that can become teacher supportive and allow for greater collaborative work for teachers.

Addressing burnout involves implementing a productive social system for teachers, providing meaningful workshops focusing on interpersonal relationships, and creating

opportunities to work collectively as staff members (Vandenberghe & Huberman, 1999). These kinds of environmental settings and opportunities could minimize the risk of teacher burnout. Vandenberghe and Huberman also suggested that teacher-related initiatives from the organizational levels could be a way to "provide schools with a more general budget for a more flexible in-service facility, including the hiring of external consultants" (p. 308) to assist the teaching staff; while also providing "more tailor-made training and assistance with local problems when required" (p. 308).

The tendency of those who are unaware of the causes and consequences of burnout is to pass responsibility over to individual teachers or, even worse, to blame them for their personal issues. However, it is a necessity at the school and district-wide levels for educational administrators to realize that they, too, can reduce or increase the causes of burnout through their activities and policies. The matter of learning productive strategies for coping with burnout is not regulated [sic] to teachers as individuals, but it should be treated as an organizational matter as well (Kyriacou, 2001; Smith & Bourke, 1992).

A positive and non-threatening atmosphere becomes beneficial for the well-being of teachers that work in demanding or challenging environments. According to the previous research of Punch and Tuetteman (1996), a number of studies highlighted the importance of working in a school where a positive atmosphere of social support exists and teachers greatly benefit. Those that can contribute to its positive existence create a positive atmosphere within a demanding work environment. The literature seems to suggest the power of promoting and establishing positive interpersonal relationships among staff members. Protecting positive interpersonal relationships can help staff members from possible effects of work-related burnout (Cohen & McKay, 1984; Kyriacou, 2001; Wood & McCarthy, 2002). Providing social support

and encouragement to build positive interpersonal relationships within the workplace enables teachers to share personal school-related concerns and problems with each other. Social support and encouragement through interpersonal relationships could lead to helpful suggestions from colleagues that teachers can implement (Kyriacou, 2001). In addition, there could also be actions or advice by colleagues that could resolve the sources that could contribute to burnout. In an effort to address and help minimize burnout among staff members Kyriacou found, "simply sharing problems or engaging in some social activity with colleagues during break periods can effectively help dissipate the feelings of stress" (p. 31).

Administrators that affect the work environment of teachers can unknowingly create burnout factors. Some school districts are able to provide professional counseling services, retreats, and mentoring programs for staff members who are experiencing high levels of frustration and stress. An important innovation in the United Kingdom was to establish a telephone helpline for teachers who were dealing with the adverse effects of burnout. Teacher-Line was the telephone innovation used to help teachers deal with the effects of burnout (TBF, 2000). This service enabled teachers to receive free telephone counseling for stress-related problems. Therefore, both administration and policy makers can take active roles in prevention efforts as well by giving constant positive feedback, and utilizing parent and community involvement to assist in the prevention of burnout among the teaching staff (Terry, 1997; Wood & McCarthy, 2002). Organizational leaders in education and school administrators addressing the burnout issue can become important within the teaching field because burnout and stress can affect teacher performance and student learning.

Researchers have focused on the burnout phenomenon within the teaching field along with the contributing factors and conditions associated with the syndrome. The literature

suggests that burnout has considerable implications for teachers' professional performance relative to students and colleagues—not to speak of teachers' own well-being. Burnout is a problem with potentially serious consequences for both teachers and more importantly for the learning outcomes of students. The teacher/student relationship is potentially the most vulnerable component within the learning process, especially when viewed against the backdrop of an ever-changing society that compels teachers and students to learn how to adapt within society (Maslach, 2003; Vandenberghe & Huberman, 1999). Though the burnout syndrome is an apparent issue within many vocational fields such as teaching, the existence of job stress and its effects upon people have contributed to the burnout phenomenon (Zellmer, 2004).

Stress

The concept or idea of stress on a job is as old as life itself. It is a phenomenon characteristic to the field of work. According to Brown and Uehara (1999), researchers acknowledge difficulty in pinpointing a single definition of the term stress. Previously, Selye (1974) provided a frequently cited definition for stress as, "the nonspecific response of the body to any demand made upon it" (p. 27). Nevertheless, as noted earlier, the operational definition for stress used in this study is the physical and psychological result of internal and external pressure caused by a task or multiple tasks (The Psychology Dictionary, 2003). Stress seems to be a psychological condition that brings adverse effects upon people working in various occupational fields of human services. So often, these adverse effects are the result of perceived job demands adults encounter while facing the social and environmental responsibilities of the occupation (Carr, Kelly, Keaton, & Albrecht, 2011; Crandall & Perewe', 1994).

In general, stress is any series of events or any single event that causes an extreme demand upon one's mind or body (Altenbaugh, Engel, & Martin, 1995; Betoret, 2006; Cedoline,

1982). Linking the aspects of a stressful job to negative emotions such as anger, anxiety, uncontrolled tension, and frustration or depression is documented (Carr et al., 2011). In the realm of teaching, Dennis (2008) states, "stress is a condition of twenty-first-century education that continues to increase as more accountability standards and new policy initiatives are introduced" (p. 12). The cause of stress, along with burnout, is most likely through environmental factors, which can have profound outcomes on the attitudes and capabilities of teachers; and their willingness to remain active in the helping professions in general and education in particular (Dennis).

The personalities and mental stabilities of professional teachers along with the various workloads they carry could play a role regarding the levels of stress that is experienced. Lazarus and Folkman's (1984) Transactional Model of Stress and Coping assume that stress is a person-situation interaction. Their study suggested that the personal interactions within a particular environment could create a form of stress actually felt upon that individual. Nevertheless, Lazarus and Folkman asserted that stress should not be perceived as the personal property of the person, neither is it the property belonging to that environment. Their work suggested that the stress issue arises when there is a close association between a particular kind of person and that particular kind of environment; consequently, leading to a threat that becomes apparent upon the person's mental state. Lazarus and Folkman considered stress as a stimulus and found that "stress stimuli are most commonly thought of as events impinging on the person" (p. 12).

Moreover, their findings suggested that there are different kinds of environmental events that can cause the stress stimuli: "The extent to which any event is stressful is determined by a confluence of person and situational factors in a specific transaction" (p. 83).

There are suggested effects that can stem from the person-situational relationship.

Zakowski, Hall, Klein, and Baum (2001) found that the aspects of stress stemming from a person-situation relationship is very dependent on the individual's reasoning ability and perceived judgment that arises from those interactions between the individual and that environment. According to Mitchell (2004), "no event or situation in itself is inherently stressful; instead, the stressor is defined by the subjective of the situation that is appraised as threatening, harmful, or taxing of available resources" (p. 10). Though stress is an apparent factor within the world of work, as a result, stress is prevalent among classroom teachers that work at all levels. As an operational definition for this study, teacher stress is a set of experiences involving unpleasant or negative emotions of teachers, such as tension, frustration, anxiety, anger and depression, resulting from aspects of work as a teacher (Kyriacou, 1987). Teacher stress may surpass the average levels among people working in other human-service professions (Travers & Cooper, 1993; Waugh & Judd, 2003).

Teacher Stress

Issues of teacher effectiveness tend to arise when stress compromises the professional responsibilities and classroom effectiveness of teachers (Boyle, Borg, Falzon, & Baglioni, 1995; Cockburn, 2005; DeRobbio & Iwanicki, 1996; Markham, 1999). Attending to their job responsibilities may require emotional and physical deposits from teachers. Their responsibilities and demands include curriculum planning/writing, student motivation, developing effective strategies for instruction, structuring on-going parent/teacher communication, and various kinds of management (Brewster & Railsback, 2001; Carlyle & Woods, 2003; Saphier & Gower, 1997).

Teachers have always considered themselves academic leaders and educational motivators while also possessing a humanitarian objective for the students they teach and serve

(Alliance for Excellent Education, 2008; Eisner, 1994; Van Dick & Wagner, 2001). Long-term work stress may lead to burnout, which gravely affects teachers' physical and mental health, lowers the quality of their work, and in turn, decreases their students' physical and/or mental health and development. When teacher stress is prevalent, the risk of sound development of educating others and the educational performances of teachers are hindered (Carlyle & Woods, 2003; Yong & Yue, 2007). Studies by Kokkinos (2007) and Kyriacou (2001) suggest that teachers who experience a great deal of occupational stress may have difficulty establishing rapport and maintaining meaningful relationships with their students.

Teacher stress is associated with some of the physical and mental complications that affect the well-being of professional teachers and their tenure in the profession. Cosgrove's (2000) collaborative efforts with other scholars and experienced teachers in England and Wales found that in 1993, 5,500 teachers retired early on health grounds with teachers' unions blaming illness, breakdown, and demoralization brought by stress. Between 1988 and 1999 half the teachers in England and Wales quit their posts. By the late 1990s, more than 6,000 teachers a year were retiring early on the grounds of stress and ill health. Cosgrove suggested that perceived levels of stress and/or frustration from teachers become apparent when they sacrifice unplanned time to deal with disruptive classroom behaviors of students, and other unforeseen required tasks that interfered with classroom teaching. Nevertheless, there are expectations of teachers to manage the emotional demands and physical behaviors that students can demonstrate.

The relationship between provider and recipients are central to the job within interpersonally orientated occupations. Considering the field of teaching, Maslach et al. (1996) suggested that teachers represent the providers and students represent the recipients. The research efforts of Vandenberghe and Huberman (1999) documented another international

perspective regarding teacher stress and burnout. They recognized and reaffirmed the phenomenon of burnout being as an important stress-related problem for people who work in interpersonally orientated professions like the field of teaching. The nature of this kind of work involving a provider and recipients (be it service, treatment, or education) can be highly emotional, stressful, and demanding. This may be the case for teachers at various levels of teaching.

Elementary and middle/secondary school teachers and burnout/stress. Burnout and stress can be occupational hazards throughout the teaching ranks. Loonstra, Brouwers, and Tomic (2009) recognized burnout as a problem that affects teachers at all levels. Comparing the stress levels found among secondary teachers and those working in other human-service occupations, reportedly, the levels of stress are higher among teachers (Pyhalto, Pietarinen, & Salmela-Aro, 2011; Travis & Cooper, 1993). There is a similarity between workload, stress, and burnout symptoms among all grade level teachers (Rhodes et al., 2004; Schaufeli & Enzmann, 1998). Employed teachers in the teaching profession are adults facing great demands due to the emotional investments made to care, manage, and motivate their clients (i.e., students). The job demands and daily responsibilities at all levels of education can have adverse consequences upon many teachers (Jenkins & Calhoun, 1991; Kokkinos, 2007; Vandenberghe & Huberman, 1999).

A brief review of the educational literature will provide some research regarding the kind of stress and various job challenges teachers face at different grade levels. In addition to the stressful challenges and problems, which exist in schools at the elementary, middle, and secondary levels, other demographic characteristics such as teachers' age and level of education can contribute to the stress/burnout issue as well. Years married may have significant results affecting burnout as well (Black, 2001; Salami, 2011). Investigations for this study will not

cover such demographic characteristics. Moreover, Black (2001) found female teachers tend to be more satisfied with their jobs than males, while elementary teachers report less stress than secondary teachers; and younger, less experienced teachers report feelings of greater alienation, powerlessness, and greater stress on all levels. Even though focus for this study is secondary teachers, the following brief sections provides discussions about the burnout/stress phenomenon at the elementary and middle school levels.

Elementary School Teachers

There has been research examining teacher burnout and its relation to classroom demands and school size, which tend to vary distinctly among various grade levels. It seems that burnout and stress can be more prevalent in larger elementary school systems than in smaller ones (Green-Reece, Johnson, & Campbell, 1991; Haberman, 2004; Kikkinos, 2007). Maslach and Leiter (1997) also reported burnout in terms of how elementary teachers' make up fit the job demands and responsibilities required at that grade level. Potential burnout among elementary teachers may be an issue if there seems to a poor relationship between properly handling the daily classroom demands and teachers' emotional resource for coping. To understand burnout symptoms of elementary teachers, McCarthy, Lambert, O'Donnell and Melendres (2009) considered teachers' perceptions of the job's demands and their personal make up to provide resources.

According to their study, McCarthy et al. (2009) suggested students remaining in one classroom and generally with the same teacher all day are a unique classroom set up that could contribute to burnout. The elementary classroom set up requires the teacher to have all day student contact with classroom instruction, teaching different core subjects, managing various learning activities, and controlling classroom behavior. Though the elementary classroom

structure may afford educational benefits and extended opportunities to develop healthy teacher/student relationships, the classroom teachers may also face more challenges. McCarthy et al. findings suggested that the coping resources of teachers were somewhat stable throughout their workday, after making personal evaluations about their classroom demands, perceived stressors, and daily responsibilities.

The all day classroom set up with the same students and the same teacher could become emotionally/mentally taxing. On the other hand, the elementary classroom set up is different from the middle school or high school structure. Middle and high school teachers tend to work with different students throughout the day, while dealing with different sets of classroom circumstances, challenges, benefits, opportunities, and issues. Nevertheless, elementary teachers spend a great deal of time with the same students and these interactions may add to their daily stress. According to Leithwood and Beatty (2008), unlike elementary teachers, both middle school and secondary teachers experienced considerable stress from student discipline, negative attitudes, and classroom behavior issues.

Middle School Teachers

Managing, motivating, educating, and disciplining middle school students could be a significant source leading to burnout for many teachers. Additionally, declining academic performance and the growing apathy of students in middle schools may indicate the value of education not being highly recognized by middle school students (Evers, Tomic, & Brouwers, 2004). However, prior research (Biddle, Good, & Goodson, 1997; Wang, Lan, Li, & Wang, 2002) suggested that burnout is not just associated with grade level and organizational size. The relationships between grade level, school size, and burnout are too complex to consider one definite solution (Skaalvik, & Skaalvik, 2010). Prior research of Anderson and Iwanicki (1984)

noted a relationship between grade level and burnout, with middle or junior high school teachers displaying more burnout than did elementary and secondary school teachers.

Studies in different countries show high levels of burnout and mental distress among teachers at different levels (Wang, Lan, Li, & Wang, 2002). According to Wu, Li, Wang, Wang, and Li (2006), the biggest distinction among the various grade levels are the ages of students and their varying measures of development. Oi Ling (1995) and Froeschle and Crews (2010) suggest that research associating teacher stress with age of students is still inconclusive. Nevertheless, research also reports that middle school teachers experience burnout frequently (Dunn-Wisner, 2004; Simons-Morton, 2005; Zhongying, 2008), wherein a certain age factor is considered.

The factors that may contribute to stress and burnout among middle school teachers may differ. Simons-Morton (2005) and Froeschle and Crews (2010) suggest that middle school teachers cope with identity development of students and their need for autonomy exhibited so often in early teens. Kokkinos (2007) and Saito (1999) indentified student behaviors in the classrooms as the most consistent and stressful job factor within the middle school systems along with the other stressors found within classrooms.

Secondary School Teachers

High schools are academically structured and systemically designed to help students meet graduation requirements and prepare them for post-secondary education. As in other grade levels, high school teachers possess the educational responsibilities and care to help develop and motivate students for the process of learning and succeeding. Considering high schools requiring rigorous academic coursework from students and teachers providing relevant and meaningful learning opportunities, therefore, the teacher/student relationships seem to be more meaningful at the secondary level (Hargreaves, 2000). However, students' lack of discipline, class attendance,

and motivation were the primary sources of teacher stress and the most significant predictors of burnout (Gonzalez, 1997; Johannsen, 2011).

International research suggests that high school teachers exhibit higher levels of stress when compared to other white-collar workers (Bransgrove, 1994; Dorman, 2003). From a study among secondary teachers, Hargreaves (2000) suggested the most important source of enjoyment and motivation for teachers were their relationships with their students. Furthermore, Hargreaves suggested that this result was also common among elementary teachers as well. From his findings, secondary teachers described personal relationships with students more in terms of acknowledgment and respect.

The organizational structure of secondary education can make it somewhat more difficult for secondary teachers to feel personally connected with the students (Dorman, 2003). The enforcement of school rules and policies regarding student behavior and attendance can have different effects upon students and teachers. Not all which may have positive results.

Consequently, secondary teachers experienced less closeness and more personal separation from students (Hargreaves, 2000). This causes teachers to feel more unknown and become stereotyped by their students in which teachers mentioned as sources of negative emotions and feelings. Betoret's (2006) study examined the importance of self-efficacy and coping resources reported by secondary teachers when perceiving potential job stressors and burnout. Without protective measure of coping, increasing negative emotions could give way to mounting forms of mental stress. According to Hargreaves, alienated or estranged relationships exert a threat to not only teachers' professional behaviors and attitudes but also their personal well-being. Teacher quality at all grade levels is important for effective performance (Chang, 2009).

Burnout and stress can severely interrupt the quality of personalized teaching at all grade

levels along with damaging productive learning processes required between classroom teachers and students (Johannsen, 2011). It is evident that teachers and their negative feelings about their job and unfavorable attitudes about their students can affect their relationships with them (Hargreaves, 1998; Maslach, 2003). Because of the everyday demands and requirements teachers face, many discover themselves dealing with the increasing levels of stress and becoming burned out (Maslach). So often, needed self-employed measures will help protect the well-being of teachers through effective strategies for coping.

Coping

When teachers have a sense of well-being and care towards others, it generates a sense of agreement between the emotional make-up (i.e., mind) and body. This perceived harmony tends to convey the idea of having a balance and peace with the numerous aspects of the stressful work life of teaching. Teachers may reach a sense of balance and harmony through employed measures of coping (Holmes, 2005; Van Dierendonck, Garssen, & Visser, 2005). They can learn to eventually feel a sense of well-being, self-control, peace, and not suffer under the burden of excessive strain, relationship demands, and work pressures (Holmes). The art of coping potentially enables a person to preserve the needed qualities and attributes for appropriate work performances and personal sustainability. "Becoming a competent, caring, and committed teacher doesn't just happen—it evolves from a myriad of human interactions, learning coping sources, conversations, and experiences" (Podsen, 2002, p. xi).

The psychological development and quality performances of individuals are contingent upon their abilities to form protective measures or strategies for coping. Some researchers suggest that with some strategic training, mental development, and advanced learning, most educators can still perform adequately while dealing with demanding, stressful, or explosive job

situations (Schamer & Jackson, 1996; Van Dierendonck et al., 2005).

Some of the most effective means of preventing the effects of occupational stress and burnout among teachers has been the employment of coping strategies (Hargreaves, 2005; Schaufeli et al., 1993; Wagner, 2010). The concept or idea of employing mechanisms for coping with stressful or demanding situations are widely noted in the field of research (Betoret, 2006; Haberman, 2004; Poulin et al., 2008; Skvoholt & Trotter-Mathison, 2010). Coping seems to be the mental and/or physical ability of individuals to adapt, adjust, manage, or develop an emotional balance while facing challenging periods of life, challenging conditions, and/or high-stress environments. According to Cedoline (1982), coping (i.e., managing stressors) is primarily the learning process of converting the negative energy of an enemy or client into the positive energy of an ally. Cedoline considered this idea as taking a destructive or challenging stressor and formulating it into a creative motivator. There is an existing relationship between securing or preserving one's well-being and one's ability to employ healthy strategies for adapting, adjusting, or coping (Betoret).

According to Karekla and Panayiotou (2011), the idea of coping was introduced by Lazarus (1966) and it "referred to the way an organism approaches and responds to stressful situations" (Karekla & Panayioitou, p. 163). Karekla and Panayiotou contend, "Coping can be of critical importance to physical and psychological health and well-being" (p. 163). Mitchell (2004) found "That coping will be most effective if there is a match between the changeability of the stressor currently confronting the individual and the appropriate form of coping applied to the stressor" (p. 10).

The documented causes that can trigger burnout affect the work performances, social relationships, and mental stability of teachers as well as those in the service-providing

occupations (Hargreaves, 2003; Poulin et al., 2008; Skvoholt & Trotter-Mathison, 2010). Whether it is organizational and job-related factors, or individual issues, or stressing elements of job responsibilities, recognizing the causes of burnout and implementing healthy strategies can itself be a step in dealing with it (Biglan, 2008; Corey, 1996). However, coping is a learned behavior. Coping seems to be associated to the idea of developing behaviors, mental activities, or methods that help sustain one's resiliency and protect quality performance. Both Abaci (1995) and Biglan (2008) suggest that the personal expressions or any formulated activities for coping is considered a learned behavior. Unsuccessful strategies for coping or the absence of any such measures to adapt at all can affect the well-being of teachers and quality of teaching (i.e., success) in the classroom. Recognizing particular events or situations/conditions within the job setting that could act as a trigger that causes stress is paramount. Consequently, there is a need for teachers to learn how to reduce the number of trigger events (McCarthy, Lambert, & Brack, 1997; Poulin et al., 2008). Strategizing and implementing healthy methods to eliminate or minimize work-related stress and/or burnout is important for optimum performance.

Coping Strategies

For anyone experiencing stress or burnout, employing strategies of coping to help hold back adverse effects or psychologically developing positive attitudes from known stressors is crucial. Fortes-Ferreira, Peiro', Gonzalez-Morales, and Martin (2006) suggest that "coping strategies seem to play an important role in determining the results and/or consequences" (p. 239) of work-related stressors. There are many strategies for coping individuals have employed in an effort to reduce the burnout syndrome. Employing effective strategies for coping is a personal matter that can lead to personal development. Fisher (2011) suggests having, "a balanced diet, exercise, and adequate sleep"; coupled with, "being able to recognize work

overload and stress-resistant workplaces" (p. 9). Kyriacou (2001) and Fortes-Ferreira et al. (2006) found that many employed methods or strategies for coping have fallen into two main types: direct action techniques and palliative techniques. Learning to cope with job-related burnout is not something that comes naturally to teachers or adults in general.

Direct Actions Techniques

Learning to initially deal with known job-related stressors can have great rewards and prepare individuals for similar successes in the future. It is important to note that employing a successful strategy or designed technique to minimize or deal with a present stressor, followed up with the same direct action again in the future can be beneficial for individuals' well-being (Kyriacou, 2001). Strategic repetitions of such performed direct action techniques should be the important mental transition made when job-related stressors start to affect job performance or teachers' well-being. Additionally, personal evaluation is a suggested direct action technique that becomes beneficial for individuals. The use of this direct action technique is made to first identify what is causing the stress and why, and then deciding on a course of action that may deal successfully with that source of stress. Kyriacou suggested the following:

Direct action techniques may involve simply managing or organizing oneself more effectively; it may involve developing new knowledge, skills, and working practices; it may involve negotiating with colleagues, so aspects of one's situation are changed or dealt with by others. (p. 30)

As an example, dealing with a disruptive student or a negative relationship between a colleague may require a new skillful, and yet meaningful, strategy. It would be the hope of employing the selected direct action technique that would alleviate that source of stress stemming from the student or the apparent friction between colleagues. Dealing with any source of stress may lead

to an immediate success or it could involve longer periods of actions employed by the individual being affected (Kyriacou, 1998).

According to Sharplin, O'Neill, and Chapman (2011), coping strategies classified as direct action techniques have "focused on stress source elimination" and employed "strategies such as advice seeking and positive comparison methods that mitigated job distress" (p. 139). Sharplin et al. suggested that the coping strategies demonstrated by the teachers under their study included "getting information, seeking assistance, connecting with others, reflecting, and reframing" (p. 140). School principals could take direct action as well by removing disruptive students from particular classes (Wilson, 2002). Wilson also found "the most direct action teachers can take to mitigate their occupational stress is to remove them from the situation which they think is causing their stress" (p. 32). In short, strategies or direct action techniques for coping can deliver a sense of well-being to teachers. However, employing direct action techniques for some sources of work-related stress will not always produce success or the needed remedy. Using palliative techniques may be required.

Palliative Techniques

Employing a palliative technique has been a proven alternative strategy for coping with work-related stressors. The palliative technique carries the idea of lessening the severity upon the person without removing or curing the stressor. Consequently, this kind of method or strategy involves directly changing how the stressful situation is evaluated or appraised. According to Fortes-Ferreira et al. (2006), "reducing the emotional discomfort" (p. 239) of the individual when the source of stress persists becomes a palliative technique. Kyriacou (2001) suggested that palliative techniques could be preformed mentally or physically. The mental aspect could involve techniques such as psychologically arranging issues in a better or more

positive perspective such as looking at things with a humorous point of view. Fortes-Ferreira et al. suggested that mentally focused individuals initially evaluating their emotional state of being, describes a palliative technique. The individual's emotions take center stage instead of the demanding stressor or stressful situation at hand. Whereas direct action techniques are the attempts to respond to demanding or threatening situations by removing them, palliative techniques would involve focusing on avoiding the emotional discomfort that arises within the individual. Palliative strategies also include "positive self-talk, accepting and using a goal focus, use of humor, and religious beliefs" (Sharplin et al., 2011, p. 140). Kyriacou found strategies that are palliative in nature such as learning self-control, making love, jogging, mediation, and writing poetry.

There are coping strategies that reflect both techniques. They include discussing apparent problems and expressing feelings to those involved; having a stress-less home life; learning to plan and create priorities; knowing your limitations; relaxing after a workday; and, keeping problems in a healthy perspective (Kyriacou, 2001). In their study, Howard and Johnson (2004) asserted that some teachers could not achieve the mental transformations needed to deal with job-related stress. Promoting helpful solutions had been largely palliative or therapeutic in nature, rather than direct action.

In short, teachers desire to perceive themselves successful in their efforts to serve students positively, though there are many challenges, demands, and stress issues within the teaching field. Teachers that employ proven strategies for coping can greatly benefit from increasing negativity and/or frustration with their job. Teachers desire to gain and maintain a sense of classroom effectiveness and self-worth through the interactive learning experiences of students (Brouwers & Tomic, 2000; Tschannen-Moran & Hoy, 2001). Podsen (2002) suggests,

"Individuals strive for self-actualization and share a desire to acquire knowledge, be creative, and reach their full potential" (p. 8); this includes teachers (Department of Education & Training, 2005). Nevertheless, discovering and strategically employing coping mechanisms while facing high-stress conditions or challenging environments can become a new learning process for those seeking a need to reach their full potential. According to Santrock (2001), for teachers to produce the distinguishable qualities and attitudes that will make them more effective and productive as classroom teachers, they must continue their personal learning and development. This, in turn, may enhance their self-efficacy.

Teacher Self-Efficacy

Self-belief or self-efficacy is a personal perception that contributes to cognitive development, capability, effectiveness, and functioning (Pas, Bradshaw, & Hershfeldt, 2012). Nie, Lau, and Liau (2011) suggest that self-efficacy represents a belief in one's capability to do something well. Pas et al. defined self-efficacy as a person's general belief of one's own ability to perform a required job. The threat of job importance emerges when individuals do not perceive themselves as being capable of performing well in the job, especially for those who think that job performance is very important for them. The components or attributes of self-efficacy that adults display come from within (i.e., how adults feel and think), not from the perceptions of others (Curtaz, 2009; Hongying, 2007; Nie et al., 2011).

Self-efficacy of teachers is how they feel about the extent in their abilities to succeed in instructing and/or guiding children in the learning process (Ware & Kitsantas, 2007). According to Bandura (1977, 1993) teachers that believe in their self-efficacy to motivate students and establish measureable learning will determine the kinds of environment they create in classrooms; and the academic progress their students achieve. The makeup of teachers' self-

efficacy comprises the overall reactions and attitudes about the many factors related to their job. The higher the perceived self-efficacy within teachers, the more they believe in their abilities to teach and serve the needs of students. Job burnout is associated to the lack of self-efficacy in individuals. Struggling adults who doubt their abilities or do not believe in themselves will encounter stress and/or burnout (Curtaz, 2009; Maslach, 1982).

A pervious study suggested that there is a relationship between the ability to make judgments about the capacity to achieve a certain level of performance and having a high degree of self-efficacy (Ashton & Webb, 1986). Teachers who report feelings of high self-efficacy are able to overcome challenges more easily than those who report low self-efficacy (Ware & Kitsantas, 2007). The lower the self-efficacy, the less capable a teacher feels in being able to teach children to learn and control student behavior. Low self-efficacy makes it harder for an individual to overcome the difficult obstacles and challenges faced on the job (Brock & Grady, 2000; Curtaz, 2009). A lowering of teachers' level of perceived self-efficacy occurs when they observe increasing disruptive behavior from students and classroom management decreasing (Brouwers & Tomic, 2000). Teacher stress can affect the levels of self-efficacy. Teachers who report higher levels of stress have low perceptions of self-efficacy (Betoret, 2006; Rhodes et al., 2004), and in turn have higher rates of burnout. Working together and believing in the abilities of colleagues and administration as a whole can give an individual a higher feeling of self-efficacy and the ability to do the job.

Researchers suggest that the academic success of students and their self-determination is strongly associated to the disposition, work-related behaviors, and attitudes of their teachers (Gourneau, 2005; Hong & Shull, 2009). The hard work and sense of self-efficacy of good teachers could be the difference in helping students learn, develop, and improve. According to

Holmes (2005), teachers in general want to resolve the problems of declining self-efficacy created by stress and burnout. Thus, teachers are becoming open to develop or redevelop and learn their own solutions for self-efficacy coupled with developing new perspectives about themselves and their work environment (Betoret, 2006). Seeking such solutions and initiating some mental developments to form new perspectives could possibly benefit the needs of professional teachers. This process or idea would require some aspects of transformation.

Baumgartner (2001) suggested that, "transformation evokes the notion of profound physical or psychological change" (p. 15). Oftentimes, realizing the need for change happens through many daunting events, overwhelming work experiences, or powerful experiences of life.

Transformational learning involving adults, and throughout adulthood, can bring about a new psychological perspective, which in turn helps establishes a lasting change of behavior.

Transformational Learning

The theories and ideas regarding the complexities of transformational learning have evolved over the years (Merriam, Caffarella, & Baumgartner, 2007). There can be many different theoretical persuasions and other various understandings when considering how transformational learning takes place in adults. Transformational or transformative learning can have many ways of looking at particular concepts and principles throughout the process while still having unique results from powerful experiences throughout adulthood (Elsey & Henschke, 2011). Therefore, for the purpose of this study the researcher will focus on Mezirow's (1990, 1991, 1995) theory of transformational learning.

The learning requirements throughout the many aspects of adulthood are not limited to the periods of vocational training needed, or the desire to progress through an educational system for an academic goal. The prevailing challenges adults face within certain work environments or conditions in life will require the kinds of personal learning that will transform the mental perspectives of adults (Mezirow & Taylor, 2009). Transformational learning may be an endeavor undertaken by adults to possibly build self-worth, redevelop personality, or develop one's belief system. Transformational learning involves acquiring a new perspective about an individual's worldview or personal viewpoint (Baumgartner, 2001; Clark, 1993). Jack Mezirow (1991, 1995) recognized transformational learning as a theory. Mezirow (1990) considered transformational learning as a component of adult education. Mezirow (1990) also considered the learning that takes place in the various transitional stages of adulthood as a transformative process. He defined learning as "the process of making new or revised interpretation of the meaning of experience, which guides subsequent understanding, appreciation and action" (1990, p.1). Jarvis (1987b) suggested that learning is the transformation of personal experience into applied knowledge, useful skills, and attitudes. Potential learning experiences can be natural or artificially created. Jarvis considered the process of thought itself, a specific situation, or abstract idea rather meaningful or meaningless may stimulate transformational learning. Other meaningful occurrences and forms of self-evaluations can formulate the process of transformational learning. Adults that gain new perspectives about pressing matters, challenging environments, or from personal conditions encounter disorienting dilemmas (Mezirow, 1991). According to Adams (2003), work-related stress, high-stimulating job environments, or occupational burnout can be a disorienting dilemma or personal crisis due to the adverse effects it can have upon the mental well-being of individuals. Transformational learning suggests that adults can psychologically change their specific beliefs, attitudes, and emotional reactions due to a personal crisis or difficult event they encountered. Part of the process of this mental change or acquiring a new outlook involves adults engaging in some critical reflections of their present or

prior experiences, which in turn leads to a perspective transformation (Mezirow, 1995).

In short, transformational learning may occur because of a myriad of personal experiences, daunting work environments, or challenges that threaten the well-being of adults. This form of learning can lead to attitude change, personal growth, and ultimately succeed in adapting new skills and strategies that will allow teachers to remain as productive educators for the students they serve (Dana, 2007). A disorienting dilemma can be a large event or a series of smaller events that causes the need for change, usually experienced as an intense personal crisis or dilemma (Cranton, 2006). These externally imposed events can range from large ones like a death, a major health issue, or reading a book, or by one's efforts to understand a different culture that challenges one's presuppositions (Mezirow, 1991). According to Roberts (2006), disorienting dilemmas can cause stress, burnout, anxiety, and even sickness or disease. They can also evoke strong emotions including fear, anger, guilt, or shame (Mezirow, 2000). Gaining a new perspective is an important component in the transformational learning process. First, individuals would engage in making some critical reflections about their behaviors, attitudes, and their experiences. A process of reevaluating previous assumptions about their jobs or personal lives would follow. These evaluations and assumptions could possibly help them realize that something is not consistent with what they have once held to be true (Taylor, 1998). Such evaluations and assumptions stimulated by a disorienting dilemma or personal crisis are some of the fundamental components that support the theory of transformational learning. Acquiring a new perspective would be important for determining a new set of behaviors or lifestyle.

Gaining a New Perspective

One of the components of transformational learning involves creating a new perspective or a new worldview due to experiencing a disorienting dilemma (Mezirow, 1995). Adults

acquiring/gaining new perspectives about their world may require a different set of learning experiences. Seligman and Csikszentmihalyi (2000) suggested that adults are able to acquire new perspectives about their worldview, themselves, or their vocation through a learning process that involves a series of psychological developments. The process of acquiring a new perspective seems to stimulate the idea of learning a new behavior or forming a new disposition. This process may involve establishing strategies or planned methods that would help adults cope with the demands and stress of life or their jobs. Transformational or transformative learning involves a change in personal feelings, beliefs, attitudes, assumptions, and values because of adults making meaning perspectives (Ashe, Taylor, & Dubouloz, 2005). Mezirow (1991) also suggested that, "to make meaning means to make sense of an experience" (p.1). Mezirow (2000) suggested that there are important factors within the meaning-making process that occurs throughout the aspects of the transformational learning process. He found that various aspects of actual learning occurs "in the real world, in complex institutional, interpersonal, and historical settings and must be understood in the context of cultural orientations embodied in our frames of reference" (p. 24). His evaluations allowed him to realize that there are "asymmetrical power relationships" (p. 28) that influence the process of transformational learning.

There seems to be a cognitive-rational approach to transformational learning (Mezirow, 1992, 2000). Mezirow (2000) suggests child development is a formative process, adult development is a transformative one, a process consisting of "reframing new perspectives, and reengaging life with a greater degree of self-determination" (p. xii). Transformative learning involves a change in one's personal perspective (Mezirow, 2000). If true change of perspective is accomplished, an individual either remains unmoving or goes forward, but an individual usually does not return to the old way of thinking.

According to Baumgartner (2001), the transformational learning process that adults may undergo involves self-questioning, critical reflection, and the need to engage in rational discussions and communications with others to gain a sense of "consensual validation" (p. 17) for a new perspective or behavior or a different approach. The transformational learning process involves the engagement of one's emotions along with the required psychological development of the adult. The literature pertinent to the research of psychological development and adults learning new perspectives stresses the role of powerful events. Learning new perspectives because of powerful events plays a major role in developing a better quality of living (Seligman & Csikszentmihalyi, 2000). As earlier suggested, individuals engaging in critical reflections, reevaluating their assumptions about themselves and their world, and engaging in reflective discourse, usually follow a personal crisis or disorienting dilemma.

Critical Reflection

In the process of reflecting critically on personal experiences or powerful events/situations, people are engaged in making meaning perspectives, i.e., "to make sense of an experience" (Mezirow, 1991, p. 19). Mezirow also contends that people tend to make meaning perspectives each time they test a conclusion, examine deep feelings, or explore other interested perspectives. Previous research reflected how individuals' meaning perspectives would impact health-related behaviors along with the process of change in meaning perspectives that may be "required to manage their chronic health related conditions" (Ashe et al., 2005, p. 281). Ashe et al. used "a grounded theory approach to evaluate the process of transformation in meaning perspectives leading to disease adaptation for several groups of clients in rehabilitation" (p. 281). They found that the "changes in meaning perspectives related to occupational performance issues with work, rest, and leisure" (p. 281).

Mezirow (1991) concentrated on the importance of rational thought and reflection in the transformational learning process. Baumgartner (2001) suggests Mezirow outlines several fundamental components that make up the reoccurring process for perspective transformation that starts with a personal crisis. These courses of action happen when "people begin to realize something is not consistent with what they hold to be true" (Taylor, 1998, p. 17). Reflections or meaning making efforts regarding their structure of assumptions, beliefs and values, or their habitual rules for interpreting their experiences can result in a perspective transformation or change in world view. Thus becomes the framework for establishing alternative behaviors, coping strategies, or new methods adults carry out, which could benefit them as they proceed in responsibilities and other tasks set before them. Such established behaviors, strategies, or new methods carried out by adults may proceed after or during emotional experiences or events that triggered the process of transformational learning.

Transformational Triggers

Personal health-related events or pressing situations in life may trigger the process of transformational learning. According to Mezirow (1995), transformational learning may also result from an accumulation of emotional reactions in life, specific beliefs, extreme dramatic events, work experiences, or attitude shifts over a period. Merriam and Clark (1991) and Klunk (1999) found that trigger events that may stimulate transformational learning come in the form of a personal crisis, critical incident, or significant events related to one's job or personal love life. Their research regarding the work/love interaction and the place of significant learning experiences suggested more learning events tend to occur in the work place than in the love area.

Finally, the stress-producing occupations and job-related demands of teaching, as experienced by many teachers at all levels, can present a disorienting dilemma. When their prior knowledge and previous problem-solving strategies will not resolve the conflicts confronted, teachers can refute the problem and postpone resolving the conflict. Accordingly, this can elevate levels of internal frustration and mental stress that leads to burnout. Teachers may even try to address the conflict, seek resolution, and pursue measures of personal learning. It is through analyzing the problem and by seeking resolutions that an opportunity for transformational learning occurs.

Summary

The availability of education for all and the skillful art of quality teaching are vital components in any promising society. Within the field of teaching, effective teachers produce measureable results from students that afford them the opportunity to develop their full potential and possibly find success as productive citizens (Segall & Wilson, 2004). Good teachers have the responsibilities of nurturing a professional care for their students while promoting quality engagement and learning in the classroom. Thus, teacher/student relationships play a major role, which is an intricate component for academic success for students (Darling-Hammond, 2000). Though important as the teacher/student relationship is for quality academic learning, the developmental process of this component can be challenging when teachers find themselves overwhelmed with other job-related responsibilities and tasks.

Over the years the degree of concern about the growing problems of teacher stress shown by the educational community is associated to the levels of demands, requirements, and challenges found among teachers (Hargreaves, 2003; Schaufeli et al., 1993). Furthermore, student achievement has rapidly become a major component in assessing the productivity of

schools and its teachers (Fitzgerald, 2008). Teachers have major roles in helping students learn, which imply providing students with time to learn, rewarding students with positive and consistent feedback, and providing appropriate content to learn in ways that promote the cognitive development and success of all students (Doll et al., 2004; Maslach, 2003; Squires et al., 1981).

Many teachers consider their work to be a great service to the needs of students and to the development of our society. Nevertheless, Luekens et al. (2004) suggest that classroom teachers are still finding difficulty in developing a long tenure within the teaching profession. Teachers hold the unique position of occupying ever-changing, multifaceted roles that are notoriously demanding, underpaid, at times unappreciated, and highly scrutinized by the public. The job conditions of teachers have considerable influence on the extent to which teachers experience anxiety and stress; and the frequency with which they escalate into full-blown burnout (Leithwood & Beatty, 2008). When there is job stress, work overload, increasing classroom demands, frustration due to administrative decisions, and difficult school conditions facing teachers, there may be problems with teachers' attitudes about their jobs, students, and job performances. Balancing the demands and never-ending responsibilities of the job while aiming to establish good relationships with students can be challenging. Teachers that are unsuccessful in managing their well-being may allow the demands and responsibilities to contribute to the various burnout stages. With the present-day issues of teen drug use, teen-on-teen violence, guns, gangs, poverty, dropout rates, absenteeism, state and federal initiatives, and the increasing disengagement of parental involvement, elementary, middle school, and secondary teachers may find themselves increasingly challenged, emotionally over-loaded, stressed, and burned out.

The subject of professional burnout has inevitably earned increasing keen interest from a multitude of organizational development groups, practitioners, and other demanding professional vocations tasked with quality and process improvement (Bui, Hodge, Shackelford, & Acsell, 2011). The literature describes the pragmatic and academic concerns of job-related stress and burnout facing schoolteachers at all levels (Baker, 2005; Browers & Tomic, 2000; Harrell, Leavell, Van Tassell, & McKee, 2004; Oliver & Reschly, 2007). Therefore, addressing the burnout phenomenon has been a priority among many school districts. When coping mechanisms fail to stem the demands and challenges facing teachers, then stress increases and threatens their mental and physical well-being; ultimately, leading to teachers quitting or burning out (Haberman, 2003).

Parkes (1991) previously suggested that self-efficacy among teachers might moderate the impact of teacher stressors on mental health outcomes. Previous research involving self-efficacy, burnout, and school coping resources predicted that teachers with high perceived coping abilities, both internal (e.g., self-efficacy) and external (e.g., school resources), will select fewer barriers and difficulties to achieving objectives. As a reward, there would be less affects of burnout and stress upon teachers (Blase, 1982). Stress or burnout can become a disorienting dilemma and coping with stress or burnout is a learning experience. While student development is a formative process, teacher development can be a transformative one. The idea of teachers discovering a new perspective and then learn a new behavior for their mental or social good is a component of transformational learning. Taylor, Marienau, and Fiddler (2000) suggested that transformational learning of adults exist everywhere—in the workplace, at home, and in their community.

The transformational learning needs of adults often grow out of their larger life issues (Taylor et al., 2000). Teachers can experience personal and professional development while they continue to execute their demanding duties within the job. Just as the poor response to distress is a learned behavior in the teaching field, so is learning or relearning skills for coping with stress. Teachers, like many adult learners, can develop and learn to protect themselves from the pressures of overload and the perceptions of failure. According to Eisner (1994), teaching is an art guided by educational values, personal needs, and by a variety of beliefs or generalizations that the teacher holds to be true. The idea of teachers entering the profession having core values, personal needs, and positive belief systems affects how they perform their craft in the classroom.

Academic preparations from college programs help develop teachers for the field. Nevertheless, their character development, mental stability, and emotional management as professionals could be the result of a transformational learning process. Employing skills for coping is beneficial in preserving quality performance and protecting the well-being of classroom teachers at all levels (Fortes-Ferreira et al., 2006; Holmes, 2005; Ware & Kitsantas, 2007).

Chapter III

Methodology

The overwhelming job responsibilities, the pressing accountability factors, workload, and burnout has been recognized as serious occupational issues within the field of teaching (Baker & Schaufeli, 2000; Berry et al., 2008; Bui et al., 2011; Maslach, 2003). Consequently, the issues and other adverse effects from burnout facing professional teachers may require them to reevaluate assumptions about their work and then learn or self-educate themselves in how to preserve the quality of their well-being and, subsequently, services to their students. The purpose of this study was to gain an understanding of the coping strategies employed by secondary teachers who experienced burnout. Additionally, the researcher also sought to understand the transformational learning experiences of these teachers because of burnout. This chapter will help the reader understand teacher burnout from the researcher's point of view and understand how these teachers dealt with the adverse conditions of EE and DPZ (i.e., components of burnout). The following questions were used to guide my study: (a) What were the factors that lead to teacher burnout?; (b) How did teachers cope with handling their professional duties while dealing with burnout?; (c) What coping strategies teachers used that addressed the effects of emotional exhaustion and attitudes of callousness?; and (d) What were the transformational learning experiences of those teachers who experienced burnout?

In this chapter, the researcher discussed the methodological approach used to conduct the study. To help satisfy the purpose of this study, the researcher employed one-on-one interviews that collected data regarding EE and DPZ of teachers and their strategies for coping. Previous research noted that adults employing different kinds of coping strategies and/or other forms of meaningful activities have mitigated the effects of burnout (Chaplin, 2008; Maslach et al., 2001).

Moreover, Holmes (2005) and Van Dierendonck et al. (2005) suggested that teachers could reach a sense of balance and harmony through employed measures of coping. In addition to understanding the selected methodology used for this study, this chapter also discussed the validity for the findings from the study. The organization of this chapter will include the research design, population and sampling, participants and the selection process, data collection and instrumentation, validity of study, data analysis, coding, triangulation, bracketing, limitations, and summary.

Research Design

A well thought out design approach that would satisfy or accommodate the purpose of a research should be a design most suitable for a particular study. For this study, the researcher took a qualitative approach to explore and understand the coping strategies of high school teachers who experienced EE and DPZ. This kind of research approach drew increasing interest and application in the fields of education and social sciences (Roberts, 2004). Though the purpose of a quantitative research involves the concept of explaining, the idea or purpose of a qualitative research is to generate understanding (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Golafshani, 2003; Stenbacka, 2001). Using a qualitative approach the researcher will understand opinions, ideas, concepts, feelings, and perceptions of participants. Along with applying a qualitative approach for my study to gain understandings, I used a phenomenological methodology for my research design strategy.

By using a qualitative approach, the researcher focused on how teachers interpreted their burnout experiences, job-related demands, and the various meanings or worldview they attached to those experiences (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Merriam, 2009; Patton, 2002). This kind of approach could help researchers understand how people tend to form some sense regarding their

lives and experiences. A qualitative approach method would center on the "experience itself and how that experience is transformed into consciousness" (Merriam, p. 24). Thus, my active role as a qualitative researcher in this study, according to Patton (2002), was to position myself "on the inside of the phenomenon being observed" (p. 51). As an investigator, I would hear and understand how the burnout phenomenon affected my participants and their well-being.

Phenomenology is the study of phenomena or things as they appeared in our experience or the ways we may experience such things within our environment (Kleiman, 2004; Smith, 2011). According to Groenewald (2004) and Moustakas, (1994), the realities that appear in the real world of individuals are as pure phenomena (i.e., facts, occurrences, or circumstances observed) from their perspectives. A phenomenon appearing in the life of an individual or individuals would be the only absolute data from where research could begin. Burnout is a phenomenon that affects high school teachers (Oliver & Reschly, 2007). When individuals have experienced a phenomenon of some defining or meaningful significance, providing strategic questions (i.e., inquiries or in-depth interview) have been at the heart of collecting meaningful data from those individuals (Merriam, 2009). To help accomplish the goal of this study, the researcher presented strategic inquiries involving the phenomenon and the teachers. Open-end questions generated participants' elaborate stories about their experiences and the burnout phenomenon. It is important that I as a researcher experience the phenomenon as directly as possible through in-depth interviewing of those affected or influenced by that phenomenon (Patton, 2002). Therefore, phenomenology as a study inherent the idea or embraces the theory that people can be relatively certain about their real experiences or perceptions of how things appeared or presented themselves to their consciousness.

The origin of phenomenology is associated with the German philosopher Edmund

Husserl (Groenewald, 2004; Vandenberg, 1997). According to Behnke (2011) and Willig and Stainton-Rogers (2008), Husserl's employment of this research method of phenomenology afforded individuals to provide distinct descriptions in relation to their lived experiences (i.e., their conscience life) regarding various objects, situations, or conditions that existed within their environment.

Participants in this study provided comprehensive and complete descriptions of their burnout experiences and coping strategies through one-on-one interviews (Seidman, 2006). In other words, participants in this study became co-researchers or co-investigators (Patton, 2002) in this phenomenological methodology with the researcher. This is because my participants experienced the phenomenon or situation under investigation and they had a special interest in the subject or topic (Moustakas, 1994; Patton, 2002). To fulfill the aim of a phenomenological methodology, the researcher provided comprehensive descriptions of participants' experiences. In earlier phenomenological studies, Gaines' (2011) research that involved Middle School teachers, principal support, and teacher burnout was able identify the prevailing issues and jobrelated conditions that induced EE and DPZ and provided comprehensive descriptions of teachers' experiences. In another similar phenomenological design study, Grisby (2010) investigated the lived experiences of lesbian school administrators and collected descriptive data and narratives from one-on-one interviews and presented comprehensive descriptions of those administrators' experiences. After using one-on-one interviews, comprehensive descriptions provided some understanding of what my participants encountered as well as the coping strategies they employed to preserve their well-being.

Population and Sample

For this phenomenological study, it is important that the researcher selected a target population that was both eligible to participate as well as accessible to me as an investigator. The eligibility and accessibility of my target population help judged the feasibility for this phenomenological study (Gall, Gall, & Borg, 2007; Porter, 1999). The target population selected for this study is high school teachers employed in one local high school. Within this target population of high school teachers, the researcher had an accessible population that consisted of 88 certified high school teachers that had an average of 12 years of teaching experience, and served a student population of 928 students ranging from grades 9-12 (Elementary and Secondary Education [MODESE], 2011). Sixty percent of the target population had advanced degrees beyond the bachelor's degree and the student/teacher ratio was 13:1. The age bracket of the target population was 23 years of age to 62 years of age. The target population consisted of both African American (i.e., males and females) and White teachers (i.e., males and females).

For the purpose of this study, I used a purposeful sampling procedure (Creswell, 2013) to identify participants in order to conduct my phenomenological study (Creswell & Plano-Clark, 2011; Gall et al., 2007; Patton, 2002). Though an investigator or researcher cannot generalize with small samples or with single cases, a researcher can still learn a great deal often opening up further research (Merriam, 2009). For this phenomenological methodology, the researcher used one of the two types of sampling procedures used in qualitative research.

According to Merriam (2009) and Patton (2002), probability and nonprobability are the two types of sampling researchers can select to utilize in a qualitative research. However, purposeful sampling is the most common type of nonprobability sampling used by qualitative researchers. Purposeful sampling occurs when the researcher believes that the collected

information through in-depth interviews will have greater depth. The researcher used a small sample of teachers for collected descriptive data. Both Patton (2003) and Crouch and Mckenzie (2006) suggested that a qualitative approach within a research usually focuses in depth on small samples, as compared to a quantitative method that focuses on larger samples selected randomly. A purposeful sampling procedure will unveil "information-rich cases" (Patton, 2002, p.44) regarding participants' issues that are central to the study and can be evaluated in depth.

Additionally, Merriam (2009) and Patton (2002) concurred about the powerful emphasis of getting in-depth understanding through a purposeful sampling. The themes that have usually emerged from purposeful sampling interviews are usually understandable and are rich in description. Information from participants that is rich in content will illuminate the questions under study. In using a purposeful sampling, as the one used in this study, the researcher can determine specific selection criteria which to select a sample of participants. Creating a list or particular qualifiers of certain characteristics or attributes would be necessary in the sample as determined by the purpose of the study; and why such attributes are required (Merriam). More specifically, Merriam suggests that this kind of purposeful sampling describes a type of procedure called unique sampling. This type of procedure occurs when a purposeful sampling have displayed a unique characteristic.

The prerequisites and considerations for inclusion of teachers were as follows: (a) had perceived experiences of emotional exhaustion (i.e., become emotionally emptied, a depletion of enthusiasm, and no longer able to handle the emotional demands of others), (b) had perceived experiences of depersonalization (i.e., feelings that contributed to a lack of care for students and colleagues while ignored and pulled away from those who were in need of your service and help), and (c) had encountered a job-related disorienting dilemma or personal crisis that

influenced their decision in making changes in their perceptions/attitudes about teaching.

Participant Selection and Researcher's Subjectivity

For the selection criteria involving this study, there were parameters or boundaries that were required for teachers to participate. Teachers had to be full-time employees, have had 3-23 years of teaching as a high school educator, earned a minimal of a bachelors' degree, achieved state certification, and willing to share their burnout and coping experiences through the process of interviews. Moreover, as the investigator in the study, I had possessed my own subjectivity and biases regarding the burnout syndrome and the negative effects of EE and DPZ that had formally influenced my perceptions and feelings in the earlier years of teaching. Malterud (2001) pointed out that questioning the idea of subjectivity becomes important when ignoring the effect of the researcher. The researcher should not disregard the critical awareness of his or her preconceptions, which may aid the researcher throughout the methodological procedures of a study. Additionally, the researcher should identify his or her subjectivity throughout the course of the research. Subjectivity becomes an aspect of the researcher that remains within the mental framework of the researcher; and when certain aspects of the research have emerged, the researcher can at least disclose to readers where the researcher and subject matter become joined (Peshkin, 1988). The subjectivity that I possessed allowed me to have my own beliefs and views about the burnout syndrome and its effects upon teaching performance. Therefore, the selected methodology and the kind of inquiries shaped for my participants aroused strong and positive feelings within myself, which influenced the approach for this study (i.e., participant interaction, interpretations formed, insight gained). However, being able to bracket or separate myself from the research is important. While it is somewhat difficult to be an unbiased researcher within this study, I can be honest in making this study understandable, truthful, and helpful. Subjectivity

audit (Gall et al., 2007) occurs when researchers become aware or begin to take reflections/notes about situations and conditions connected to their research that arouses their strong feelings (positive or negative), perceptions, and ideas.

The school district's superintendent and head principal of the selected high school received a mailed correspondence and an email message (See Appendix E) regarding the proposed study. Both forms of contact described the research project and requested the superintendent's permission to conduct the research study. Required addresses for these contacts came from the school district's faculty directory obtained from the district's administrative personnel.

After obtaining permission from the superintendent, the researcher scheduled an informal discussion with the high school principal and discussed a date to explain the dissertation study and the recruiting process of the teaching staff. After determining a mutual date to present the dissertation study to the faculty, the recruiting process had began with delivery of a formal letter to all of the secondary teachers. Using the faculty mailboxes, teachers received the letter prior to the faculty meeting. The letter introduced the study and the researcher (See Appendix D). During the predetermined faculty meeting, the researcher: (a) presented an invitation to participate in the study and sought participants, (b) introduced the criterion for inclusion for the study, and (c) entertained inquiries from teaching staff. The researcher acknowledged and noted all qualified volunteer participants. Moreover, the researcher ask each volunteer to provide some background information including the number of years taught, age range, etc. (See Appendix C).

For the selection criteria involving this study, there were parameters or boundaries that were required for teachers to participate (Creswell, 2013; Merriam, 2009). The researcher used the background forms for random selection. A few days after the scheduled faculty meeting, the

selection process began by placing all completed background information forms into a container. The researcher selected eight participants (Creswell & Plano-Clark, 2011; Merriam, 2009; Patton, 2002).

The head principal and one other faculty member witnessed the selection process. This ensured that the selection process for each volunteer had an equal chance for inclusion in the study. Each selected participant determined the convenient time and place for a one-on-one interview. The researcher presented a consent form and discussed the confidentiality measures during the study. Seven interviews took place on the school's campus and one interview was at an alternate location. After the initial interviews, the researcher informed participants if there would be a need for more than one interview session. Moreover, for those other volunteers not selected, the researcher provided opportunities for them to share their personal stories and/or experiences as teachers as well. These opportunities came by way of brief interviews. Data analysis for this study did not include these brief interviews. Additionally, the researcher provided outside resources for volunteers seeking additional services or information about burnout and stress.

Data Collection and Instrumentation

The search for meaningful units or noticeable themes of a phenomenon is probably the defining characteristic of a phenomenological research strategy (Gall et al., 2007; Johnson & Christensen, 2000). Individuals within a purposeful sampling become informants who can give researchers inside information regarding the study. Both Kvale (1996) and Seidman (2013) concurred that using in-depth interviews allows the researcher to solicit and understand the personal meanings, expressed opinions, feelings, points of view, and other detailed descriptions of participants' behaviors. Moreover, one-on-one interviews provide opportunities to get the

personal story behind participants' job-related experiences and understand their transformational learning experience (Creswell, 1998; Groenewald, 2004; Tewksbury, 2009).

As opposed to using focus groups to collect data, using one-on-one interviews allowed the participants to feel more comfortable throughout the interview. Moreover, there tends to be more flexibility in the questioning/interviewing format and the progressing ability to continue with immediate follow-up questioning for clarity in one-on-one interviews (Kvale, 1996).

Personal interaction with each participant is easier and coding and data analysis is less difficult than with the focus group format (Kvale, 1996; Tewksbury, 2009).

Participants responded to a set of pre-determined and strategically designed questions.

The researcher's goals were to solicit and collect comprehensive discussions (See Appendix B).

The interview questions guided or instructed participants to share their thoughts, opinions, and job-related experiences as they dealt with emotional exhaustion. Follow-up questions solicited their feelings and attitudes as they experienced depersonalization (i.e., callousness, insensitivity). Strategically designing these interview questions were in conjunction with the kinds of sample questions used within the educator's version of the MBI and other examples found in the literature (Kokkinos, 2006; Schaufeli, Salanova, Gonzalez-Roma, & Bakker, 2001).

Additionally, after teachers employed a needed strategy or measure for coping due to the burnout phenomenon, teachers described their experiences fully.

The interview sessions were lengthy, but did not require an additional session for each participant. Because the researcher sought for authentic, candid, and rich descriptions from teachers' experiences, the use of the one-on-one interview questions and personal interactions helped participants focus and reflect on the job-related stressors, demanding classroom duties and stressful working conditions, and their strategies for coping. The researcher was able to get

the participants to think about their specific experiences, feelings, and emotions, as they dealt with burnout and their measures of coping that helped formulate their transformations. Thus, using an instrument as one-on-one interview was appropriate. Each participant interviewed until the topic was exhausted or saturated and no new perspectives on the topic was introduced (Groenewald, 2004).

Validity of Study

Validity and reliability were important factors regarding the analyzed results of this study. So often in qualitative research, validity and reliability are the factors that determine the quality of the research. Moreover, Lincoln & Guba (1985) used the term dependability as an associated term for reliability in their study involving the aspects of qualitative research. I endeavored to understand the burnout phenomenon affecting the participants in this study and their strategies for coping.

All researchers that are concerned about presenting a quality study are also concerned about producing valid and reliable findings. Though validity somewhat differs in both quantitative and qualitative research, validity still serves the purpose of checking on the quality of the collected data, the results, and the interpretation (Creswell & Plano-Clark, 2011; Merriam, 2009). According to Merriam, to promote validity and reliability in qualitative and/or narrative research involves the use of such strategies as triangulation (the interpretation of a report is given back to respondents to check clarity and authenticity), peer researcher, or adequate engagement in data collection. For this study, the researcher's use of triangulation became the strategy to secure deep or an in-depth understanding of the phenomenon in question (Guion, Diehl, & McDonald, 2011; Martella, Nelson, Morgan, & Marchand-Martella, 2013). We come to know a thing or phenomenon only through its representations. In qualitative research, interviewing has

been the major source of the qualitative data needed for understanding the phenomenon under study. Therefore, the rigor derived from the researcher's interactive process throughout the interview session allows the researcher to produce believable and trustworthy findings (Creswell, 2013; Riessman, 1993). Additionally, when there is intent to convince the readers to accept a given study, the trustworthiness of the researcher may emerge when questioning the researcher's diligence or efforts throughout the research process. Riessman (1993) suggested that the trustworthiness of a researcher comes into the question that emerges about the researcher's efforts or diligence in convincing the readers to accept a study's findings speak of trustworthiness. The rigor of the researcher or investigator in this qualitative study help account for the validity and reliability needed in this study due to the interaction between researcher and each participant, audio recordings of interviews, triangulation of data, and rich, thick description of transcripts (Golafshani, 2003; Merriam, 2009; Patton, 2002). Regarding the investigator's skill and ability throughout the interview process, Patton (2002) also suggested that reliability becomes a consequence of the validity in the study. In short, according to Golafshani, (2003), "reliability and validity are conceptualized as trustworthiness, rigor and quality in qualitative paradigm" (p. 8).

Data Analysis

Qualitative data analysis usually involves a process of coding (i.e., labeling), establishing themes, and determining the essential meaning of the participants' experiences (Kleiman, 2004). First, the one-on-one interviews were audio-recorded and transcribed. Second, all interview transcripts were prepared for coding and designated themes. Coding consisted of assigned labels to segmented texts of collected data, then, established themes from the codes so that the researcher achieved broader perspectives (Creswell & Plano-Clark, 2011) for the data analysis.

Coding

Analyzing the collected data involved close line-by-line reading and detail examination of the claims and statements of participants' responses, and assigned codes and themes from those responses. First, the researcher divided the participants' responses from each interview question into smaller units or segments for detailed reading and code assignment. The assigned code reflected the participants' exact words or expressed feelings (Strauss & Corbin, 1990), or reflected a short descriptive phrase composed by the researcher (Creswell & Plano-Clark, 2011). In the left side margin of the transcript, the researcher made a notation of the assigned code or descriptive phrase from each segmented text. The researcher continued this coding process for all segmented data. Additionally, the researcher kept a master list of all noted codes or descriptive phrases. The researcher also made notations of possible patterns when previously used codes to new small units or segments of data emerged again. Second, according to the assigned code or phrase in the left side margin of the transcript, the researcher made a notation of an associated theme (i.e., dominate idea/subject) in the right side margin that represented that code or phrase in the left side margin. Codes and composed phrases in the left side margin consisted of the repetitive words, meaningful findings, or central beliefs about things from participants (Strauss & Corbin, 1990).

In short, all responses from interview questions received assigned codes and/or composed phrases along with associating themes. As the analysis developed from all the segments, the codes subsequently exposed recurring patterns found among all the participants. The researcher's method of establishing associating themes from assigned codes gave way for the researcher to rely primarily on reflective analysis (Gall et al., 2007) which is largely a subjective or interpretative process. Consequently, the associating themes reflected the researcher's

"intuition and personal judgment" (Gall et al., p. 472). Finally, after completing the initial coding and designation of themes from the data, the researcher summarized and organized the data; and searched for relationships within the findings and among participants.

Triangulation

Data triangulation checked and established validity by analyzing the research question and the collected data from multiple perspectives (Guion et al., 2011; Martella et al., 2013). Within the framework of a quality research study, the measuring instrument or procedure (i.e., one-on-one interviews) should be not only reliable, but also valid (Kimberlin & Winterstein, 2008). In a general sense, an instrument or procedure to measure some theory or concept is valid to the extent that it measures what it purports to measure (Carmines & Zeller, 1979; Creswell & Plano-Clark, 2011; Kimberlin & Winterstein, 2008). To establish quality findings for this study, focus was on the one-on-one interview responses of participants along with additional efforts employed to check validity. Checking for validity determined if the information obtained through the data collection process was accurate. Qualitative validation is one of the important components in establishing a good research (Polkinghorne, 2005).

First, the researcher took the transcribed interviews back to the participants' in the study and asked them whether the findings were accurate reflections of their interview (Merriam, 2009). This method was the researcher's effort to gain maximum authenticity, clarity, and accuracy of participants' narratives by having them examine or check the interpretations of their report. In addition, their comments served as a check on validity of the interpretation (Merriam, 2002). Oftentimes, along with narrative research, there have been criticisms targeting qualitative research for lack of validity. Nevertheless, Merriam (2002) pointed out that member check is one procedure employed to promote validity and reliability. For the analysis stage, any

additional feedback from participants would help clarify and establish accuracy of the recorded data. Subsequently, any additional information from participants also helped the researcher build evidence for the proper code and significant theme from the participants' responses. Participants presented no additional information. Second, the researcher asked another person (i.e., doctoral candidate) to examine the transcribed data of participants for clarity. The doctoral candidate was familiar with qualitative research as well as the content area and purpose of this specific study (Groenewald, 2004; Ryan & Bernard, 2003). The doctoral candidate examined and considered the codes and themes assigned by the researcher that surfaced from the claims, opinions, and statements of participants. After data examination, the doctoral candidate provided feedback to the researcher until achieving a general agreement.

Bracketing

Even though the researcher was a participating faculty member within the selected school district, this phenomenological investigation required that the researcher bracket or suspend his own preconceptions, understandings, interpretations, experiences, and explanations. According to Moustakas (1994) and Sadala and Adorno (2001), researchers should not allow their own theoretical concepts, meanings, and interpretations to enter the unique world of participants. There were considerations in having faculty members participate in sharing their personal feelings with a colleague instead of sharing with a total stranger. Due to the longevity of the researcher's tenure in the district, he knew some of the participating volunteers personally. This bracketing was the accepted and professional precondition that allowed the researcher to understand those experiences of the participants in the investigation.

Study Limitations

One major limitation of the study is the selection of only one high school faculty and interviewing only eight participants. In-depth interviews took place during the second semester of the school year. The recent change of the administrative leadership team at the high school, implementation of new discipline policies, and new teacher responsibilities may have influenced teacher moral and/or research participation. Having the interviews on site of the school campus did not cause problems in scheduling for the participants. The length of this study took place during the second semester of the academic school year only, having the understanding that conducting this investigation nearing the end of the school year could render different responses from the population.

Summary

Chapter III described the qualitative approach used in this study and provided support for the selected phenomenological research design. Along with providing a brief background of the district and school from which participants were draw; the researcher identified all other aspects of the research process, such as selecting the target population and sample, participant selection process, data collection and instrumentation, validity of study, analysis, triangulation, and limitations. Chapter IV presents participants demographics, interview guide for the study, and detail of themes that emerged from the descriptive data.

Chapter IV

Emotional exhaustion of teachers, their dissipating lack of care and concern for students, problems from administration, and the lack of adequate measures for coping can become problems for effective classroom teaching and student development. Gaining an understanding of the coping strategies employed by secondary teachers who were burnout victims and their transformational learning experiences because of burnout is the purpose of this study. This chapter focused on the various job-related factors and work conditions that contributed to teacher burnout and this was the first research question that guided my study (See Appendix B). As a result of using a phenomenological methodology for this study, this chapter reported the previous episodes, issues, and personal stories of eight high school teachers as they dealt with emotional exhaustion (EE) and depersonalization (DPZ) (i.e., components of burnout).

Additionally, this chapter reported those teachers' strategies for coping with EE and DPZ and their transformational learning experiences. The data for this chapter derived from transcribed interviews and the common themes that emerged from the data analysis. Beginning with the participants' demographics, this chapter continues with a discussion of the four themes related the EE and DPZ.

Participants' Demographics

The Greater St. Louis, Missouri, metropolitan area is where this study took place. The city in which the district is located has a residential population between 35,000 and 36,000 and is centrally located in suburban St. Louis, Missouri. The selected district and school also served as the researcher's place of employment before retirement, which established the reason for this selection. The city is one of the oldest suburbs in the St. Louis area. The management of this

school district is separate from other school districts in the area. University City High School, the school under this study, is the only one existing in the selected school district that is serving its surrounding community. The student body had a large population of African Americans (89%), a White population of 9%, a Hispanic population of 0.8%, an Asian population of 0.5%, and fifty-five percent of the student population receiving Free/Reduced Lunch (MODESE, 2011).

The participants in this study had fictitious names and represented a wide range of academic courses from the school's curriculum. As indicated in Table 4.1 the majority of participants identified themselves as White females; two participants were African American males; and only one participant was an African American female. All participants declared their loyalty to the profession along with sincere commitment to serves students and school district. Six of the participants began their teaching career at this suburban high school. Both remaining participants reported previous employment in other locations (i.e., one teaching within a different school district and the other as an instructor within the United States Air Force). At the time of this study, all participants had taught at least 7 years at the secondary level having prior teaching experiences with all grade levels (i.e., 9-12). The teacher with the longest teaching experience had 23 years. To understand the scope of each participant's teaching experiences at this school, seven participants primarily taught courses that were graduation requirements for all students (i.e., Math, Language Arts, Science, Psychology History, Social Studies, Art). The remaining participant taught Aerospace Science and Leadership, an elective course not required for graduation. Five teachers had obtained a Master's degree. The age bracket of the teachers was between 38 to 57 years. Four of the participants were married and four were single.

Table 4.1

Participants' Demographics

Participants	Race/Ethnicity	Age	Highest Education	Years Experience	Marital Status
Tom	African American	45-51	Bachelors'	20	Married
Cora	White	52-58	Masters'	23	Single
Judy	White	38-44	Masters'	19	Married
Joann	White	45-51	Bachelors'	21	Single
Cathy	White	52-58	Doctorate	10	Married
Dave	African American	52-58	Bachelors'	18	Married
Shelia	African American	52-58	Masters'	10	Single
Ann	White	52-58	Masters'	7	Single

All participants reported having a general mixture of students in their classes that they perceived represented the student population within the school. Some of the participants indicated teaching classes academically structured for only high achievers (i.e., Advanced Placement courses, Honor's courses). Two participants taught a few classes specifically designed and only structured for students requiring special needs and services due to particular diagnosed learning and/or behavioral disabilities. Nevertheless, throughout their tenure all participants seem to have experienced a common diversity among students (i.e., low achievers, high achievers, and ethnicity) within their classes.

Interview Guide and Research Questions

Six one-on-one interview questions elicited discussions related to the categories of EE (i.e., emotionally overextended, depletion of enthusiasm) and DPZ (i.e., callousness towards others, uncaring attitudes toward job responsibilities). Three interview questions addressing EE of teachers explored their previous experiences of emotional overload, running out of energy,

work-related frustrations, and their job demands affecting their professional performances.

Three interview questions addressing DPZ explored their previous attitudes of callousness, negative attitudes, and feelings of detachment towards students, faculty, and their job (See Appendix B). All six one-on-one interview questions (See Appendix C) addressed all four of the research questions in Chapter I.

Themes

Reoccurring and/or unresolved work-related issues, teacher expectations, marking deadlines (i.e., exams, reports, and school assignments), classroom duties, exasperating interpersonal relationships with students, and problematic issues with school administrators and their lack of support were factors that contributed towards adverse effects upon teachers' performance and their disposition. From the collection of data, four themes emerged that appeared common among all participants and seem to induce EE and DPZ.

The four themes in Table 4.2 are associated with the adverse effects of EE (i.e., emotionally overextended, depletion of enthusiasm) and DPZ (i.e., callousness towards others, uncaring attitudes toward job responsibilities). The three themes completing the list in Table 4.3 are associated with the strategies or activities teachers employed to cope with or mitigate EE and DPZ. The following sections discussed the seven themes.

Table 4.2

Common Themes and Descriptors

Themes	Descriptors of Burnout	
Administration Issues (AI)	Insensitivity, lack of support, unprofessional treatment, and unresolved student issues ignored by principals, counselors, or other district personnel	
Administrative Workload and		
Responsibilities (AWR)	High volume of paperwork for students (e.g., lesson plans, various reports), assigned monitoring duties, meetings, processing student discipline referrals	
Negative Teacher/Student		
Relationship (NT/SR)	Constant student misbehaviors in classroom, unresolved negative attitudes from students, noncompliance of students, friction between teacher and student, disrespect towards adults	
Lack of Student Effort (LSE)	Passivity of students, very poor classroom participation, poor attendance, constant tardiness	

Administration Issues (AI)

The emergence of AI as a theme of EE and DPZ resulted from teachers' intolerable displeasures and unresolved efforts from principals, poor enforcement of school policies by administrators (tardiness of students, skipping class, disciplinary procedures, and dress code), personal frustrations from administrative paperwork, and principal neglect and/or lack of support of teachers. The participants discussed the lingering degrees of emotional frustration because of the weekly instances of unfair treatment, inefficiencies, negligence, and unprofessionalism from various grade level principals. From the teachers' point of view, the issues surrounding AI eventually generated a lack of respect, negative attitudes, and frustration. Associated with this theme was the frequent display of insensitivity from both grade level principals and/or school

counselors regarding the lack of attention given to teachers suffering from large numbers of students in their various classrooms. Over population of classrooms was an issue perceived by the researcher as an added frustration experienced by the participants.

In an effort to describe his personal experiences and previous mental frustration, regarding school policies and principal support, Dave, a teacher who had taught for 18 years said:

I have found myself so constantly frustrated and irritated with principals in this building, because of the negligence and laziness to maintain the kind of policies and quality learning environment that these kids need. These administrators continue to allow low-priority distractions rob them of their job for these kids. It just frustrated me and many other teachers in this building. It made me think, if they do not care, why should I? My sole purpose for being here was for the young folks here. Sometimes, we do not get the support and efforts we need from these principals. However, they truly know how to put extra work on us. I deeply feel the young people here are short-changed. I had to pray to the Lord to help me get past those irritations that are beyond my control. I feel the leadership has been poor at times and it affects us teachers.

The teachers discussed many instances involving unresolved issues with assigned grade level administrators and the number of disruptive students in a classroom not properly reprimanded after filing the proper disciplinary forms. Four of the female teachers declared their nagging frustrations and emotional exhaustion because of what they perceived to be a lack of sympathy from particular grade level principals and certain school counselors. Additionally,

these teachers had perceived a lack of sympathy from two particular counselors who ignored the issues regarding large class sizes. The teachers had reported various instances of non-supportive actions by principals when teachers dealt with parents of disruptive students.

Cathy, Tom, and Ann mentioned their constant frustration, or at times their emotional overload, stemming from the lack of support from principals when they really needed their intervention or encouragement. All participants felt that various forms of encouragement or positive feedback from the school's administrative staff were important for teachers' well-being. Participants also mentioned the unfair pressures from principals in an effort to make teachers perform better or more efficient in their classrooms (e.g., properly managing or controlling student behavior, influence student classroom participation).

All participants expressed the on-going frustrations, mental fatigue, and their disapprovals regarding the results of grade level principals not having the administrative follow-thru when expected by teachers. For instance, after making the required calls to parents/guardians regarding student behavior or poor class performance/grades, teachers found it very irritating when assured that a certain administrative staff (principal or counselor) would make a follow-up call as well. Having principal support in matters involving parents was very important for participants. However, follow-thru by principals was so inconsistent and oftentimes teachers were uninformed. According to the participants, similar instances would involve providing follow-up when teachers requested principals to re-evaluate portions of the student dress code when students were in violation of such dress codes. Cora, a veteran teacher of 23 years said, "I don't intend to do my job and the responsibilities of some of these principals. They are letting this kids get away with many things". In like fashion, Tom, a teacher for 20 years stated, "Principals in this building expect so much from us, but they so often fail to do what

we expect from them". Issues regarding lack of support from administration and/or at times uncaring attitudes from principals appeared exasperating among these teachers especially when they sacrificed their time to complete required paperwork for disruptive behavior of students.

Regarding the insensitivities and unfair treatment from administration, six teachers felt pressured that they had to perform well at all times.

The teachers cited the on-going lack of proper disciplinarian measures in reprimanding disruptive students in their classrooms or unruly behaviors of students in hallways. In expressing their inner frustration and times of callousness because of unfair treatment, Tom's comment was reflective of the sentiment of others. He stated, "So often, we are not treated like professionals. I have had unpleasant experiences with one of my administrators who had me under pressure! It was stressful!" Frustration mounted and disengagement from teachers were noted when certain principals were inconsistent with upholding school policies for all students.

The participants complained about various forms of favoritism towards other faculty while they felt overlooked and unappreciated by administrators. Cathy, a veteran teacher of 10 years, indicated there was too much "politics on the job" by principals in showing too much favoritism with other faculty. Shelia, a teacher with 10 years of teaching, provided an example of the job politics that she perceived:

Counselors knew that there were teachers like me who had an overload of students with behavioral issues within the class schedules. These classes were called the large group of non-achievers. So some of these counselors and certain administrators would give me all the troubled kids

that particular teachers did not want. I even had kids that were too old to be in this group.

Some of the participants also discussed their deep disappointments and mounting frustrations from unsupportive administrators when they dealt with the parents of disruptive or low achieving students. In addition to her administrative disapprovals, Shelia stated:

You have administration that want to use their tactics to get you to just approve or pass unproductive kids to the next grade. These administrators would use the tactic, "if you don't pass this kid you are going to get him back the next year." Some of these kids are not reading well.

All participants discussed how the services/efforts of principals, or the lack thereof, played a major factor in teacher morale. The emotional overload, frustration, the sense of running out of energy, and degrees of callousness reported by some participants were due to how principals had allowed aspects of the school's quality learning environment and student discipline to fall apart. Joan, a 21-year veteran, perceived that administration (i.e., principals) had allowed student behavior to become more outrageous. For an example, Joan stated that, "Gang members would cut class and be found sitting outside the classroom on the steps without facing any consequences when reported by a teacher. I was appalled!" Additionally, Joan's comment regarding the lack of care from principals and at times their unresponsive behavior was the sentiment of others. She stated, "Their focus is always on us as teachers and it should also be on the kids too!" Cora, who has been teaching for over two decades, considered the unfair time limits placed upon teachers by administration to finish needed forms or reports. She considered the unfair time limits upon teachers very taxing. For an example, Cora stated,

It was emotionally draining and frustrating for me when principals would provide directives on how we were to do this new thing and when to have it done, but then they would require other responsibilities and mandates while ignoring the time frame they previously gave us to complete those other new things.

All participants discussed the long agonizing battles (with counselors and principals) to reduce the class size where high number of students usually generated issues. Six teachers discussed their negative issues with previous unresolved efforts from administration to reduce the size of some of their classes. Additionally, not holding students accountable to the school rules were an on-going issue. Personal dealings with principals, lack of administrative commitment and follow-up, and too many required meetings seem to be on-going dilemmas among teachers.

Administrative Workload and Responsibilities (AWR)

AWR stems from teachers' administrative paperwork for administrators, other daily procedures and requirements (e.g., lesson plans, filing disciplinary referrals for students, keeping parent phone logs, electronically filing grades) and dealing with assigned duties of hallway supervision (other areas in facility). The participants in the study expressed their frustrations, negativity, and at times loss of enthusiasm handling all various kinds of record keeping aspects of the teaching vocation. Such constant attention given to administrative work, record keeping, and supervision appeared to be major distractions from providing the energy needed for classroom duties, which resulted in frustration. When asked about job-related factors that caused emotional overload and daily frustrations, teaches discussed their negativity such as, but not limited to, being required to control the traffic flow in hallways during passing time, monitoring

students for proper dress code, confronting negative behaviors, attend meetings throughout each week (e.g., faculty meetings, departmental meetings), insufficient resources for classrooms (technology), poorly equipped rooms for quality teaching (old furniture, heating/air conditioning issues) and dated textbooks.

Six teachers discussed their displeasures and at times felt offended when principals did not address unresolved disciplinary matters that needed immediate attention. To compound their frustrations and dissatisfactions, they sacrificed time given to fill out the proper forms and then track down the appropriate administrator to communicate the issue seemed to be of no avail at times. The researcher perceived the weekly task (sometimes daily) of completing administrative paperwork required by teachers was irritating and at times unimportant. Regarding the demands of handling administrative paperwork perceived by the participants and the issue of emotional exhaustion, Cora expressed sentiments that were somewhat similar to other teachers.

Having a class full of low-achieving students with behavioral problems, I was overwhelmed, frustrated, and felt unqualified handling the responsibilities of writing so many individualized evaluation plans required by my evaluator and this system. I lacked training for this kind of paperwork. I had to learn so much on my own and I felt overworked with administrative stuff.

Some teachers also discussed their agony of learning how to multi-task while managing classes and motivating students. They felt they were doing too much paperwork (unimportant at times) not related to student learning. In addition, they were having too many faculty meetings that they perceived at times were unnecessary. Joan brought this to light.

When the problems with gangs began to surface here at school, a few

disciplinary procedures soon fell apart and required reports were mounting. I wasn't getting the reassurance I needed from the principal. I use to get in my classroom and I would hide because that kept me sane. The faculty meetings, those other useless meetings, and any dealings with administrative responsibilities made me crazy. All the other administrative stuff just came together and it was too hard for me to handle.

Some believed the time-consuming paperwork was unnecessary and so often irrelevant when compared to other things. Dealing with emotional over load, Tom said, "It's frustrating when you have to do all of these different types of documents and things and you don't have time to adequately prepare to teach." Some of the increasing paperwork stemmed from professional development workshops, referrals for students skipping class and tardiness, progress reports, and others forms of evaluations that appeared to be of no benefit. Cathy, a veteran teacher of 10 years said:

Constantly wasting of our time doing administrative paperwork and them requiring us to make phone calls to reach parents, robs me of my energy needed for these kids. I became so frustrated and highly irritated. I would be beat at the end of the day. I began to care less about certain responsibilities and things in my class because it seems administration did not care about what we do daily.

When asked about the factors resulting in attitudes of indifferences and periods of emotional exhaustion, all the teachers shared negative comments about hall supervision, dealing with students not properly displaying their identification badges, confronting infractions regarding

cell phone policies, and the various paperwork that appeared to be so unrelated and useless (disciplinary procedures). All participants felt that too much paperwork of an administrative nature and monitoring were required when comparing the paperwork and grading tasks required for the demands of their classes.

Negative Teacher/Student Relationship (NT/SR)

All the participants felt that positive relationships constructed and managed by both teacher and student tends to be an extremely important component. NT/SR included relational matters that negatively fractured the framework of mutual respect needed between teacher and student (e.g., on-going disruptive behaviors of a student or students in a teacher's classroom; unresolved negative tension between teacher and students; and disrespectful verbal communication between teacher and student/students). The kinds of relationships teachers have with students throughout the course of the school day usually determine their well-being or happiness. The theme of NT/SR generated lengthy discussions from all participants. This was a recurrent theme among the participants.

All the participants identified their mounting struggles and daily contentions with efforts to establish on-going positive relationships with all their classroom students, despite the negative dispositions that teachers perceived many students displayed. Many negative and unexpected confrontations were with other unidentified students outside teachers' classroom. Several participants noted their emotionally draining efforts to positively communicate to disruptive, insensitive, and disrespectful students in an effort to relinquish, redirect, or minimize negative issues. So often, these teachers experienced their frustrations and at times attitudes of indifference. Cora stated, "I did not like the person I turned into or my behaviors toward these

kids. Eventually, I did a lot of apologizing". In apologizing to one student, Cora stated, "There was no excuse for me speaking to you in that manner." Many teachers discussed their inner frustration and mental exhaustion dealing with students. For an example, Cathy said,

I worked hard in my classes to help my students. Some of my kids were nasty to me. They would do this, then that, and then this. I found myself not really liking them. When I wanted to harm them, I would start a contest for pizza as a means to minimize my frustrations and anger.

For Judy, a veteran teacher of 19 years, her emotional labor and mental exhaustion were associated with the tasks of "writing too many referrals and becoming hard-hearted towards kids." In addition, Judy said,

I struggled a lot because I did not want to be punitive always. I do not get as much done as well as I could when I am managing and when I have those disruptors acting up in class. It definitely affects my attitude, energy, and teaching.

Despite the labor and challenge of teachers building positive teacher/student relationships in all their classes, it was important when student learning and classroom management were involved. It is interesting to note that the issues of NT/SR were not to the same degree as it were to the two male teachers in this study. Discussing the mental and emotional factors leading to EE and DPZ, Ann, who has taught for seven years, discussed the on-going issues with students in her classes.

I came into teaching with a very idealistic mentality. I was shocked with students' behaviors. It was exhausting at times for me to build relationships with some of them. I had days where kids were throwing things at me. Cultivating positive relationships with all my bad kids were extremely hard and frustrating.

Shelia discussed that her students' behaviors were disconcerting as well. She said,

Nobody told me how to properly deal with kids displaying behavioral problems and yet we have to establish a relationship that will help them learn. You cannot touch them! Out of control behavior, nobody prepared you for that. That is on-the-job training.

All the teachers indicated having order in their classrooms was a high priority for effective teaching and learning. It was unanimous among participants that constant student misbehavior in the classrooms, willfully ignoring school policies, and breaking classroom rules severely frustrates the teacher/student relationships. For examples, Joan said, "The classroom behaviors of my students have gone downhill. Their behavior is outrageous. It has been hard for me to teach". Similarly, Shelia said, "Before I started teaching, I never would have considered these kinds of behavior problems in the classroom". Teachers mentioned the energy, emotions, and inappropriate times given to deal with unacceptable behaviors and other forms of negativity from students. For examples, Dave, a teacher for 18 years stated, "Everyday, all day, I am confronting students about their awful profanity and disrespect towards adults". Tom, a veteran of 20 years, said, "I find myself getting frustrated dealing with correcting rude behaviors and negative attitudes of my kids because it disrupts my classroom environment". Ann said, "It

bothers me to see so much disrespect of kids towards other adults. I am not use to this". Both Judy and Cora discussed their growing animosities regarding their students always texting in the classroom. Cathy stated, "It seems each week I have to go into the hallway and deal with kids fighting or bullying or using their cell phones". The emotional frustrations of teachers reached levels whereby they pointed out the fact that there were students that they did not like.

Nevertheless, Dave said, "When students see that you care, it makes a difference in how they will relate to you. But it's emotionally draining and frustrating getting kids to trust you instead of them not liking you."

Lack of Student Effort (LSE)

LSE stems from the constant lack of student participation and attitudes of carelessness regarding classroom work and academic responsibilities. So often, it is very challenging for teachers to provide students with the sincere motivation to progress, focus, and succeed.

Teachers discussed their frustrations, exasperations, and exhaustive measures employed to help advance or motivate students in their required responsibilities. In their efforts to stimulate or increase student productivity within the classrooms, teachers were also frustrated due to the lack of supportive interventions from the parents of their unproductive students. When asked about some of the job-related issues that contributed towards callousness, and, at times, hindered their professional services, some of the teachers declared how negatively affected they were because of the negative attitudes of students regarding required class work and/or participation. Cora, who taught an advanced course of high achieving students said,

I would get some kids in my classes and their lack of efforts everyday would negatively affect me! I would be working my rear end off for these kids and yet their behaviors and attitudes were telling me to shove it! That wears you down like nothing else.

Discussing her emotional issues and frustrations, Shelia said, "Students that don't participate in my class and refuse to do what is required means that I have to spend my time calling parents throughout the day. Their laziness affects me!" Tom also discussed his frustrations with his student efforts.

It is frustrating and emotionally draining when you give your all and kids are not giving you 100%; they are not really trying as hard as they possibly can to do the best that they can in the classroom. Their focus is on other things socially outside of the classroom. I have to watch that my attitude does not get like their attitude.

Teachers discussed that students often appeared to be preoccupied with classroom behaviors that are non-related to academics (i.e., texting, daydreaming, sleeping, excessive attempts to talk to classmates). Efforts from students to become engaged in class activities were missing. When asked about her emotional challenges and periods of negativity towards students, Judy said,

You have so much that you can give to help your students and you expect a change or a response or you know, and there is a minimum effort that you expect. However, some of these students are not trying, don't care, and you end up detaching yourself from the ones who are not trying.

Ann said, "There were days that I wanted to go home and not come back. It seems that I was wasting my time and energy." Teachers reported the importance of students' participating in the classroom along with them meeting the academic requirements of that class. Teachers agreed that the academic efforts of students or the lack thereof become a reflective image of

teachers' abilities to inspire or motivate students. Teachers dedicated to motivate those students that lack enthusiasm or effort within the classroom can be costly to the emotions as Cathy demonstrated.

You have expectations for all your students and the biggest frustration is when you try everything you can, teach it this way or do it that way or explain it this way and they don't get it because their interest is not there or there are other things going on, whether socially or emotionally.

Therefore, I would say that is what causes me to become emotionally overwhelmed.

Dave discussed what it was like reaching his limits with many of his students as well. He said, "So often I had come to my limits of frustration and became highly discouraged with many of my students. They were refusing to become responsible for their work and would not ask for help". He went on to say, "My greatest frustration was not with the parents not holding their kids responsible for their school work, but the laziness of these students that did not care".

In this study, the researcher examined four job-related themes that negatively affected the emotional state (i.e., exhaustion, depleted enthusiasm) and mental makeup (feelings of callousness, detachment) of secondary teachers. These adverse conditions corrupting the professional performances of teachers reflected the aspects of job burnout. Burnout is a job performance issue among teachers consequently causing them to develop negative attitudes, experience depleted enthusiasm, deal with long periods of frustration, and carelessness regarding their work. Poor support, or the lack thereof from principals, administrative workload, negative teacher/student relationships, and lack academic participation from students were factors

affecting the well-being, motivation, resiliency, empathy, and passion of teachers. Demanding responsibilities, limited resources, and unsupportive personnel in a work environment can jeopardize the well-being and emotional balance of teachers, possibly causing some teachers to develop ineffective confrontational methods while dealing with job-related stressors.

Chapter V

Coping Strategies Associated with EE and DPZ

Learning successful techniques or strategies for coping with EE and DPZ have had favorable results for teachers who work at all grade levels (Chang, 2009; Chaplin, 2008; Montgomery & Rupp, 2005). The purpose of this study is to gain an understanding of the burnout experiences of high school teachers and the coping strategies they employed along with their transformational learning experiences because of burnout. This chapter focused on the employed coping strategies that assisted teachers as they dealt with EE and DPZ and this were second and third research questions that guided my study (See Appendix B).

Though the levels of stress and the phenomenon of burnout in the field of teaching are apparent, all the teachers in this study discovered and established varies means to diminish, elevate, or cope with the effects of EE and DPZ. As you continue through this chapter, you will see the activities and methods teachers employed that minimized EE and DPZ. Additionally, such employed strategies for coping assisted teachers in maintaining their well-being as professionals. The findings in this chapter reported the themes associated with the coping strategies teachers used to alleviate or reduce the adverse effects of emotional exhaustion (EE) and depersonalization (DPZ). The variations of coping mechanisms, activities, methods, and strategies varied among the participants according to the themes that emerged from the analyzed data.

As noted in Table 4.3 below, three themes emerged. Mental Efficiency (ME), Positive Interpersonal Relationships (PIR), and Outside Resources (OR) depicted various strategies teachers perceived to benefit them in achieving a sense of mental well-being and emotional

balance while dealing with the struggles, demands, and difficulties of their work. Though this study reveals the burnout phenomenon affecting these teachers were apparent, they benefited from meaningful relationships, satisfying hobbies, and pursued varies activities that alleviated, mitigated, or cope with the effects of EE and DPZ.

Table 4.3

Common Themes and Descriptors

Themes	Descriptors for Coping
Positive Interpersonal Relationships (PIR)	Mentorship from others, regular social network, collaborations with other staff, fellowship with friends, care from family and support
Mental Efficiency (ME)	Resilient, fortitude, mental relaxation techniques, a humorous point of view, optimistic
Outside Resources (OR)	religious/spiritual activities, hobbies, exercise, sports, involvement with pets

Positive Interpersonal Relationships (PIR)

PIR was perceived as stress-reducing activities/strategies such as exercise, meaningful social relationships (i.e., support from colleagues, stimulating adult relationships outside work, positive family influence), and various engaging hobbies. Such forms of coping strategies benefited the participants, as they were able to effectively deal with the job-related difficulties, classroom challenges, demanding tasks, and other on-going job-related stressors. Teachers found mental relief and emotional rewards through forms of mentoring from other staff members and designated small group meetings that provided encouragement and classroom support.

When addressing the methods or strategies used for coping with job stress and emotional overload, all the teachers discussed the emotional and mental benefits received from positive

relationships stemming from colleagues. Ironically, Joan found relief from her mental exhaustion and frustration by frequently meeting with the head principal. Joan said, "I would go and sit down with the principal and he would assure me that I would be okay. He would always ask me if I needed his help. That was great for me." Joann, a veteran teacher of 21 years, continued,

It is the people in this building, the adults! There is no way any of us can make it without these adults as a source for help and encouragement. You go to the people who are in the trenches with you and I have relied on the people in this building in so many ways. There is also a group I hang out with on Saturdays and mostly what we do is vent to one another. This is our mental therapy.

The importance of forming and maintaining positive relationships with colleagues and other caring adults were common among the participants. All teachers discussed the importance of having other concerned adults in their lives. Joann expressed her deep commitments and convictions about establishing healthy interpersonal relationships. "You have got to find that person who will be with you when you are emotionally burned-out! You cannot make this job work by yourself." Additionally, some teachers found emotional relief and comforting rewards through collaborative group meetings among staff members and caring mentors.

Both Dave and Tom discussed how necessary it was for teachers to meet among themselves to share concerns, questions, management ideas, and similar problematic issues involving their students. Both men also benefited greatly from having mentors that understood the demands they encountered as teachers. Tom said,

Even though I felt like I was placed in a tough situation with this kind of class schedule (i.e., diversity of low achieving students, limited educational resources and supplies) and was having a bad time trying to teach, fortunately for me I had support from several of my colleagues who were right there with me.

On the other hand, Dave found strength and felt revitalized through the interactions with other caring adults that attend the weekly Bible class at his church. "I look forward to going to meet with members of our Bible class. They refresh me. I feel rejuvenated being around people that care about me and my job. I get refueled!"

Variations of PIR were also evident between with Judy and Ann. Both deeply exclaimed the benefits of having female mentors and colleagues within the school building while also benefiting from a positive home life. When asked about dealing with the emotional load of teaching, Judy, who is married, said:

It is important to communicate with other adults who can show empathy or sympathy for the situations you deal with. You need someone to hear what you are going through and to be compassionate with their listening. My husband has been there this whole time. Within this facility, you have to develop beneficial relationships. It has to start with a mentoring relationship where someone can just listen and say, yes, that happen to me, or I have been through that.

Ann, a single woman said, "I was in shock with student behavior when I started teaching!

I had days when kids were throwing things at me. It was brutal. Administration was not a good

support. My emotional and mental support came from another teacher." In addition, to minimize the negativity or emotional overload that Ann experienced, she discussed the importance of her family (i.e., siblings, parents).

I have a very strong family. I talk a lot to family even though I'm the only person in my family that lives in this region. We are in constant communication.

Also my colleagues here, the teachers, they are needed support. Therefore, if I am having a bad day, I know I can go and see these particular teachers or that teacher.

Cathy, Cora, and Shelia expressed the unique benefits received from their interpersonal relationships colleagues. Some of these interpersonal relationships were in the forms of collaborative faculty meetings (working in small groups), workshops, and other interactions with students outside their classrooms. The interpersonal relationship with the social worker helped Cathy. "The social worker of the school did wonders for me. She assured me that I was strong enough to do the job, despite the challenges. She encouraged me to keeping doing the positive things." The personal relationships established with certain staff members were also important for Cora. "Having time with other staff members in our workshops, lunch time, district-wide professional development (small groups), and department meetings are important to me. Hearing their issues and receiving their encouragements helped me." Shelia's coping strategies included using the experiences of veteran teachers. Shelia declared, "I became a better teacher when I began getting into the heads of veteran teachers that have been in the game for a while. My help and support came from my colleagues."

Mental Efficiencies (ME)

ME represented another avenue teachers' dealt with EE and DPZ. Mental efficiencies were the psychological approaches and mental resiliencies participates relied upon that countered the feelings associated with effects of EE and DPZ. Practicing such cognitive abilities stimulated the kinds of stabilizing perceptions and dispositions participants used as coping strategies. To safeguard the professional efforts needed in the classroom while also protecting the enthusiasm required to be productive, teachers' ability to see the humorous side of things was an effective cognitive strategy in mentally adjusting towards a positive attitude. An additional characteristic of ME resulted from teachers' intentional determination to remain focused and resilient in their mission as a professional teacher. So often, the participants in this study discussed their fortitude and resiliency in initiating effective teaching strategies while also creating various classroom activities that reduced the negativity and disruptive behaviors of students. All the teachers expressed their unyielding position of being a professional called to teach, motivate, model professionalism, and help develop kids. The researcher considered ME as a vital component in teachers coping with the issues of their work and the emotional and mental challenges of the teaching profession.

The mental force required to be productive in the field of teaching seems to go beyond having adequate educational resources for teaching and favorable working conditions that established quality interpersonal relationships among students and staff. In varying degrees, all the teachers in this study discussed the mental efficiencies and cognitive skills they possessed enabling them to stay engaged. Tom said:

No matter what or how I feel, or what has transpired negatively in my classes

each day, it is extremely important for me to mentally strong. You must have a plan and become consistent with that plan and stick to it. If not, you know, then the experience of doing your job can be pretty tough.

Tom further stated, "It is my will to be successful. That is my main driving force. My biggest fear is failure." This attitude of having a mental drive was common among all the participants. Though the emotional overload in teaching and dealing with various conflicts with students were prevalent, Joann expressed her deep feelings and resolve regarding her profession by declaring, "I can do this, I can teach! That attitude kept me a little sane and somewhat balanced." As noted throughout the study, the frustrations that occur in teacher/student relationships, daily emotional challenges of teaching, and the various demanding responsibilities of the profession were common to all participants in this study. Nevertheless, fortitude was a common theme among teachers.

When asked about his strategies in coping with the demands of the job while handling his duties, Dave said, "My purpose for being here at this school is for these students! I had to fight through with prayer to remind myself of the things that I cannot change." Both Ann and Judy suggested that they were determined to make the mental investments and sacrificial efforts required to be a good teacher. Judy, the youngest participant said,

I am determined to be that teacher that returns papers in a timely fashion and will never go without a lesson plan. Either you set those expectations for yourself or you do not. There is no salary different between the teacher who does and does not. I'm determined to be effective and productive for these kids.

In her emotional declaration and despite all the apparent challenges of classroom teaching, Ann indicated it was the achievements and positive interactions with the students that helped her create a strong mentality. "What's keeping me here are the students that need me!" In similar fashion, the discussions from Cathy, Cora, and Shelia were consistent with the other participants. Cora, the longest tenured teacher stated, "Though I got to the point where I hated some of my bad kids and hated that class when they were there, I made a determination not to fail as a productive teacher". In sharing her thoughts and feelings about the mental ability and stamina required to be an effective teacher, Shelia stated,

Though my struggles and disappointments were many during my teaching tenure, I was willing to change my planning procedures for my classes. I was determined not to fail but start effectively planning my lessons that included all the students that they put in my class. I still do it today. It does not matter if a kid has behavior problems or whether he or she is a genius; whether that kid is bad, black or white, my lesson planning will accommodate every learning style.

Cathy indicated,

After having a horrible year at this job, I would never take the next day off because it would be like getting back on the horse again. I was determined to believe that the next day in this place would be better. I had to mentally work to let them know I still care.

Teachers discussed a developed and unwavering dedication to their kids and a perceived loyalty to their profession, in the midst of the daily demands of keeping classroom order, maintaining

proper recordkeeping, complying with administrative procedures, supervising hallways, and providing classroom leadership.

Outside Resources (OR)

Outside resources were activities and hobbies that the participants engaged in as a coping strategy. Beneficial activities like exercise/gym, hobbies, pleasurable walking, church involvement, dog-walking, extra-curricular school activities (i.e., attending sporting events, involvement with school clubs/programs) were very common among all participants. For example, Cora stated, "I got involved with presenting the school musical. It was something that I did for years. That was my therapy. I also go to the gym after a hard day." Cathy's outside resource included her dog.

Walking my dog after work helped me process a taxing day. At the end of the day, I have to take care of me! What I tell other teachers and parents is that, in an airplane when they lose oxygen they do not tell you to put the 'air thing' on your kid first, they tell you to put it on you first.

Both Shelia and Ann enjoyed walking before and after work as forms of exercise and meditation. Shelia "walked six and a half miles every morning before work". She said, "Walking relieves that stress build up in me." Along with being an avid reader to reduce work stress, swimming was an outside resource for Ann. "Swimming every day after work and spending time with my family (i.e., daughters) at home has helped me handle all this stuff here at school!" Tom enjoyed playing a musical instrument and found an escape through graphic arts. All participants discussed and emphasized the quality outside resources and various forms of

activities that proved beneficial for their well-being. Benefiting from her resources at home, Judy exclaimed, "Thank God for my husband and kids at home that truly keep me grounded!"

The emotional rewards and spiritual benefits discovered in church settings greatly benefited Dave and Shelia. They both discussed the great meaning it brought to them because of how challenging each day of teaching can be. Dave stated, "It is my faith and involvement with my church that has been my foundation and my relief. I feel I am better equipped to handle these situations and challenges on this job that I encounter everyday". In a similar expression, Shelia declared, "My walking is good, but it's my prayer life and Bible reading that keeps me strong!"

Though EE and DPZ were apparent within the teaching tenure of all the participants, findings suggested that all participants eventually progressed toward a more psychological well-being that help them achieve the kinds of coping strategies needed for quality job performance, resiliency, and a degree of well-being.

Chapter VI

Discussion and Summary

As service providers, teachers should be mentally strong, professionally skilled, and socially able to adjust to the challenges of teaching students and upholding various other professional responsibilities. Nevertheless, burnout has been a pressing issue among all professional teachers (Maslach, 2003; Mee, 2009). The purpose of this study was to gain an understanding of the coping strategies employed by secondary teachers who have experienced burnout and their transformational learning experiences because of burnout. This chapter summarized the various job-related factors that lead to teacher burnout, coping strategies employed by teachers as they handled their job demands and such strategies that mitigated the adverse effects of EE and DPZ, and the transformational learning experiences of teachers because of burnout. Due to the nature of this qualitative study, there were research questions formulated to guide my study (See Appendix B). This chapter provided a summary of this study, discussed the major findings along with related perspectives from the literature. This chapter also provided implications for action and recommendations for further research.

Summary of the Present Study

Teachers that become emotionally exhausted with high demanding job can lose a sense of their professional effectiveness and quality of care. In addition, when teachers become callous or insensitive (i.e., depersonalization) their students tend to suffer and teacher/student relationships deteriorate. Recognized as a job performance issue in the field of teaching, burnout has negatively affected the emotional and mental makeup of teachers at all grade levels; consequently causing them to develop negative attitudes, prolonged frustrations, periods of

indifference, and carelessness regarding their work (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2010). Some working conditions and job challenges may require teachers to undergo some psychological development to remain positive, strong, resilient, effective, and remain caring. The art of learning how to cope and employing meaningful methods/strategies to counteract the adverse conditions of burnout potentially enables a person to preserve the needed qualities and attributes for appropriate work performances and personal sustainability (Podsen, 2002). According to Bandura (1993), teachers need to believe in their self-efficacy as professionals to motivate students and establish measureable learning within the environments they create in classrooms. When teachers are unable or fail to manage the daily tasks, demands, and responsibilities of their profession, the results could be costly to their happiness and/or personal fulfillment (Seligman & Csikszentmihalyi, 2000).

In short, the findings in this study suggested that the burnout phenomenon negatively affected all the teachers with prevailing issues associated with EE and DPZ. According to the burnout themes that emerged from the data, all the teachers noted the external job-related factors (i.e., outside themselves) that stimulated such prevailing issues and exhausting frustrations. However, it is worth noting that no participant in this study accepted the makeup of their own particular kind of personality or mental incapacity that could have possibly contributed towards or played a role in their burnout experiences. The internal factors (i.e., personalities and/or mental incapacities) of the participants could have played a significant role in their burnout experience just as must as the external job-related factors. According to Lazarus and Folkman (1984), stress/burnout should not be perceived as the personal property of the person, neither is it the property belonging to that environment. Their work suggested that the stress/burnout issues arises when there is a close association between a particular kind of person and that particular

kind of environment; consequently, leading to a threat that becomes apparent upon the person's mental state.

The purpose of this study was to gain an understanding of the coping strategies employed by secondary teachers who have experienced burnout and their transformational learning experiences because of burnout. A study of this nature has produced limited exposure. To help satisfy the phenomenological research design applied in this study, the researcher employed the kind of inquiries in one-on-one interviews that produced some common themes that emerged from collected data. Despite the internal rewards and personal satisfactions experienced by teachers who help students succeed, the realities of burnout and its affects upon the job performance and well-being of these high school teachers in this study are evident.

The discussions that follow are in conjunction to the research questions guiding this study. In short, these questions examined: (a) factors leading to emotional exhaustion and depersonalization of teachers, (b) teachers' strategies for coping, and (c) teachers' transformational learning experience. Discussions include four distinct themes correlated to the effects of emotional exhaustion (EE) and depersonalization (DPZ) and three distinct themes associated with teachers' strategies or methods for coping.

Administration Issues

The researcher determined the teachers in this study who perceived their administrators as being unsupportive, uncaring, or seem somewhat disengaged from the practical needs of teachers were more likely to report feelings of internal frustration, weariness, and emotional exhaustion. All the participants reported that principals often did not fully support, or at times poorly supported, the school policies and rules intending to govern student behavior, support

teacher morale, and promote the proper atmosphere conducive for learning (e.g., excessive tardiness, cutting class, improper dress code, properly wearing student IDs). Additionally, perceived issues regarding principals' procedures in handling or mishandling disruptive students were prevailing negative factors among teachers. According to Vatcharasirisook (2011), the important role of relationship between supervisors and subordinates suggest that the insensitivities from administration or administrators towards their subordinates had significant negative effects (i.e., frustration and stress) on the employee.

Whitehead (2001) suggests that there is a distinct relationship regarding the lack of social support from supervisors and the burnout components of EE and DPZ affecting the adults supervisors serve within that environment. Other causes of frustration, poor morale, and burnout may arise from administrative neglect or lack of sensitivity from those occupying administrative roles in district or state offices. Additionally, known insensitivities from administration or administrators towards their subordinates have had significant negative effects (i.e., prolonged frustration and stress) on employee's intention to remain in the job (Vatcharasirisook, 2011). The concept of insensitivities from administrators and them displaying a lack of moral support is evident in the research of Sardiwalla et al., (2007). According to Sardiwalla et al. (2007), when workers perceived their administrators less caring or insensitivity regarding the well-being of employees, it affected their work-related enthusiasm and commitment levels. Having the priorities of administrators turned away from the needs and concerns of subordinates, attitudes of indifferences and mounting frustrations will affects employees' work performances.

Administrative Workload

Teachers in this study clearly expressed the mental strain, constant frustration, tiring efforts, and emotional exhaustion of handling daily duties and classroom expectations.

Additionally, teachers complained of mental exhaustion and physical weariness dealing with other tasks such as, but not limited to, hallway supervision, preparing engaging lesson plans, filing progress report every three weeks, informing parents and motivating their involvement, and adhering to administrative mandates for teachers to help students meet state required academic standards. Teachers who perceived their quality classroom instructional time minimized due to disruptions (e.g., school drills, announcements, issues in hallways, and assemblies), enforcing school policies, and other administrative expectations, reported feelings of emotional exhaustion and depersonalization. The researcher noted the negative effects upon teachers' attitudes and resiliency when they were required to multi-task with administrative procedures on a consistent basis while their daily work schedule did not permit the needed breaks (physically and mentally) between classes.

The research from Lueken, Lyter, and Fox (2004) suggested that among the teachers who left the profession, one of the five most commonly reported sources of dissatisfaction was a lack of planning time allocated for handling the varying measures of administrative work. Sardiwalla et al. (2007) suggested that EE and DPZ of teachers were associated with constantly handling school policies regarding discipline and tardiness. However, Philipp and Kunter (2013) suggest properly evaluating teachers' profile regarding their work can be very complex. There is no doubt that the art of classroom teaching, preparing lesson plans, curriculum writing, and correcting class work requires considerable amount of time given by teachers. However, classroom teaching and those other class-related responsibilities are not the only aspects of

teachers' highly demanding and complex job profile. Teachers perceiving other required tasks from an administrative nature are insignificant and can feel so frustrating and agonizing to complete when attention is required. This was the case for the participants in the study. This is similar to the research of Gunter et al. (2005). They found that on-going irritations and deep frustrations occur within teachers when there are constant interruptions from the demanding class-related tasks and daily teaching performances with handling general administrative/school reports and forms.

Negative Teacher/Student Relationships

An additional factor that contributed towards emotional exhaustion and depersonalization of teachers was in the area of the teacher/student relationships. Teachers candidly reported fluctuating measures of frustration, feelings of disrespect, verbal abuse, and emotional exhaustion in their daily efforts to manage their classrooms while forced to discipline disruptive behaviors of students in their classrooms (sometimes in hallways). Teachers that gave of themselves to meet daily objectives of their classes and yet became constantly distracted handling disrespectful students became very irritated and emotionally drained. Teachers, who perceived their students having negative attitudes about the learning process, not complying with class rules, and displaying negative behaviors affecting others, reported having daily frustrations and lower levels of tolerance. This resulted in developing toxic relationships with those students. It appears that the teachers encountered levels of detachment from students (i.e., lacking care, limiting their services to students).

The significance of establishing and maintaining a positive teacher/student relationship is an important characteristic within the learning process. When the job demands are perceived

overwhelming, teacher interactions with students may become taxing or toxic. Accordingly, teachers often feel drained intellectually and emotionally when they deal with students' misbehaviors (Chang & Davis, 2009). As was determined in this study, teachers had experienced a significant decline in their quality of professional care and educational performance toward students when experiencing emotional and mental exhaustion (Lumpkin, 2007; Montgomery & Rupp, 2005).

Hargreaves (1998) and O'Connor (2008) suggested that establishing and building positive teacher/student relationships are one of the core reasons for teachers staying in the profession for any length of time. There is a consensus among some researchers that the most common source of teacher burnout and the emotional overload of teaching stem from individual relationships with students (Chang, 2009; Split et al., 2011). Hargreaves (2000) found that good relationships with students were the most important source of enjoyment and motivation for teachers.

Endangering a developing positive teacher/student relationship exist when teachers perceive their fluctuating job challenges and ongoing demands as becoming overwhelming, frustrating, and stressful (Howard & Johnson, 2004). Negative relationships with students of classroom teachers are often associated with problems regarding classroom management (Wubbels, Brekelmans, den Brok, & van Tartwijk, 2006).

Lack of Student Effort

In order to teach well, the teachers in this study declared how important it was to encourage positive behaviors for classroom participation, motivate students to listen, and provide verbal communication that leads to learning. All teachers believed that effective teaching involves having a passion to help kids. To these participants, teaching involves a daily

determination to reach all students in their classrooms. Additionally, the participants highly regarded the required energy needed to motivate their students to stay on task while inspiring them towards academic achievement, and helping them to embrace positive attitudes about achieving. Teachers in this study declared how negatively affected they were because of the negative attitudes and expressions of indifferences/carelessness from students regarding required academic work and class participation. Teachers declared their frustrations about their students not taking ownership over their learning process.

Being tired physically and emotionally can have adverse effects on teachers and their classroom performance when they constantly deal with poor efforts, or the lack thereof, from their students (Hargreaves, 1998; Skvoholt & Trotter-Mathison, 2010). Other findings in the literature were consistent. Evers et al. (2004) suggested that poor attitudes of students toward schoolwork and their lack of motivation are consistent contributors of EE and DPZ.

Additionally, when passionate, idealistic, and dedicated teachers feel unable to educate and inspire their students because of their apathy and poor academic efforts in the classroom, this tends to contribute to further discipline problems from these students. Consequently, along with other known stressors, teachers are likely to burnout (Brouwers & Tomic, 2000).

Studies that focus on various stressors of teachers found that the most common stressor involved the classroom practice of working with poorly motivated students (Kyriacou, 2001). According to Bandura (1997), motivating students is an aspect associated with a teacher's perceived ability to perform his or her job and relates to the construct known as self-efficacy (i.e., one's belief or perceived capabilities to execute the required actions to affect an individual's behavior and motivation in achieving their goals). Burnout among teachers is associated with teachers' assessment of student classroom involvement and parent participation in the academic

process of their children. When students constantly fail to prioritize their academic achievement, it may decrease the actual or perceived demands of a teacher's job to educate or reach the students in their classrooms. Therefore, the higher ratings of parent involvement, classroom involvement of students, and academic emphasis of students would be associated with high levels of teacher efficacy and lower burnout (Pas, Bradshaw, & Hershfeldt, 2012).

However, as noted within this study, determining to discover, embrace, and maintain strategies for coping with emotional exhaustion and depersonalization may alleviate its negative effects and help preserve the quality performance teachers need for the classroom and other job-related tasks. Preventing negative outcomes, minimizing unproductive behaviors and unprofessional performances due to adverse effects of emotional exhaustion, and detached attitudes towards students can help teachers become more effective in the classroom. Thus, promote more responses that are positive from students (Zonlnierczyk-Zreda, 2005). The following discussions include the three distinct themes associated with teachers' strategies or methods for coping.

Coping with EE and DPZ

The coping strategies employed by all these teachers varied. Some strategies included incorporating leisure activities/hobbies, enjoying members of the family unit, spirituality, exercise, and enjoying other forms of interpersonal relationships (i.e., after school events, scheduled social gatherings) that reduced the burnout affects found within their workplace. This was very significant to this study. Despite the nagging symptoms of emotional exhaustion and depersonalization experienced by all these teachers throughout their teaching tenure, they apparently found stress reducing relationships among colleagues and other forms of activities that help preserve the quality work performance and positive attitudes required for their job.

Research suggests that teachers cannot change the school, principal's level of support, or the number of students in the classroom, but teachers are empowered to improve and practice effective coping strategies proven helpful for them (Richards, 2012).

Positive Interpersonal Relationships

Teachers who perceived their positive interactions with colleagues, mentorship programs, positive influence in the home (spouse and/or kids), and other forms of social interactions outside the work environment were beneficial towards mitigating EE and DPZ. All teachers in this study benefited emotionally and mentally as they formed other meaningful relationships with teachers, which enabled them to share concerns and receive motivation. Some teachers found effective benefits working with other students in different environments (school clubs, sports, school organizations).

According to Botwinik (2007), teachers need to make time for family and friends as a support system. This includes mentoring someone or having someone to mentor the teacher. Setting up a buddy system with other personnel in your grade level or subject area is beneficial. Having supportive family members that care when job-related issues or conditions became overwhelming are important. According to the literature, when adults dealt with burnout the most frequently mentioned coping strategy included talking with family and friends (Whitehead, 2001). Consequently, the factors believed to contribute to teacher burnout included the lack of social support from friends, colleagues, and administrators (Maslach et al. 2001). Teachers seeking out social and emotional support by turning to others outside the framework of their job have shown it benefits them while under stress (Mearns & Cain, 2002). Teachers have coped with the issues and adverse conditions of burnout with assistance from their colleagues through

supports groups and other collaborative interactions among staff members (Tatar, 2009). From an earlier study, Viswesvaran, Sanchez, and Fisher (1999) suggested that social support participation help reduced the work-related strains experienced, mitigated perceived stressors, and moderated the stressor-strain relationship.

Mental Efficiencies

The cognitive abilities and fortitude of these teachers and their willingness to become optimistic and alter their world-view were significant in them finding balance amid demanding work-related responsibilities. All teachers in this study realized the benefits of being strongminded, forgiving, and resilient. Among these teachers, this study suggests that the nature of coping from a mental point of view can produce strategies that can become effective. According to Sprenger (2011), internal coping may include concentrating on something narrow in the field of stimuli around the person or just seeking higher levels of focus. In short, to alter the perception of stress or burnout, teachers may invoke inward coping strategies. According to Kyriacou (2001), there are coping strategies that are physical in nature, such as activities or other engagements to reduce feelings of tension. Others strategies may be mental or internal, which involves teachers modifying how they appraise or perceive stressful situations. The mental objective or idea is to keep problems in a healthy or non-threatening perspective (e.g., keep one's feelings under control). Kyriacou goes on to say that in order to reduce negative emotions and its effects upon job performance, it can be helpful for teachers to change how they think about the stress-inducing responsibilities or stressors of teaching.

The mental aspects of coping could involve employing techniques such as, psychologically arranging issues in a better or more positive perspective such as looking at

things with a humorous point of view. Coping strategies, from a mental point of view, used to reduce the nature of burnout or stress may include, "positive self-talking, accepting and using a goal as focus, use of humor, and religious beliefs" (Sharplin et al., 2011, p. 140). Kyriacou (2011) suggested learning to keep problems in a healthy perspective are greatly beneficial to teacher's well-being.

Outside Resources

Teachers in this study not only benefited through strong relationships stemming from supportive family, colleagues, and friends, but also through other stress-reducing activities like daily exercise, hobbies, reading books, school club involvement, church programs, and walking. According to the literature, physical activities and other meaningful activity involvements help relieve stress (Richards, 2012). Teachers that incorporated meaningful hobbies and other activities outside the work environment, they reported fewer incidences of burnout. To deal with emotional exhaustion and depersonalization, Kyriacou (2001) found meaningful coping strategies that are productive in nature such as, making love, jogging, mediation, music, and writing poetry. Making time to execute various forms of exercise (aerobic, yoga) and engage in recreational sports will relieve stress.

Though important as the teacher/student relationships are for quality academic learning coupled with teachers attaining the cognitive abilities to conduct effective classroom management, the developmental process of these components can be challenging when teachers find themselves overwhelmed with other job-related responsibilities and tasks. In examining the coping strategies of these teachers who dealt with emotional exhaustion and depersonalization, the researcher's findings were consistent with previous studies. Burnout seems to progress in stages and evolves over a period. Teachers usually exhibit signs of emotional exhaustion (i.e.,

running out of emotional energy, experiencing a depletion of enthusiasm) when they feel that they can no longer give of themselves emotionally to students as they did earlier in their career (Haberman, 2004). The depersonalization of teachers will cause them to develop negative, cynical, and sometimes callous attitudes toward students, parents, and/or colleagues.

It was evident that the efforts of teachers to preserve on-going quality services to their clients (i.e., students, colleagues, administration, parents) hinged upon them discovering and incorporating meaningful strategies to cope and minimize negative or unproductive behaviors because of burnout. The findings from the study supported the literature. Emotional exhaustion is the core element of burnout and the most obvious manifestation of this complex syndrome (Maslach et al., 2001). Researchers (Maslach, 2003; McCarthy, Lambert, O'Donnell & Melendres, 2009; Tomic & Tomic, 2000) examining the stages of burnout found that a majority of teachers have first experienced some type of symptoms of work-related emotional exhaustion or depleted enthusiasm. Such initial conditions were prevalent among teachers in this study.

Because of the gradual development of emotional exhaustion, depersonalization was the second stage affecting the job performances of these teachers. In turn, conflicting issues associated with feelings of indifferences and prevailing attitudes of callousness became more noticeable in the teacher/student relationship (i.e., depersonalization). As the researcher noted this significant progression in the stages of burnout among these teachers, the literature suggests the same. Depersonalization is the second stage of burnout. Individuals start to ignore and pull away from the people who are in need of their service (Maslach et al., 2001). Thus, teachers may have a detached or disconnected attitude towards students. Nevertheless, the effectiveness of coping with emotional exhaustion and depersonalization has its rewards. As the findings in this study suggests, teachers can learn to eventually feel a sense of well-being, self-control,

peace, and not suffer under the burden of excessive strain, relationship demands, and work pressures (Holmes, 2005).

Transformational Learning

Self-efficacy of teachers is how they feel and perceive themselves in their abilities to succeed in motivating, instructing, managing, caring, and guiding students within the learning process (Ware & Kitsantas, 2007). According to Bandura (1977, 1993), teachers that believe in their self-efficacy to motivate students and establish measureable standards of learning will determine the kinds of environments they create in classrooms; and the academic progress their students achieve. Nevertheless, emotional exhaustion and depersonalization can be toxic conditions negatively affecting the souls of caring adults who are service-providers. Both of these conflicting conditions can affect the levels of self-efficacy and teachers have reported low perceptions of self-efficacy (Betoret, 2006). However, teachers in general want to resolve the problem or problems of their declining self-efficacy created by times of personal failures, workrelated stress, and adverse conditions of EE and DPZ. The vocational field of teaching is not exclusive or isolated from the taxing issues, careless attitudes of clients that teachers serve, nor the demanding and daunting tasks that require stamina each day. Consequently, while such conditions exist in the field of education, teachers can become somewhat challenged in their growth as caring and productive professionals.

Oftentimes, discovering the need to change one's world-view or make psychological adjustments happen, because of emotionally daunting events frequently occurring or psychologically overwhelming work experiences/demands encountered by adults (Baumgartner, 2001; Elsey & Henschke, 2011; Mezirow & Taylor, 2009). When adults are emotionally

overwhelmed with taxing conditions or when constantly facing demanding situations within their job or within their personal lives, such situations may trigger the need to undergo some form of transformational learning.

When mentally and/or emotionally overwhelmed by work-related circumstances, both Adams (2003) and Mezirow (1991, 1995) defined these occurrences as a disorienting dilemma or personal crisis encountered by adults. Thus, requiring adults to establish a new psychological perspective through a process of transformational learning, which in turn helps establish a lasting change of behavior through forms of coping (Baumgartner, 2001). Adults that are able to gain new perspectives about their demanding work life or personal challenges are important components in the transformational learning process.

In this study, the makeup of teachers' self-efficacy comprises the overall reactions, state of mind, mental abilities, and attitudes regarding the quality performances provided for their job. The burnout syndrome (i.e., EE and DPZ) previously affecting these teachers became a disorienting dilemma and negatively affected their performances and self-efficacy. Over a period, teachers experienced many defining episodes and failures within their work environment that contributed towards their disorienting dilemma (i.e., personal crisis) and caused adverse effects upon their mental well-being. Episodes associated with work-related stress, emotional struggles handling the daily demands/tasks of the classrooms, dealing with toxic teacher/student relationships, perceived lack of care or support from principals, and struggling with prevailing challenges rendered teachers emotionally exhausted and callous. Additionally, their disorienting dilemma somewhat diminished the teachers' classroom creativeness and caused negligence in discharging some job responsibilities. However, there was a desire to change or renew their

mental perspective. Teachers believed that gaining a healthier or new perspective about their job was important when their care for students had change negatively.

Learning new perspectives, due to the consequences of a demanding work environment, may play a major role in preserving one's well-being. Thus, becoming better equipped to foster or maintain healthy relationships with others. Learning new perspectives can be associated with a psychological transformation. According to Baumgartner (2001), the transformational learning process that adults may undergo involves self-questioning, critical reflections, and the need to engage in rational discussions and communications with others to gain a sense of "consensual validation" (p. 17). New perspectives about one's worldview may provide the incentives to explore different behaviors or a different approach regarding present issues.

Part of this psychological transformation would first require participants to engage in making critical reflections of their prior experiences; reevaluate perceived assumptions about their job and themselves, make mental notes of prevailing attitudes, and their emotional reactions to the known stressor or stressors affecting their well-being. All teachers in this study were open to analyze or review their previous unprofessional demeanors. Teachers reflected upon their acts of carelessness, perceived assumptions, and negative dispositions because of burnout. Personal issues stemming from EE and DPZ deteriorated their zeal for the teaching profession. Teachers in this study dealt with the emotional labor of classroom management, daily confronting and handling unruly/disruptive students, and became constantly frustrated with the carelessness, inconsistencies, and unresolved issues from administration. Such prevailing issues appeared to outweigh the rewarding things experienced by teachers.

As a result, the teachers' emotional and mental state had weakened and their enthusiasms suffered lost. In the process of reflecting critically about their job-related experiences was important. After creating meaningful perspectives about being professionals while examining their deep feelings about their work, the need to become effective, caring, and productive would require meaningful strategies that would offset the stressors of the job. Adults that are able to make meaningful perspectives about their mental health-related behaviors would become the framework for establishing alternative behaviors to offset EE and DPZ (Taylor, 1998). For the teachers in this study, establishing forms of coping strategies, or engaging activities and hobbies psychological benefited them as they proceed in job-related responsibilities and other demands set before them. Transformational learning suggests that adults can psychologically change their specific beliefs, attitudes, and emotional reactions due to a personal crisis or difficult event they encountered. When teachers were willing to address their disposition and analyzing their problems and assumptions, the potential of transformational learning occurs. This form of learning can lead to adopting new behaviors, investing into alternative forms of healthy interactions, or forming other coping activities to help establish a new disposition. Disorienting dilemmas, because of the burnout phenomenon, can give way for effective learning of a psychological nature. Teachers, as with other adults, can learn to adapt within the stressors of their job. Transformational learning can lead to attitude change, personal growth, and ultimately succeed in adapting coping strategies that will allow teachers to remain as productive educators for the students they serve (Dana, 2007).

Implication for Actions

Preventing negative outcomes and minimizing unproductive behaviors and performance due to adverse effects of emotional exhaustion and detached attitudes towards students (i.e., depersonalization) can help teachers become more effective in the classroom and thus promote more responses that are positive from students (Hammond & Onikama, 1996; Maslach, 2003; Zonlnierczyk-Zreda, 2005). The benefits of relieving teacher burnout by learning and employing strategies for coping, before negative consequences or poor job performance start, would be of immense value to all student-teacher programs, novice teachers in the field, tenured teachers, school administrators and district officials, educational policy-makers, educational specialists, and all educational institutions that serve students (Yavuz, 2009). However, the cause of stress, along with burnout, is most likely through environmental factors, which can have profound outcomes on the attitudes and capabilities of teachers; and their willingness to remain active in the helping professions in general and education in particular (Dennis, 2008). One of the many goals of conducting researcher studies is to provide results that are beneficial to others. The findings of this present study have significant implications in the field of teaching and adult education.

Administrators/Principals and Policy-Makers

Using this information may help create some needed understanding of the relationship between high school teacher burnout and constant change or revising of school policies regarding discipline and organizational factors related to burnout (i.e., lack of affective interventions and faculty support systems). Both school/district personnel and teachers can begin to arrange procedures in working together to find solutions that may benefit all involved. Such procedures in working together may involve consulting teachers on matters of curriculum writings, discipline procedures, and instructional planning. These efforts may help resolve or minimize administration issues (AI).

This information could help understand that need for quality mentoring programs and strategic professional development activities with teachers and with their administration/counselors that could promote interactive networking and meaningful collaborations. Such collaborations may help teacher formulate proper techniques in managing the negative relationships with students (NT/SR). These efforts could directly effect on teachers' feelings of emotional exhaustion and depersonalization. Principals should foster feelings of collaboration and a supportive work environment in order to increase their sensitivities towards teachers despite their leadership style and personality. Additionally, principals can also pursue the kinds of interventions that could increase the rate of growth in teacher efficacy while decreasing the rate administrative issues (AI), such as promoting or suggesting activities that support the formation of strong interpersonal relationships and other forms of collegial support.

School Districts Officials

The professional teacher is required to become an esteemed role model, conveying the attributes and mind-sets students need to be successful for their future careers and lives.

Professional development workshops or similar initiatives (supported by district-level officials) may help professional teachers develop the kinds of self-regulatory or self-controlling strategies and cognitive techniques, which can be critical for stress management. School district officials could implement strategies to support or build teacher morale. Instructing teachers in how to perform more effectively in delivering their academic content should not overshadow the need of helping teachers to preserve their quality of care.

Teacher Education Programs

For teachers preparing for the field, teacher education programs should foster collaborative efforts involving educational policy-makers, school administration, and presently employed teachers from all grade levels in pursuing initiatives/training programs that would assist teacher education programs in developing emotional regulations skills (i.e., skills for coping) for those adults advancing towards field that they then might use when addressing the various stressors of their work environments. Such initiatives and/or training programs might also assist those teachers presently in the field effective particular strategies needed to recover from stress-induced environments of their job. The benefits of relieving teacher burnout by learning and employing strategies for coping, before negative consequences or poor job performance start, would be of immense value to all student-teacher programs.

Teachers

The information in this study suggest that teachers should strive pursue and establish positive interpersonal relationships among staff members to help reduce the effects of the various stressors within the work environment, along with the negative issues that may emerge within the teacher/student relationship. Teachers may focus on improving their skills regarding the management of student behavior. Carrying out this function of their work may require peer support, administrative input, parental support, or special training from professional development.

Invite community stakeholders, corporate officials from the labor market, successful alumni, and volunteers from parent/teachers organizations to the classrooms to help students identify the characteristics and work habits for success, understand the importance of conflict

resolution, and inspire students to become good citizens and hard workers within the classroom setting. These efforts from stakeholders could minimize the issues of students lacking efforts in their academic duties (LSE).

Adult Educators and Supervisors of Adult Education/Training Programs

Serving or supporting the transformational learning endeavors affecting adults are part of adult learning (Merriam et al., 2007, Mezirow, 1995, Taylor et al., 2000). Educational strategies and/or programs can help stimulate consciousness-raising opportunities to influence changes within the perceptions of adults who have encountered disorienting dilemmas or crisis. Adult educators and education programs can provide services, initiatives, and/or professional development targeting corporate settings (i.e., educational institutions). Such services/programs should strategically focus on tailored workshops, seminars, short-term courses, or retreats implemented for the following purposes:

- 1. To encourage or help stimulate on-going psychological growth and development (i.e., coping mechanisms) of professional teachers.
- 2. Help educators learn productive strategies that will position them to respond appropriately to the issues and challenges that can emerge within the job environment (e.g., stress, handling workloads, toxic/frustrating relationships, multi-tasking).
- 3. Provide learning opportunities to help adult learners as professionals (i.e., teachers, district-level personnel, and support staff) to positively deal with diversity, hostility, stress management, and insensitivities that may exist within their work environment.
- 4. Researchers in adult education may use this information in an effort to discover how professional development programs in the field of teaching could assist novice teachers

in their transformation throughout their teaching career; while dealing with the various demands encountered. Adult education researchers could investigate the work-related factors that may motivate or deter adults, as adult learners, to continue learning throughout their teaching vocation.

Recommendations for Future Study

The followings are suggestions for future research based on the findings of the current study. Further research is required regarding the effects of burnout and its relationship with: teachers' daily workload, ethnicity of teachers, teachers enforcing school rules, and overly populated classrooms of a teacher's daily class schedule. When considering the conditions of EE and DPZ and its effects upon gender or marital status, there was no collected data. However, according to Caglar and Caglar (2011), single teachers' level of emotional burnout could be somewhat higher than that of married ones. The idea of the unique social support (i.e., positive home life) to married individuals may have positives results in dealing with job burnout. As the age of teachers rise, the potential of increasing levels of confidence in students and professional abilities also may rise. Additional recommendations include:

- Replicating the study with more than one high school from different areas of the region (rural and urban), with contrasting demographics in the student populations and teaching staff.
- 2. Conducting studies in schools which have mentoring programs.
- Exploring the effects of burnout among black teachers in urban settings and white teachers in rural settings.

4. Exploring the effects of burnout among teachers at the elementary and middle school levels.

Conclusions

The purpose of this study was to gain an understanding of the coping strategies employed by secondary teachers who have experienced burnout and their transformational learning experiences because of burnout. Because of conducting this study, one may conclude the following about the high school teachers who responded to this study. Because of the demanding nature within the field of teaching, the inability to handle stress and the adverse conditions of burnout affecting teachers can significantly alter the quality of classroom performance and class management required for student achievement.

- The emotional and mental investments are needed characteristics in motivation student learning. Consequently, the well-being good teachers may be at risk along with the stamina needed to support their clients (i.e., students, parents, colleagues) if stress is not controlled. Becoming a competent, self-controlled, and committed teacher requires on-going psychological development.
- 2. For the respondents in this study, the teacher/student is most important for effective student achievement. Teachers have to learn to develop and preserve/protect their passion to motivate students while also fulfilling other expected job responsibilities. Mentally strong teachers with caring attitudes are distinguishing features that are learned behaviors. Seeing the value in other interpersonal relationships, having supportive and instructional mentors, and adopting measures of stress-reducing activities are essential for the well-being

References

- Abaci, R. (1995, January-March). Coping with teacher stress. *The Fountain*, 9.

 Retrieved from http://www.fountainmagazine.com/article.php?ARTICLEID=531
- Adams, R. (2003). *Social work and empowerment* (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Aguayo, R., Vargas, C., Fuente, E. I., & Lazano, L.M. (2011). A meta-analytic reliability generalization study of the maslach burnout inventory. *International Journal of Clinical and Health Psychology*, 11(2), 343-361. Retrieved from http://www.aepc.es/ijchp/articulos_pdf/ijchp-383.pdf
- Alliance for Excellent Education. (2005, August). *Teacher attrition: A costly loss to the nation and to the states*. Retrieved from http://www.all4ed.org/files/archive/publications/TeacherAttrition.pdf
- Alliance for Excellent Education. (2008, February). What keeps good teachers in the classroom?

 understanding and reducing teacher turnover. Retrieved from

 http://www.all4ed.org/files/TeachTurn.pdf
- Altenbaugh, J.A., Engel, D.E., & Martin, D.T. (1995). *Caring for kids: A critical study of urban school leavers*. London, Washington, DC: The Falmer Press, Taylor & Francis Inc.
- Ames, M.M., Kilpatrick, A.O., Zoller, J., Sistino, J.J., Blackwell, M., & Acsell, J. (2004). A national study of job satisfaction and burnout among perfusionists. *Journal of Extracorporeal Technology*, 36(1), 44-50
- Anderman, L.H., & Anderman, E.M. (1999). Social predictors of changes in students' achievement goal orientations. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 24(10), 21-37.
- Anderson, M.B.G., & Iwanicki, E.F. (1981). The burnout syndrome and its relationship to

- *teacher motivation*. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Los Angeles.
- Anderson, M.B.G., & Iwanicki, E.F. (1984). Teacher motivation and its relationship to burnout. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 20, 109-132.
- Ashe, B., Taylor, M., & Dubouloz, C.J. (2005). The process of change: Listening to transformation in meaning perspective of adults in arthritis health education groups.

 Canadian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 72(5), 281-288. Retrieved from

 http://www.caot.ca/CJOT_pdfs/CJOT72/Ashe72(5)280_288.pdf
- Ashton, P. & Webb, R. (1986). Making a difference: Teacher's sense of efficacy and student achievement. White Plains, NY: Longman, Inc.
- Aslanian, C.B. & Brickell, H.M. (1980). American in transition: Life changes as reasons for adult learning. New York, NY: College Entrance Examination Board.
- Awa, W.L., Plaumann, M., & Walter, U. (2010, February). Burnout prevention: A review of intervention programs. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 78(2), 184-190.
- Baker, J.A. (2006). Contributions of teacher-child relationships to positive adjustment during elementary school. *Journal of School Psychology*, 44, 211-229.
- Baker, P.H. (2005, Summer). Managing student behavior: How ready are teachers to meet the challenge? *American Secondary Education*, *33*(3), 51-64.
- Bakker, A.B., & Schaufeli, W.B. (2000). Burnout contagion process among teachers. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 30(11), 2289-2308.
- Ballantine, J.H., & Spade, J.Z. (2008). Schools and society: A sociological approach to education. (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publication, Inc.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change.

- Psychological Review, 84, 191-215.
- Bandura, A. (1993). Perceived self-efficacy in cognitive development and functioning. *Educational Psychologist*, 28(2), 117-148.
- Banks, J.A., & Banks, C.A.M. (Eds.). (1997). *Multicultural education* (3rd ed.). Needham Heights, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Bates, A.W. (2005). *Technology, e-learning and distance education*. (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Bauer, J., Stamm, A., Virnich, K., Wissing, K., Mueller, U., & Wirsching, M. (2006).

 Correlation between burnout syndrome and psychological and psychosomatic among teachers. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 79,199-204.

 Retrieved from http://www.abainternational.org/ABA/newsletter/vol313/Biglan.asp
- Bauman, G.L., Bustillos, L.T., Bensimon, E.M., Brown, M.C., & Bartee, R.D. (2005). *Achieving equitable educational outcomes with all students*. Paper presented by the Association of American Colleges and Universities. Retrieved from http://www.aacu.org/inclusive_excellence/documents/bauman_et_al.pdf
- Baumgartner, L.M. (2001, Spring). *An update on transformational learning*. In S.B. Merriam (ed.). New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education, 89. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Beckstead, J.W. (2002). Confirmatory factor analysis of the maslach burnout inventory among florida nurses. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *39*, 785-792.
- Behnke, E.A. (2011). Hursserl's phenomenology of embodiment. *Internet Encyclopedia of Philosophy. A Peer-Review Academic Resource*. Retrieved from http://www.iep.utm.edu/husspemb/

- Benner, A.D. (2000). The cost of teacher turnover. Austin, Texas: Texas Center for Educational Research. Retrieved from http://www.sbec.state.tx.us/SBEC/Online/trunoverrpt.pdf
- Bennett, K.P., & LeCompte, M.D. (1990). *The way schools work: A sociological analysis of education*. New York: Longman.
- Bernstein, R. (2009, Spring). Self-taught: African american education in slavery and freedom.

 *Southern Cultures, 15(1), p. 87-99. Retrieved from

 http://harvard.academia.edu/RobinBernstein/Papers/408233/SelfTaught_African_

 American_Education_In_Slavery_and_Freedom_Review_
- Berry, B., Smylie, M., & Fuller, E. (2008, November). Understanding teacher working conditions: A review and look to the future. *Center For Teaching Quality*, 1-48.

 Retrieved from http://www.teachingquality.org/pdfs/TWC2_Nov08.pdf
- Betoret, F.D. (2006, August). Stressors, self-efficacy, coping resources, and burnout among Secondary school teachers in spain. *Educational Psychology*, 26(4), 519-539.
- Biddle, B.J., Good, T.L, & Goodson, I. (1997). *International handbook of teachers and teaching,* volume 1. Norwell, MA.: Kluwer Acdemic Publishers.
- Biglan, A. (2008). Teacher stress and collegiality: Overlooked factors in the effort to promote evidence-based practices. *Association for Behavior Analysis in Education*, 31(3).

 Retrieved from http://www.abainternational.org/ABA/newsletter/vol313/Biglan.asp
- Birch, S.H., & Ladd, G.W. (1997). The teacher-child relationship and children's early school adjustment. *Journal of School Psychology*, *35*, 61-79.
- Black, S. (2003). Stressed out in the classroom. American School Board Journal, 190,36-38.
- Blase, J.J. (1982). A social-psychological grounded theory of teacher stress and burnout. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 18, 93-113.

- Blando, J. (2010). Counseling older adults. New York: Taylor & Francis.
- Bloch, A.M. (1976). The battered teacher. *Today's Education*, 66, 58-62.
- Blomberg, K., & Sahlberg-Blom, E. (2007, February). Closeness and distance: A way of handling difficult situations in daily care. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 16(2), 244-254.
- Boers, D. (2007). *History of American education*. New York: Peter Lang Publishing, Inc.

 Retrieved from

 http://books.google.com/books?id=0597lsf3SIUC&printsec=frontcover&source=gbs

 gesummary r&cad=0#v=onepage&q&f=false
- Borg, M.G., & Riding, R.J. (1991). Stress in teaching: A study of occupational stress and its determinants, job satisfaction and career commitment among primary school teachers. *Educational Psychology, 11*, 59-76.
- Bowman, R.F. (2004, May/June). Teachers as leaders. Clearing House, 77(5), 1-4.
- Bowman, R.F. (2007, January). How can students be motivated: A misplaced question?

 Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas, 81(2), 81-86.
- Boyle, G., Borg, M., Falzon, J., & Baglioni, A. (1995). A structural model of the dimensions of teacher stress. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 65, 49-67. Retrieved from http://findarticles.com/p/articles/mi_m0FCG/is_4_26/ai_62980775/pg_11/?tag=content;c ol1
- Bransgrove, E. (1994). A decade of teacher stress: The changing nature of the determinants of teacher stress, 1981 to 1991. *South Pacific Journal of Teacher Education*, 22, 39-52.

 Retrieved from
 - http://www.newcastle.edu.au/Resources/Research%20Centres/SORTI/Journals/AJEDP/V ol%203/v3-dorman.pdf

- Brewster, C., & Railsback, J. (2001, May). Supporting beginning teachers: How administrators, teachers, and policymakers can help new teachers succeed. Northwest Regional Educational Lab. Office of Educational Research and Improvement. Washington, DC. Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov/PDFS/ED455619.pdf
- Brissie, J.S., Hoover-Dempsey, K.V., & Bassler, O.C. (1988). Individual, situations contributors to teacher burnout. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 82, 106-112.

 Retrieved from

 http://www.habermanfoundation.org/Articles/PDF/Teacher%20Burnout%20in%20Black%20and%20White.p
- Brock, B. & Grady, M. (2000). *Rekindling the flame: Principles combating teacher burnout*.

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press, Inc.
- Brophy, J. (2003). The teaching problem students. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Brophy, J., & Good, T. (1986). Teacher behavior and student achievement. In M. Wittrock (Ed.), Handbook of research on teaching (pp. 328-375). New York: Macmillan.
- Brouwers, A., Evers, W.J.G., & Tomic, W. (2001). Self-efficacy in eliciting social support and burnout among secondary-school teachers. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *31*, 1474-1491.
- Browers, A., & Tomic, W. (1999). Teacher burnout, perceived self-efficacy in classroom management, and student disruptive behavior in secondary education. *Curriculum and Teaching, 14*(2), 7-26. Retrieved from http://dspace.ou.nl/bitstream/1820/1216/1/TEACHER%20BURNOUT,%20PERCEIVED %20SELFEFFICACY%20IN%20CLASSROOM%20MANAGEMENT,%20AND%20S TUDENT%20DISRUPTIVE%20BEHAVIOR%20IN%20SECONDARY%20EDUCATI

ON.pdf

- Browers, A., & Tomic, W. (2000). A longitudinal study of teacher burnout and perceived self efficacy in classroom management. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 16, 239-253.

 Retrieved from http://vnweb.hwwilsonweb.com.ezproxy.umsl.edu/hww/results/external_link_mainconte ntframe.jhtml?_DARGS=/hww/results/results_common.jhtml.44
- Brown, S. & Nagle, L. (2004, Spring). Preparing future teachers to respond to stress: Sources and solutions. *Action in Teacher Education*, 26(1), 34-42.
- Brown, Z.A., & Uehara, D.L. (1999). A research synthesis for pacific educators. Pacific Resources for Education and Learning, U.S. Department of Education, Office of Educational Research and Improvement. Honolulu, HI., Washington, DC: Educational Resources Information Center. Retrieved from http://openlibrary.org/books/OL18338184M/Coping_with_teacher_stress
- Bui, J., Hodge, A., Shackelford, A., & Acsell, J. (2011). Factors contributing to burnout among perfusionists in the united states. Paper presented at the 32nd Annual Seminar of the American Academy of Cardiovascular Perfusion, Reno, Nevada. *Perfusion*, 26(6), 461-466. doi:10.1177/0267659111411521
- Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2006). *Tomorrow's jobs. Bureau of Labor Statistics*.

 U.S. Department of Labor, Occupational Outlook Handbook, 2008-09 Edition,

 Teachers—Preschool, Kindergarten, Elementary, Middle, and Secondary.

 Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov/oco/ocos069.htm
- Burke, R.J., & Greenglass, E.R., & Schwarzeer, R. (1996). Predicting burnout over time: Effects of work stress, social support, self-doubts on burnout and its consequences. *Anxiety*,

- *Stress and Coping, 9, 261-275.*
- Byrne, B.M. (1991). Burnout: Investigating the impact of background variables for elementary, intermediate, secondary, and university educators. *Teaching & Teacher Education*, 7(2), 197-209. Great Britain: Pergamon Press.
- Byrne, B.M. (1992, April). *Investigating causal links to burnout for elementary, intermediate,* and secondary teachers. Paper presented at the meeting of the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, San Francisco, CA. Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov/PDFS/ED344886.pdf
- Byrne, B.M. (1994, Fall). Burnout: Testing for the validity, replication, and invariance of causal structure across elementary, intermediate, and secondary teachers. *American Educational Research Journal*, 31(3), 645-673.
- Caglar, C. & Caglar, C. (2011). An examination of teacher's occupational burnout levels in terms of organizational confidence and some other variables. *Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice*, 11(4), 1841-1847.
- Cammarota, J., & Fine, M. (Eds.). (2008). Revolutionizing education: Youth participatory action research in motion. New York: Taylor & Francis Group. Retrieved from http://ecoed.wikispaces.com/file/view/Revolutionizing_Education_Youth_Participatory_Action_Research_Critical_Youth_Studies_.pdf
- Carbonneau, N., Vallerand, R.J., Fernet, C., & Guay, F. (2008). The role of passion for teaching in intrapersonal and interpersonal outcomes. *Journal of Educational Psychological*, 100(4), 977-987.
- Carlyle, D., & Woods, P. (2003). Emotions of teacher stress. Oakhill, VA: Westview House.
- Carmines, E.G., & Zeller, R.A. (1979). Reliability and validity assessment. Thousand Oaks, CA:

- SAGE Publications.
- Carr, J., Kelly, B., Keaton, R., & Albrecht, C. (2011). Getting to grips with stress in the workplace: Strategies for promoting a healthier, more productive environment. *Human Resource Management International Digest*, 19(4), 32-38.
- Cedoline, A.J. (1982). *Job burnout in public education: Symptoms, causes, and survival skills*.

 New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Chaplin, R.P. (2008). Stress and psychological distress among trainee secondary teachers in England. *Educational Psychology*, 28, 195-209.
- Chall, J.S. (2000). The academic achievement challenge. New York, NY: Guilford Press
- Chambliss, J.J. (Ed.). (1996). *Philosophy of education: An encyclopedia*. New York: Taylor & Francis Group-Routledge.
- Chan, D.W. (1998). Stress, coping strategies and psychological distress among secondary school teachers in Hong Kong. *American Educational Research Journal*, *35*, 145-163.
- Chang, M.L. (2009). An appraisal perspective of teacher burnout: Examining the emotional work of teachers. *Educational Psychology Review*, 1-26.
- Chang, M.L., & Davis, H.A. (2009). Understanding the role of teacher appraisals in shaping the dynamics of their relationships with students: Deconstructing teachers' judgment of disruptive behavior/students. In P. A. Schutz & M. Zembylas (Eds.), *Advances in teach emotions research*. New York: Springer
- Cherniss, C. (1995). Beyond burnout: Helping teachers, nurses, therapists, & lawyers recover from stress & disillusionment. Routledge, NY.
- Chopra, S., Sotile, W., & Sotile, M. (2004). Physician burnout. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 291, 633.

- Clark, M.C. (1993). Transformational learning. In S. B. Merriam (Ed.), *An update on learning Theory*, 15. New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education, No. 57. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Clunies-Ross, P., Little, E., & Kienhuis, M. (2008). Self-reported and actual use of proactive and reactive classroom management strategies and their relationship with teacher stress and student behavior. *Educational Psychology*, 28(6), 693-710. Retrieved from http://inschoolsuccess.org/teachers/Journal%20Article,%20Proactive%20and%20Reactive%20Classroom%20Management%20Strategies.pdf
- Coates, T.J., & Thoresen, C.E. (1976). Teacher anxiety: A review with recommendations.

 *Review of Educational Research, 46(2), 159-184. Retrieved from http://www.habermanfoundation.org/Articles/PDF/Teacher%20Burnout%20in%20Black%20and%20White.pdf
- Cockburn, A.D. (2005). Teaching under pressure. Bristol, PA: Taylor & Francis Inc.
- Cooper, C.L., & Marshall, J. (1976). Occupational sources of stress: A review of the literature relating to coronary heart disease and mental ill health. *Journal of Occupational*
- Cohen, R.M., & Scheer, S. (1997). The work of teachers in america: A social history through stories. Mahwah, NJ: Lawerence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.

 *Psychology, 49, 11-28.
- Cohen, S., & McKay, G. (1984). *Social support, stress, and the buffering hypothesis: A theoretical analysis*. In A. Baum, J. E. Singer, & S. E. Taylor (Eds.). Handbook of Psychology and Health, Vol. 4. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum. Retrieved from http://www.psy.cmu.edu/~scohen/buffer84.pdf
- Colangelo, T.M. (2004). Teacher stress and burnout and the role of physical activity and parent

- *involvement.* (*Unpublished master's thesis*). Central Connecticut State University, New Britain, Connecticut. Retrieved from http://penelopemoon.co.uk/pdf/Thesis1753.pdf
- Corey, G. (1996). *Theory and practice of counseling and psychotherapy*. California:

 Brooks/Cole. Retrieved from

 http://smhp.psych.ucla.edu/qf/burnout_qt/what_is_burnout.pdf
- Cosgrove, J. (2000). *Breakdown: The facts about stress in teaching*. New York, NY: Routledge Falmer.
- Coulson, A.J. (1999). *Market education: The unknown history*. New Brunswick: Transaction Publishers.
- Crandall, R., & Perrewe', P.L. (Eds.) (1994). *Occupational stress: A handbook*. Washington, DC: Taylor & Francis
- Cranton, P. (2006). *Understanding and promoting transformative learning: A guide for educators of adults* (2nd ed.). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Creswell, J.W. (2013). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Creswell, J.W. (1998). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five traditions.

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Creswell, J.W. & Plano Clark, V.L. (2011). *Designing and conducting mixed methods research* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Croom, D.B. (2003). Teacher burnout in agricultural education. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, *44*(2), 1-13. Retrieved from http://aaae.okstate.edu/proceedings/2002/NAERC/Teacher%20Burnout-Croom.pdf
- Crosswell, L., & Elliott, B. (2004). Committed teachers, passionate teachers: The dimension of

- passion associated with teacher commitment and engagement. *Australian Association for Research in Education*. Retrieved from http://www.aare.edu.au/04pap/cro04237.pdf
- Crouch, M. & McKenzie, H. (2006). The logic of small samples in interview-based qualitative research. *Social Science Information*, *45*(4), 483-499.
- Crow, L.D., & Crow, A.V. (1963). Reading in human learning. New York, NY: D. McKay Co.
- Cunningham, W.G. (1982). Teacher burnout: Stylish fad or profound problem. *Planning and Changing*, 12, 219-244.
- Cunningham, W.G. (1983). Teacher burnout—solutions for the 1980's: A review of the literature. *The Urban Review*, 15, 37-51.
- Curtaz, D.M. (2009). Perceived causes of stress and burnout as reported by elementary teachers at an urban school. (Unpublished master's thesis). California State University, Sacramento, CA. Retrieved from http://csus-dspace.calstate.edu/xmlui/bitstream/handle/10211.9/174/Diana%20Curtaz-%20Thesis%202009.pdf?sequence=1
- Dana, A.J. (2007). Application of Mezirow's transformational learning theory in a multiple case study of first year elementary school teachers. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation).

 University of Idaho, United States
- Danielson, C. (2007). *Enhancing professional practice: A framework for teachers* (2nd ed.). Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Darling-Hammond, C. (2000, January). Teacher quality and student achievement. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 8(1). Retrieved from http://epaa.asu.edu/epaa/v8n1/
- Davenport, S., Delgado, A., Meisels, M., & Moore, D.R. (1998, November). *Educating our children effectively*. Paper presented at the meeting of the Rethinking Retention to Help

- All Students Succeed Conference, Chicago, Illinois. Retrieved from http://www.designsforchange.org/pdfs/rethink.pdf
- Day, C. (1999). Developing teachers: The challenges of lifelong learning. New, NY: Taylor & Francis, Inc.
- Day, C. (2000). The life and work of teachers: International perspectives in changing times.

 New Fetter Lane, London: Falmer Press.
- Delors, J. (1996). Learning: The treasure within. France: UNESCO Publishing.
- Dennis, M.M. (2008). The relationship between teacher personality type and burnout in rural middle school teachers. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Georgia Southern University, Statesboro, GA. Retrieved from, http://www.georgiasouthern.edu/etd/archive/spring2008/melinda_m_dennis/Dennis_Melinda_M_200808_edd.pdf
- Denzin, N.K. & Lincoln, Y.S. (Eds.) (2011). Handbook of qualitative research (4th ed.).
- Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications
- Department of Education & Training. (2005). *Professional learning in effective schools: The*seven principles of highly effective professional learning. Melborne: Office of School

 Education. Retrieved from

 http://www.eduweb.vic.gov.au/edulibrary/public/teachlearn/teacher/Proflearningineffectiveschools.pdf
- DeRobbio, R.A., & Iwanicki, E. (1996, April). Factors accounting for burnout among secondary school teachers. Paper presented at the annual conference of the American Educational Research Association, New York, NY.
- Dewey, J. (1990). The school and society and the child and the curriculum. Chicago and

- London: The University of Chicago Press.
- Dirkx, J.M. (1998). Transformative learning theory in the practice of adult education: An overview. *PAACE Journal of Lifelong learning*, 7, 1-14. Retrieved from http://www.iup.edu/assets/0/347/349/4951/4977/10251/AF0EAB12-C2CE-4D2C-B1A0-59B795415437.pdf
- Doll, B., Zucker, S., & Brehm, K. (2004). *Resilient classrooms: Creating healthy environments for learning*. New York, NY: The Guliford Press.
- Dollard, M., Winefield, A.H., & Winefield, H.R. (2003). *Occupational stress in the service professions*. New York, NY: Taylor & Francis.
- Dorman, J. (2003). Testing a model for teacher burnout. *Australian Journal of Educational & Developmental Psychology, 3*, 35-47. Retrieved from http://www.newcastle.edu.au/Resources/Research%20Centres/SORTI/Journals/AJEDP/Vol%203/v3-dorman.pdf
- Dotterer, A.M., & Lowe, K. (2011). Classroom context, school engagement, and academic achievement in early adolescent. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 40(12), 1649-1660. doi: 10.1007/s10964-011-9647-5
- Drummond, K.V., & Stipek, D. (2004, January). Low-income parents' beliefs about their role in children's academic learning. *The Elementary School Journal*, 104(3), 197-213. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/discover/10.2307/3202949?uid=3739256&uid=2&uid=4&sid=55972083653
- Dubouloz, C.J., Hall, M., Ashe, B., Smith, D., Vallerand, J., ... Laporte, D. (2000). Racontez-moi votre experience et je saurai mieux vous aider. Ergotherapie: Memoire et devenir. *VIth European Congress of Occupational Therapy*, Paris, France. Retrieved from

- http://www.caot.ca/CJOT_pdfs/CJOT72/Ashe72(5)280_288.pdf
- Dunham, J. (2002). Stress in teaching (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Taylor & Francis.
- Dunn-Wisner, K.A. (2004). The relationship among self-efficacy, perceived school climate, and stress in middle school teachers. *ETD Collection for Wayne State University*. Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.wayne.edu/dissertatioins/AA13130336
- Durr, A.J. (2008). Identifying teacher capacities that may buffer against teacher burnout. The Ohio State University. *ProQuest Dissertations & Theses*: *Section* 0168. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.umsl.edu/docview/304484622?accountid=14595
- Dworkin, A.G. (1987). *Teacher burnout in the public schools: Structure causes and consequence*. Albany, NY: State University of New York.
- Eisner, E. (1994). The educational imagination (3rd ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Education Service Advisory Committee (1998). Managing work-related stress: A guide for managers and teachers in the schools. In Kyriacou, C. (2001). Teacher stress: Directions for future research. *Educational Review*, *53*(1), 27-35.

 Retrieved from http://www.ytaide.com/png/ERIC/Teacher-Burnout.htm
- Elise, T.P., Bradshaw, C.P., & Hershfeldt, P. A. (2012). Teacher-and school-level predictors of teacher efficacy and burnout: Identifying potential areas of support. *Journal of School Psychology*, 50(1), 129-145.
- Elsey, M. & Henschke, J.A. (2011, September). Andragogy and transformative learning:

 Imagination meets rationalism in college classrooms. Paper presented at the Mid-west Research-to-Practice Conference in Adult, Continuing, and Community Education,

 Lindenwood University, St. Charles, MO. Retrieved from

 http://www.lindenwood.edu/mwr2p/docs/ElseyHenschke.pdf

- Embriaco, N., Papazian, L., Kentish-Barnes, N., Pochard, F., & Azoulay, E. (2007, October).

 Burnout syndrome among critical care healthcare workers. *Current Opinion in Critical Care*, *13*(5), 482-488.
- Evans, V., Ramsey, J.P., Johnson, D., & Evans, A.L. (1985). The effect of job stress related variables on teacher stress. *Journal of the Southeastern Association of Educational Opportunity Program Personnel*, 4(1), 22-35. Retrieved from http://www.habermanfoundation.org/Articles/PDF/Teacher%20Burnout%20in%20Black%20and%20White.pdf
- Evers, W.J.G., Brouwers, A., & Tomic, W. (2002). Burnout and self-efficacy: A study on teachers' beliefs when implementing an innovative educational system in the netherlands.

 British Journal of Educational Psychological, 72, 227-243. Retrieved from
 http://dspace.ou.nl/bitstream/1820/1221/1/BURNOUT%20AND%20SELFEFFICACY%20%20A%20STUDY%20OF%20TEACHERS'%20BELIEFS%20WHEN
 %20IMPLEMENTING%20AN%20INNOVATIVE%20EDUCATIONAL%20SYSTEM
 %20IN%20THE%20NETHERLANDS.pdf
- Evers, W.J.G., Tomic, W., & Brouwers, A. (2004). Burnout among teachers: Students' and teachers' perceptions compared. *School Psychology International*, 25(2), 131-148.
- Farber, B. (1982). *Stress and burnout: Implications for teacher motivation*. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, New York.
- Farber, B.A. (1983). A critical perspective on burnout. In B.A. Farber (Ed.), *Stress and burnout* in the human service professions (pp. 1-20). New York: Pergamon Press.
- Farber, B.A. (1991). Crisis in education: Stress and burnout in the american teacher. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

- Faber, B.A. (2000, May). Treatment strategies for different types of teacher burnout. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *56*(5), 675-689. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097
 4679(200005)56:5<675::AID-JCLP8>3.0.CO;2-D.
- Faber, B.A., & Miller, J. (1981). Teacher burnout: A psychoeducational perspective. *Teachers College Record*, 83, 235-243.
- Fairbrother, K., &Warn, J. (2003). Workplace dimensions, stress and job satisfaction. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 18(1), 8-21. doi: 10.1108/026839403104595565.
- Fitzgerald, J. (2008, February 27). No child left behind: The teacher's voice. Retrieved from http://scribd.com/doc/13399406/No-child-left-behind-The-Teacher's-Voice
- Fisher, M.H. (2011). Factors influencing stress, burnout, and retention of secondary teachers.

 *Current Issues in Education, 14(1). Retrieved from http://cie.asu.edu/ojs/index.php/cieatasu/article/view/658/165
- Folkman, S., & Lazarus, R.S. (1988). Coping as a mediator of emotion. *Journal of Personality* and *Social Psychology*, 54,466-475.
- Fortes-Ferreira, L., Peiro', J.M., Gonzalez-Morales, M.G., & Martin, I. (2006). Work-related stress and well-being: The roles of direct action coping and palliative coping. Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, 47, 293-302.
- Freudenberger, H.J. (1974). Staff burn-out. Journal of Social Issues, 30, 159-165.
- Freudenberger, H.J., & Richelson (1980). *Burn-out: The high cost of high achievement*. Garden City, NY: Anchor Press
- Friedman, I. (1995). Student behavior patterns contributing to teacher burnout. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 84, 325-333. Retrieved from http://www.habermanfoundation.org/Articles/PDF/Teacher%20Burnout%20in%20Black

%20and%20White.pdf

- Friedman, I.A. (1996). Multiple pathways to burnout: Cognitive and emotional scenarios in teacher burnout. *Anxiety, Stress, and Coping, 9*, 245-249. Retrieved from http://vnweb.hwwilsonweb.com.ezproxy.umsl.edu/hww/results/external_link_mainconte https://vnweb.hwwilsonweb.com.ezproxy.umsl.edu/hww/results/external_link_mainconte https://vnweb.hwwilsonweb.com.ezproxy.umsl.edu/hww/results/external_link_mainconte https://vnweb.hwwilsonweb.com.ezproxy.umsl.edu/hww/results/external_link_mainconte https://vnweb.hwwilsonweb.com.ezproxy.umsl.edu/hww/results/external_link_mainconte https://vnweb.hwwilsonweb.com.ezproxy.umsl.edu/hww/results/external_link_mainconte https://vnweb.hwwilsonweb.com.exproxy.umsl.edu/hww/results/external_link_mainconte https://www.external_link_mainconte <a href="https://www.
- Friedman, I.A., & Faber. B.A. (1992). Professional self-concept as predictor of teacher burnout. *Journal of Educational Research*, 81(1), 2. doi:10.1080/00220671.1992.9941824
- Froeschle, J.G., & Crews, C.R. (2010). Examining teacher perspectives of creative relaxation. *Journal of Creativity in Mental Health*, 5, 290-304. doi:10.1080/15401383.2010.507581
- Fullan, M. (2000). Change forces. Levittown, PA.: The Falmer Press, Taylor & Francis, Inc.
- Fullan, M. (2001). *The new meaning of education change* (3rd ed.). Amsterdam, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Futrell, M.H. (2010, November/December). Transforming teacher education to reform america's p-20 educational system. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *61*(5), 432-440.
- Gall, M.D., Gall, J.P., & Borg, W.R. (2007). *Educational research* (8th ed.). New York, NY: Pearson Education, Inc.
- Gaines, C.B. (2011). *Perceived principal support and middle school teacher burnout.*(Unpublished doctoral dissertation). University of Tennessee, Knoxville, TN
- Garrosa, E., Moreno-Jimenez, B., Liang, Y., & Gonzalez, J. (2008). The relationship between socio-demographic variable, job stressors, burnout, and hardy personality in nurses:

 An exploratory study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 4(3), 418-427.

 Retrieved from http://www.umbc.edu/trainctr/documents/Everly.nursingPFA.pdf
- Gates, G.S. (Ed.). (2007). Emerging thought and reserach on student, teacher, and administrator

- stress and coping. Information Age Publishing, Inc.
- Gavish, B., & Friedman, I.A. (2010). Novice teacher's experience of teaching: A dynamic aspect of burnout. *Social Psychology Education*, *13*, 141-167. Retrieved from http://vnweb.hwwilsonweb.com.ezproxy.umsl.edu/hww/results/external_link_mainconte ntframe.jhtml?_DARGS=/hww/results/results_common.jhtml.44
- Geving, A.M. (2007). Identifying the types of student and teacher behaviors associated with teacher stress. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 23, 624-640. Retrieved from http://csus-dspace.calstate.edu/xmlui/bitstream/handle/10211.9/174/Diana%20Curtaz-%20Thesis%202009.pdf?sequence=1
- Goe, L., & Croft, A. (2009, March). Methods of evaluating teacher effectiveness. *National Comprehensive Center for Teacher Quality*,1-12. Retrieved from http://www.tqsource.org/publications/RestoPractice_EvaluatingTeacherEffectiveness.pdf
- Golafshani, N. (2003, December). Understanding reliability and validity in qualitative research.

 The Qualitative Research, 8(4), 597-607. Retrieved from

 http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR8- 4/golafshani.pdf
- Gold, Y. (1993). Teachers managing stress and preventing burnout: The professional health solution. New York: Falmer Press.
- Gold, Y., Roth, R.A., Wright, C.R., Michael, W.B., & Chen, C. (1992). The factorial validity of a teacher burnout measure (Educators Survey) administrated to a sample of beginning teachers in elementary and secondary schools in California. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 52(3), 761-68.
- Gold, Y., & Roth, R.A. (1993). Teachers managing stress and preventing burnout: The professional health solution. Washington, DC: Falmer Press.

- Goldhaber, D. (2002, March 10). The mystery of good teaching. *Education Next*, 1-7. Retrieved from http://www.nuatc.org/articles/pdf/mystery_goodteaching.pdf.
- Goldin, R. (2004). Counting the cost of stress. Retrieved from http://workplacepsychology.net/2011/01/09/the-true-financial-cost-of-job-stress/
- Golembiewski, R.T. (Ed.). (1993). *Handbook of organizational behavior*. New York, NY:

 Marcel Dekker. Retrieved from

 http://aaae.okstate.edu/proceedings/2002/NAERC/Teacher%20Burnout-Croom.pdf
- Gonzalez, M.A. (1997). Study of the relationship of stress, burnout, hardiness and social support in urban secondary schools teachers. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Temple University, Philadelphia, PA. Retrieved from http://www.habermanfoundation.org/Articles/PDF/Teacher%20Burnout%20in%20Black%20and%20White.pdf
- Gourneau, B. (2005, March). Five attitudes of effective teachers: Implications for teacher training. *Essays in Education*, *13*, 8.
- Green, M. (1997). The lived world, literature and education. In D. Vandenberg (ed.),

 *Phenomenology & education discourse (169-190). Johannesburg: Heinemann.

 *Retrieved from http://www.ualberta.ca/~iiqm/backissues/3_1/pdf/groenewald.pdf
- Greenberg, J.S. (1999). Comprehensive stress management (6th ed.). Boston: McGraw-Hill.
- Greenglass, E.R., Fiksenbaum, L., & Burke, R.J. (1994). The relationship between social support and burnout over time in teachers. *Journal of Social Behavior and Personality*, 9(20, 219-230. Retrieved from
 - http://vnweb.hwwilsonweb.com.ezproxy.umsl.edu/hww/results/external_link_mainconte
 ntframe.jhtml?_DARGS=/hww/results/results_common.jhtml.44

- Green-Reese, S., Johnson, D.J., & Campbell, W.A. (1991). Teacher job satisfaction and teacher job stress: School size, age and teaching experience. *Education*, 112(2), 247-252.
- Greenburg, S. (1984). *Stress and the teaching profession*. Baltimore: Paul H. Brooks Publishing Co.
- Grigsby, K.M. (2010). Its no secret: The experiences of eight lesbian public school administrators with district personnel, students, and their parents. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). University of Missouri-St. Louis, St. Louis, MO.
- Griffin, J., Steptoe, A., & Cropley. M. (1999, December). An investigation of coping strategies associated with job stress in teachers. *The British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 69, pt 4. Retrieved from http://www.habermanfoundation.org/Articles/PDF/Teacher%20Burnout%20in%20Black%20and%20White.pdf
- Groenewald, T. (2004, April). A phenomenological research design illustrated. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *3*(1), 1-26.
- Guglielmi, R.S., & Tatrow, K. (1998). Occupational stress, burnout, and health in teachers: A methodological and theoretical analysis, *Review of Educational Research*, 68(1), 61-99.
- Guion, L.A., Diehl, D.C., & McDonald, D. (2011, August). Triangulation: Establishing the validity of qualitative studies. (IFAS Publication No. FCS6014). University of Florida: The Institute of Food and Agricultural Sciences, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Cooperative Extension Service
- Haberman, M. (2004). *Teacher burnout in black and white*. The Haberman Educational Foundation. Retrieved from http://www.habermanfoundation.org/Articles/PDF/Teacher%20Burnout%20in%20Black

%20and%20White.pdf

- Harrell, P., Leavell, A., Van Tasell, F., & McKee, K. (2004). No teacher left behind: Results of a five-year study of teacher attrition. *Action in Teacher Education*, 26, 47-59.
- Hammond, L.D., & Prince, C.D. (2007, July). Strengthening teacher quality in high-need schools: Policy and practice. Retrieved from http://ti_sp.alsde.edu/qt/Shared%20Documents/Strengthening%20Teacher%20Quality%20in%20High%20Need%20Schools-Policy%20and%20Practice.pdf
- Hammond, O.W., & Onikama, D.L. (1996, April). At risk teachers. *Pacific Resources for Educational and Learning*. Honolulu, Hawaii.
- Hammond, C. (2004, December). Impacts of lifelong learning upon emotional resilience, psychological and mental health: fieldwork evidence. *Oxford Review of Education*, *30*(4), 551-568. Retrieved from http://www.istor.org/pss/4127165
- Hamre, B.K., & Pianta, R.C. (2001). Early teacher-child relationships and the trajectory of children's school outcomes through eighth grade. *Child Development*, 72(2), 625-638.
- Hamre, B.K., & Pianta, R.C. (2004). Self-reported depression in nonfamilial caregivers:

 Prevalence and associations with caregivers behavior in child-care settings.

 Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 19, 297-318.
- Hargreaves, A. (1998). The emotional practice of teaching. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 14(8), 835-854.
- Hargreaves, A. (2000). Mixed emotions: Teachers' perceptions of their interactions with students. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *16*,811-826.
- Hargreaves, A. (2003). *Teaching in the knowledge society: education in the age of insecurity*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.

- Hargreaves, A. (Ed.). (2005). Extending educational change: International handbook of educational change.
- Hochschild, J.L., & Scovronick, N. (2003). *The american dream and the public schools*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Holmes, E. (2005). Teacher well-being: Looking after yourself and your career in the classroom.

 New York, NY: RoutledgeFalmer
- Hong, B.S., & Shull, P. (2009). Impact of teacher dispositions on student self-determination. *International Journal of Learning*, 16(1), 261-271.
- Hongying, S. (2007). Literature review of teacher job satisfaction. *Chinese Education and Society*, 40(5), 11-16.
- Howard, S., & Johnson, B. (2004, December). Resilient teachers: Resisting stress and burnout. *Social Psychology of Education*, 7(4), 399-420. Retrieved from http://www.springerlink.com/content/ut33600271006421/
- Hughes, J., & Kwok, O. (2007). Influence of student-teacher and parent-teacher relationships on lower achieving readers' engagement and achievement in the primary grades. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 99, (1), 39-51.
- Hughes, R.E. (2001). Deciding to leave but staying: Teacher burnout, precursors and turnover.

 International Journal of Human Resource Management, 12(2), 288.
- Ianni, F.A., & Reuss-Ianni, E. (1983). Take this job and shove it. A comparison of organizational stress and burnout among teachers and police. In B.A. Farber (Ed.), *Stress and burnout in the human service profession* (pp. 82-96). New York: Pergamon Press.
- Ingersoll, R.M. (2001). Teacher turnover and teacher shortages: An organizational analysis.

 *American Educational Research Journal, 38(3), 499-534.

- Institute for Educational Leadership (2001). Leadership for student learning: Refining the teacher as leader. Retrieved from
 http://www.iel.org/programs/21st/reports/teachlearn.pdf
- Iwanicki, E.F. (1983). Toward understanding and alleviating teacher burnout. *Theory Into Practice*, 12, 27-32.
- Iwanicki, E.F., & Schwab, R.L. (1981). A cross validation study of the maslach burnout inventory. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 41, 1167-1174.
- Jackson, P.W., Boostrom, R.E., & Hansen, D.T. (1993). The moral life of schools.
 San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Jarvis, P. (1987b). Meaningful and meaningless experiences: Towards an analysis of learning from life. *Adult Education Quarterly*, *37*(2), 164-172.
- Jenkins, S., & Calhoun, J.F. (1991). Teacher stress: Issues and interventions. *Psychology in the Schools*, 28(1), 2-15.
- Johannsen, S.E. (2011). An analysis of the occupational stress factors identified by certified teachers. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Georgia Southern University, Statesboro, Georgia. Retrieved from http://eaglescholar.georgiasouthern.edu:8080/jspui/bitstream/10518/3842/1/johannsen_su e_e_201105_edd.pdf
- Johnson, B., & Christensen, L. (2002). Educational research: Quantitative and qualitative approaches. Needham Heights, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Johnson, S., Cooper, C., Cartwright, S., Donald, I., Taylor, P., & Millet, C. (2005). The experience of work-related stress occupations. *Journal of Managerial Psychology* 20(2), 178-187. doi:10.1108/02683940510579803

- Karekla, M., & Panayiotou, G. (2011). Coping and experiential avoidance: Unique or overlapping constructs? *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 42, 163-170.
- Kegan, R. (1994). *In over our heads: The mental demands of modern life*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Kegan, R. (2000). What 'form' transformed?: A constructive-development perspective on transformational learning. In J. Mezirow and Associates (eds.), *Learning as Transformation: Critical Perspectives on a Theory in Progress*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Kelchtermans, G., & Ballet, K. (2002). The micropolitics of teacher induction. A narrative-biographical study on teacher socialization. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 18, 105-120.
- Kersten, T. (2008). Teacher hiring practices: Illinois principals' perspectives. *Educational Forum*, 72(4), 355-368.
- Kimberlin, C.J., & Winterstein, A.G. (2008, December). Validity and reliability of measurement instruments used in research. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacists*, 65, 2276-2284. doi: 10.2146/ajhp070364. Retrieved from http://www.ashpfoundation.org/MainMenuCategories/ResearchResourceCenter/Fostering YoungInvestigators/AJHPResearchFundamentalsSeries/KimberlinArticle.aspx
- Kincheloe, J.L., & Horn, R.A. (Eds.) (2008). *The praeger handbook of education and psychology*. Connecticut: PRAEGER
- Klassen, R.M. (2010). Teacher stress: The mediating role of collective efficacy beliefs. *Journal of Educational Research*, 103, 342-350. Taylor & Francis Group, LLC.

- Kleiman, S. (2004). Phenomenology: To wonder and search for meanings. *Nurse Researcher*,

 11(4), 7-19. Retrieved from

 http://www.researchproposalsforhealthprofessionals.com/phenomenological_data_analysi
 s.htm
- Klunk, C.D. (1999). Workplace devaluation: Learning from experience. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, Blacksburg, Virginia.

 Retrieved from http://scholar.lib.vt.edu/theses/available/etd-042699162003/unrestricted/etd1.pdf
- Knowles, M. (1975). Self-directed learning: A guide for leaders and teachers. New York:

 Associated Press.
- Knowles, M.S. (1980). *The modern practice of adult education*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Knowles, M.S., Holton, F.E., & Swanson, A.R. (2005). *The adult learner: The definitive classic* in adult education & human resource development (6th ed.). Burlington, MA: Elsevier, Inc.
- Kokkinos, C.M., Panayiotou, G., & Davazoglou, A.M. (2005). Correlates of teacher appraisals of student behaviors. *Psychology in the Schools*, 42, 79-89.
- Kokkinos, C.M. (2006). Factor structure and psychometric properties of the maslach burnout inventory: Educators survey among elementary and secondary school teaches in cyprus.

 Stress and Health 22, 25-33. Doi: 10.1002/smi.1079. Retrieved from

 http://positiveemotions.gr/library_files/K/Kokkinos_Factor_2006.pdf
- Kokkinos, C.M. (2007). Job stressors, personality and burnout in primary school teachers. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 77, 229-243.

- Kvale, S. (1996). *Interviews: An introduction to qualitative research. An introduction to qualitative research.* Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE
- Kyriacou, C. (1987). Teacher stress and burnout: An international review. *Educational Research*, 29, 146-152.
- Kyriacou, C. (1998). Essential teaching skills (2nd ed.). United Kingdom: Nelson Thornes Ltd.
- Kyriacou, C. (2001). Teacher stress: Directions for future research. *Educational Review*, *53*, 27-35.
- Kyriacou, C., & Sutcliffe, J. (1977). Teacher stress: A review. Educational Review, 29, 299-306.
- Kyriacou, C., & Sutcliffe, J. (1978). A model teacher stress. *Educational Studies*, 4, 1-4.
- Lambert, R., & McCarthy, C. (Eds.). (2006). *Understanding teacher stress in an age of accountability*. Information Age Publishing, Inc.
- Lambert, R., O'Donnell, M., Kusherman, J., & McCarthy, C.J. (2006). Teacher stress and classroom structural characteristics in preschool settings. In R. Lambert & C. McCarthy (Eds.), *Understanding teacher stress in an age of accountability* (pp. 105-120).
- Larwood, L., & Paje, V. (2004, Fall). Teacher stress and burnout in deaf education. *Academic Exchange Quarterly*. Retrieved from http:/
- Lazarus, R.S. (1966). Psychological stress and the coping process. New York: McGraw-Hill.

findarticles.com/p/articles/mi_hb3325/is_3_8/ai_n29144428/pg_5/?tag=content;col1

- Lazarus, R.S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. New York: Springer
- Lee, R.T., & Ashforth, B.E. (1996). A meta-analytic examination of the correlates of the three dimensions of job burnout, *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 81,123-133.
- Leithwood, K.A., & Beatty, B. (2008). *Leading with teacher emotions in mind*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Company.

- Leslie, M.B., Stein. J.A., & Rotheram-Borus, M.J. (2002). The impact of coping strategies, personal relationships, and emotional distress on health-related outcomes of parents living with HIV or AIDS. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 19(1), 45-66.
- Levine, T., Donitsa-Schmidt, S., & Zellermeyer, M. (1996). Student perceptions of classroom climate in a communicative and computer-supported approach to writing instruction.

 *Research and Development in Education, 29(2), 94-103.
- Lincoln, Y.S. & Guba, E.G. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Beverly Hills, CA: SAGE
- Lindeman, E.C. (1961). The meaning of adult education. Canada: Harvest House Ltd.
- Lochner, L., & Moretti, E. (2004, March). The effects of education on crime: Evidence from prison inmates, arrests, and self-reports. *The American Economic Review*, 94(1), 155-184.

 Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/pss/3592774
- Loostra, B., Brouwers, A., & Tomic, W. (2009, July). Feelings of existential fulfillment and burnout among secondary school teachers. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 25(5), 752-757. Retrieved from http://dspace.learningnetworks.org/bitstream/1820/3038/1/FEELINGS%20OF%20EXIST ENTIAL%20FULFILMENT%20AND%20BURNOUT%20AMONG%20SECONDARY %20SCHOOL%20TEACHERS.pdf
- Lortie, D. (1975). *Schoolteacher: A sociological study*. Chicago, IL: The University of Chicago Press.
- Luekens, M.T., Lyter, D.M., & Fox, E.E. (2004). Teacher attrition and mobility: Results from the teacher follow-up survey, 2000-01 (NCES 2004-301). Department of Education, National Center for Educational Statistics. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

- Lusine, P., Aiken, L.H., & Sloane, D.M. (2009, July). Factor structure of the maslach burnout inventory: An analysis of data from large-scale cross-sectional surveys of nurses from eight countries. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 46(7), 894-902. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2700194/
- Lumpkin, A. (2007, Summer). Caring teachers: The key to student learning. *Kappa Delta Phi Record*, 43(4), 158-160.
- Macdonald, D. (1999). Teacher attrition: A review of literature. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *5*, 835-848.
- Malmberg, L.E., & Hagger, H. (2009). Changes in student teacher's agency beliefs during a teacher education year, and relationships with observed classroom quality, and day-to-day experiences. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 79, 677-694.
- Malterud, K. (2001, August). Qualitative research: Standards, challenges, and guidelines. *The Lancet*, 358(9280), 483-488.
- Markham, P.L. (1999, December). Stressors and coping strategies of esl teachers. *Journal of Instructional Psychology*, 26. Retrieved from http://findarticles.com/p/articles/mi_m0FCG/is_4_26/ai_62980775/?tag=content;col1
- Martella, R.C., Nelson, J.R., Morgan, R.L., & Marchand-Martella, N.E. (2013). *Understanding* and interpreting educational research. New York, NY: Guilford Press
- Marzano, J.R., Pickering, D.J., & Pollock, J.E. (2001). Classroom instruction that works.

 Alexandria, VA.: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Marzano, J.R., & Marzano, J.S. (2003, September). The key to classroom management.

 *Educational Leadership, 61(1), 6-13. Retrieved from http://home.comcast.net/~reasoned/4410/PDFonCRM/Marzano%20Keys%20CRM.pdf

- Maslach, C. (2003). Burnout: The cost of caring. Minneapolis-St. Paul, MN: Malor Books.
- Maslach, C., & Jackson, S.E. (1981). The measurement of experienced burnout. *Journal of Occupational Behavior*, 2, 99-113.
- Maslach, C., & Jackson, S.E. (1984). Burnout in organizational settings. In S. Oskamp (Ed.), Applied social psychology annual, Vol.5: Applications in organizational settings (pp. 133-153). Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Maslach, C., & Jackson, S.E. (1986). *Maslach Burnout Inventory manual* (3rd ed). Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press
- Maslach, C., Jackson, S.E., & Leiter, M.P. (1996). *Maslach Burnout Inventory Manual* (3rd ed.)

 Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists, Press.
- Maslach, C., & Leiter, M. (1997). *The truth about burnout*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Maslach, C., Schaufeli, W.B., & Leiter, M.P. (2001). Job burnout. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 52, 397-422.
- Maslow, A. (1954). *Motivation and personality*. New York, NY: Harper & Row. Retrieved from http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Maslow's_hierarchy_of_needs
- Maslow, A. (1968). *Toward a psychology of being*. New York: D. Van Nostrand Company.

 Retrieved from http://www.simplypsychology.org/maslow.html
- Maypole, J., & Davies, T.G. (2001). Students' perceptions of constructivist learning in a community college american history II. *Community College Review*, 29(2), 54-80.
- McCarthy, C.J., Lambert, R.G., & Brack, G. (1997). Structural model of coping, appraisals, and emotions after relationship breakup. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 76(1), 53-64.

- McCarthy, C.J., Kissen, D. Yadley, L., Wood, T., & Lambert, R. (2006). Relationship of teachers' preventive coping resources to burnout symptoms. In R. Lambert and C.
 McCarthy (Eds.), Understanding teacher stress in an age of accountability, 179-196.
 Greenwich, CT: Information Age Publishing.
- McCarthy, C.J., Lambert, R.G., O'Donnell, M., & Melendres, L.T. (2009). Relationship of teachers' preventive coping resources to burnout symptoms. In R. G. Lambert & C. J.
 McCarthy (Eds.), *Understanding teacher stress in an era of accountability, 3*, 179-196.
 Greenwich, CT: Information Age.
- McCarthy, C.J., Lambert, R.G., O'Donnell, M., & Melendres, L.T. (2009). The relation of elementary teacher's experience, stress, and coping resources to burnout symptoms. *Elementary School Journal*, 109(3), 282-300. Retrieved from http://cie.asu.edu/ojs/index.php/cieatasu/article/view/658/165
- McCormick, J., Ayres, P., & Beechey, B. (2006). Teaching self-efficacy, stress and coping in a major curriculum reform. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 44(1), 53-70.
- McEnany, J. (1986). Teachers who don't burn out. *Cleaning House*, 60(2), 83-84.

 Retrieved from http://www.ualberta.ca/~iiqm/backissues/3_1/pdf/groenewald.pdf
- Mee, M. (2011, Spring). Identifying and alleviating stress of teacher candidates in a secondary professional development schools (pds) program. *Academic Leadership:*The Online Journal 9(2). Retrieved from http://www.academicleadership.org/article/Identifying_and_Alleviating_Stress_of_Teach er_Candidates_in_a_Secondary_Professional_Development_Schools_PDS_Program
- Merriam, S.B. (2009). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. San Francisco, CA:Jossey-Bass.

- Merriam, S.B. (2002). Introduction to qualitative research. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass
- Merriam, S.B. (2001, Spring). The new update on adult learning theory (Ed.), *New Direction* for Adult and Continuing Education, 89. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Merriam, S.B. & Clark, M.C. (1991). *Lifelines: Patterns of work, love, and learning in adulthood.* San Francisco: Jossey-Bass
- Merriam, S.B., Caffarella, R.S., & Baumgartner, L.M. (2007). *Learning in adulthood* (3rd ed.). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass
- Mezirow. J. (1990). Fostering critical reflection in adulthood. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Mezirow, J. (1991). Transformative dimensions of adult learning. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Mezirow, J. (1995). *Transformation theory of adult learning*. In Defense of the Lifeworld, edited by M. R. Welton, p. 39-70. New York: SUNY Press.
- Mezirow, J., & Associates. (2000). Learning as transformation: Critical perspectives on a theory in progress. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Mezirow, J., & Taylor, E.W., & Associates. (2009). Transformative learning in practice:

 Insights from community, workplace, and higher education. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Miller, S.M., Brody, D.S., & Summerton, J. (1988). Styles of coping with threat: Implications for health. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *54*(1), 142-148.
- Mitzel, H. C. (2005 June). *Consistency for state achievement standards*. Paper from the meeting of the Study Group on Transitions in Assessment from IASA to NCLB. Retrieved from http://www.pacificmetrics.com/white-papers/Consistency_for_State_Achievement_Standards_under_NCLB.pdf
- Mitchell, D. (2004, August). Stress, coping, and appraisal in an hiv-seropositive rural sample: A

- test of the goodness-of-fit-hypothesis. (Unpublished master's thesis). Ohio University
- MODESE (2011). Missouri Department of Elementary and Secondary Education: Annual Report. Retrieved from http://dese.mo.gov/planning/profile/
- Montgomery, C., & Rupp, A.A. (2005). A meta-analysis for exploring the diverse causes and effects of stress in teachers. *Canadian Journal of Educational/Review candienne de l'educaiton*, 28, 458-486.
- Moustakas, C.E. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Muller, K., Alliata, R., & Benninghoff, F. (2009). Attracting and retaining teachers: A question of motivation. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 37(5), 574-599.
- Murname, R.J., & Steele, J.L. (2007, Spring). What is the problem? The challenge of providing effective teachers for all children. The future of children. *Excellence in the Classroom*, 17(1), 15-43. Princeton University
- Murshidi, R., Konting, M.M., & Elias, H. (2006, September). Sense of efficacy among beginning teachers in sarawak. *Teaching Education*, *17*(3), 265-275. doi:10.1080/104762106008497 30. Retrieved from http://www.aabri.com/manuscripts/10446.pdf
- Myers, S.S., &Pianta, R.C. (2008). Developmental commentary: Individual and contextual influences on student-teacher relationships and children's early problem behaviors.

 Journal of Clinical & Adolescent Psychology, 37, 600-608.
- National School Boards Association. (2002). *Change and education*. Retrieved May 27 2002, from www.nsba.org/sbot/toolkit/chned.htm. Retrieved from http://aaae.okstate.edu/proceedings/2002/NAERC/Teacher%20Burnout-Croom.pdf
- NCES (1998). *The condition of education 1998*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, The National Center for Educational Statistics.

- NCES (2000-01). U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics,

 Teacher Follow-up Survey (TFS), "Current Teacher Questionnaire" and "Former Teacher Questionnaire," 2000–01.
- NCEI (2005). *Profiles of teachers in the u.s.* Washington, DC: National Center for Education Information, 1901 Pennsylvania Avenue, Suite 201, Washington, D.C. 20006. Retrieved from www.ncei.com/POT05PRESSREL3.htm
- Nie, Y., Lau, S., & Liau, A.K. (2011, December). Role of academic self-efficacy in moderating the relation between task importance and test anxiety. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 21(6), 736-741. doi: 10.1016/j.lindif.2011.09.005
- Noushad, P. (2008). From teacher burnout to student burnout. Online Submission. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 502150. Retrieved from http://csus-dspace.calstate.edu/xmlui/bitstream/handle/10211.9/174/Diana%20Curtaz-%20Thesis%202009.pdf?sequence=1
- O'Connor, K.E. (2008). You choose to care: Teachers, emotions and professional identity. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24,117-126.
- OECD (2005). Teaching matter: Attracting, developing and retaining effective teachers.

 Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/edu/teacherpolicy
- Oi Ling, S. (1995). Occupational stress among school teachers: A review of research findings relevant to policy formation. Retrieved from http://webcache.googleusercontent.com/search?q=cache:qPgEWAZwaAQJ:sunzi.lib.hku. hk/hkjo/view/33/330059-.pdf+Oi+Ling+teacher+stress&cd=2&hl+en&ct=clnk&gl=us
- Oliver, R.M., & Reschly, D.J. (2007, December). Effective classroom management: Teacher preparation and professional development. *NATIONAL COMPREHENSIVE CENTER*

- FOR Teacher Quality. Retrieved from http://www.tqsource.org/topics/effectiveClassroomManagement.pdf
- O'Reilley, M.R. (2005). The garden at night: Burnout and breakdown in the teaching life.

 Retrieved from http://books.heinemann.com/shared/onlineresources/E00848/prologue.pdf
- Owens, C., Mundy, G., & Harrison, S. (1980). Teacher satisfaction in Georgia and the nation:

 Status and trends. Professional Standards Commission; Atlanta, GA. Retrieved from

 http://www.georgiasouthern.edu/etd/archive/spring2008/melinda_m_dennis/Dennis_Melinda_M_200808_edd.pdf
- Patton, M.Q. (2003, September). Qualitative evaluation checklist. Retrieved from http://dmeforpeace.org/sites/default/files/Patton_Qualitative%20Evaluation%20Checklist .pdf
- Patton, M.Q. (2002). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods*. (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Polkinghorne, D.E. (2005). Language and meaning: Data collection in qualitative research. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 52(2), 137-145. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.137
- Porter, E.J. (1999, December). Defining the eligible, accessible population for a phenomenological study. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, 21(6), 796-804. doi: 10.1177/01939459922044207
- Pedersen, S. (1998). *Teacher burn-out in america: A study of one public and two private schools in iowa*. (Unpublished thesis). Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Iowa.
- Perlman, B., & Hartman, E.A. (1982). Burnout: Summary and future research. *Human Relations*, 35, 283-305.
- Perusek, A.M. (2011, Winter). A few facts about burnout. Society of Women Engineers, 57(1),

58.

- Peshkin, A. (1988). In search of subjectivity—one's own. Educational Researcher, 22(2), 23-29.
- Pierce, C.M.B., & Molly, G.N. (1990). Psychological and biographical differences between secondary teachers experiencing high and low levels of burnout. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 60, 37-51.
- Pines, A., & Aronson, E. (1988). Career burnout: Causes and cures. New York: Free Press.
- Podsen, I.J. (2002). *Teacher retention: What is your weakest link*? Larchmont, NY: Eye On Education.
- Polanyi, M. (1966). The tacit dimension. Garden City, NY.: Doubleday and Co.
- Poulin, P.A., Mackenzie, C.S., Soloway, G., & Karayolas, E. (2008). Mindfulness training as an evidenced-based approach to reducing stress and promoting well-being among human services professional. *International Journal of Health Promotion & Education*, 46(2), 35-43. Retrieved from http://www.geoffreysoloway.com/files/39327965.pdf
- Pucella, T.J. (2011). The impact of national board certification of burnout levels in educators.

 The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas, 84(2), 52-58.
- Punch, K.F., & Tuetteman, E. (1996). Reducing teacher stress: The effects of support in the work environment, *Research in Education*, 56, 63-72.
- Pyhalto, K., Pietarinen, J., & Salmela-Aro, K. (2011). Teacher-working-environment fit as a framework for burnout experienced by finnish teachers. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 27(7), 1101-1110.
- Resnick, L.B. (Ed.) (2004, Summer). Teachers Matter: Evidence from value-added assessments.

 Research Points, 2(2), 1-4. Retrieved from
 http://www.aera.net/uploadedFiles/Journals and Publications/Research Points/RP Sum

mer04.pdf

Rhodes, C., Nevill, A., & Allan, J. (2004). Valuing and supporting teachers: A survey of teacher satisfaction, dissatisfaction, morale and retention in an english local education authority.

**Research in Education, 71, 67-80. Retrieved from http://csus-dspace.calstate.edu/xmlui/bitstream/handle/10211.9/174/Diana%20Curtaz-%20Thesis%202009.pdf?sequence=1

Riessman, C.K. (1993). Narratives analysis. Newbury Park, CA: SAGE

Rimm-Kaufman, S. (2011). Improving students' relationships with teachers to provide essential supports for learning. *American Psychological Association*. Retrieved from http://www.apa.org/education/k12/relationships.aspx

Roberts, C.M. (2004). *The dissertation journey*. Thousand Oaks: Corwin Press.

Roberts, N. (2006). Disorienting dilemmas: Their effects on learners, impact on performance, and implications for adult educators. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). In M.S.

Plakhotnik & S. M. Nielsen (Eds.), Proceedings of the Fifth Annual College of Education Research Conference: Urban and International Education Section (pp. 100-105). Miami: Florida International University. Retrieved from http://www.archive.org/stream/TeacherTransformationsAPhenomenologicalStudyOnThe EffectOfCourageTo/NolletK._djvu.txt

Robinson, D., & Reed, V. (Eds.). (1998). *The a-z social research jargon*. Aldershot, UK:

Ashgate. Retrieved from

http://www.ualberta.ca/~iiqm/backissues/3_1/pdf/groenewald.pdf

Rudd, G.A., & Wiseman, S. (1962). Sources of dissatisfaction among a group of teachers.

*British Journal of Educational Psychology, 32(3), 275-291. Retrieved from

- http://www.habermanfoundation.org/Articles/PDF/Teacher%20Burnout%20in%20Black%20and%20White.pdf
- Rury, J.L. (1989). Who became teachers?: The social characteristic of teachers in American history. In D. Warren (Ed.), *American Teachers: Histories of a Profession at Work*. New York: Macmillan Publishing Company
- Ryan, G.W. & Bernard, H.R. (2003). Techniques to identify themes. *Field Methods*, *15*(1), 85-109. Retrieved from http://iss.fsv.cuni.cz/ISS-15-version1-text4.pdf
- Sadala, M.L.A., & Adorno, R.deC.F. (2001). Phenomenology as a method to investigate the experiences lived: A perspective from husserl and merleau-ponty's thought. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 37(3), 282-283.
- Saito, K. (1999). Development of the measurement scale of psychological stressors on teacher's stress in junior high school. *Japanese Journal of Counseling Science*, *32*, 254-263.
- Salami, S.O. (2011, May). Job stress and burnout among lecturers: Personality and social support as moderators. *Asian Social Science*, 7, 5, 1-12. Doi:10.5539/ass.v7n5p110

 Retrieved from http://www.ccsenet.org/journal/index.php/ass/article/download
- Santrock, J. (2001). *Educational psychology*. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Higher Education Saphier, J., & Gower, R. (1997). *The skillful teacher*. Acton, MA: Research For Better Teaching,
- Saphier, J., & Gower, R. (1997). The skillful teacher. Acton, MA: Research For Better Teaching,

 Inc.
- Sardiwalla, N., VandenBerg, H., & Esterhuyse, K.G.F. (2007, November/December). The role of stressors and coping strategies in the burnout experienced by hospice workers. *Cancer Nursing*, *30*(6), 481-497. US: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. doi:10.1097/01.NCC00003 00159.67897.c7
- Schamer, L.A., & Jackson, M.J. (1996). Coping with stress. Common sense about teacher

- burnout. Education Canada, 36(2), 28-32, 49.
- Schaufeli, W.B., Maslach, C., & Marek, T. (1993). *Professional burnout: Recent developments in theory and research.* Washington, DC: Taylor & Francis.
- Schaufeli, W.B., & Enzmann, D. (1998). *The burnout companion to study and practice: A critical analysis*. London/Philadelphia: Taylor & Francis.
- Schaufeli, W.B., Salanova, M., Gonzalez-Roma, V., & Bakker, A.B. (2001, August). *The measurement of engagement and burnout: A two sample confirmatory factor analytic approval.* Paper presented to Utrecht University, Department of Psychology, The Netherlands. Retrieved from http://www.wont.uji.es/wont/downloads/articulos/internacionales/2002SCHAUFELI02AI.pdf
- Schmuck, R.A., & Schmuck, P.A. (1997). *Group processes in the classroom*. McGraw-Hill.
- Schneider, M. (2002, November). Do school facilities affect academic outcomes? *National Clearinghouse for Educational Facilities*, 1-24. Retrieved from http://www.ncef.org/pubs/outcomes.pdf
- Schonfeld, I.S. (1990b). Psychological distress in a sample of teachers. *The Journal of Psychology*, 123, 321-338. Retrieved from http://www1.ccny.cuny.edu/prospective/socialsci/psychology/faculty/upload/Schonfeld-2001.pdf
- Schonfeld, I.S. (2001). Stress in 1st year women teachers: The context of social support and coping. *Genetic, Social, and General Psychology Monographs*, *17*, *133-168*.
- Schutte, N., Toppinen, S., Kalimo, R., & Schaufeli, W. (2000). The factorial validity of the maslach burnout inventory-general survey (mbi-gs) across occupational groups and

- nations. Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology, 73, 53-66.
- Schwab, R.L., & Iwanicki, E.F. (1982a). Who are our burned out teachers? *Educational Research Quarterly*, 7, 5-16.
- Schwab, R.L., & Iwanicki, E.F. (1982b). Perceived role conflict, role ambiguity, and teacher burnout. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 18, 60-74.
- Segall, W.E., & Wilson, A.V. (2004). *Introduction to education: Teaching in a diverse society*. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Inc.
- Seidman, I. (2006). *Interviewing as qualitative research.* A guide for researchers in education and the social sciences (2nd ed.). New York: Teachers College Press
- Seidman, I. (2013). *Interviewing as qualitative research.* A guide for researchers in education and the social sciences (4th ed.). New York: Teachers College Press
- Seligman, M.E.P., & Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2000). Positive psychology: An introduction.

 **American Psychologist, 55, 5-14. Retrieved from http://www.radford.edu/~tpierce/622%20files/Seligman%20(2000)%20Positive%20Psychology.pdf
- Selye, H. (1974). Stress without distress. Philadelphia, and New York: J. B. Lippincott.
- Sharplin, E., O'Neill, M., & Chapman, A. (2011). Coping strategies for adaptation to new teacher appointments: Intervention for retention. *Teacher and Teacher Education*, 27, 136-146.
- Sheard, M. & Golby, J. (2007). Hardiness and undergraduate academic study: The moderating role of commitment. *Personality and Individual Difference*, *43*, 579-588. Retrieve from http://www.faqs.org/periodicals/201003/2030175571.html
- Shyman, E. (2010, September). Identifying predictors of emotional exhaustion among special

- education paraeducators: A preliminary investigation. *Psychology in the Schools*, 47(8), 828-841. doi: 10.1002/pits.20507
- Simons-Morton, B.G. (2005). *Preventing problem behavior among middle school students>*Retrieved from http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00062959
- Skaalvik, E.M., & Skaalvik, S. (2007). Dimensions of teacher self-efficacy and relations with strain factors: Perceived collective teacher efficacy and teacher burnout. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 99,611-625. doi:10.1037/00220663.99.3.611
- Skaalvik, E.M., & Skaalvik, S. (2010). Teacher self-efficacy and teacher burnout: A study of relations. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 26, 1059-1069. Retrieved from http://jamiesmithportfolio.com/EDTE800/wp-content/Self-Efficacy/Skaalvik1.pdf
- Skvoholt, T.M., & Trotter-Mathison, M. (2010). Resilient practitioner (2nd). Routledge
- Smith, D.W. (2011, Fall). Phenomenology. In E.N. Zalta (Ed.), *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*. Retrieved from http://plato.stanford.edu/cgi-bin/encyclopedia/archinfo.cgi?entry=phenomenology
- Smith, M., & Bourke, S. (1992). Teacher stress: Examining a model based on context, workload, and satisfaction. *Teacher and Teacher Education*, 8(1), 21-46.
- Smith, T.M., & Ingersoll, R.M. (2004). What are the effects of induction and mentoring on beginning teacher turnover? *American Educational Research Journal*, 41, 681-714.
- Sorenson, R.D. (2007). Stress management in education: Warning signs and coping mechanisms. *Management in Education*, 21(3), 10-13.
- Sparks, D. (2002). Designing powerful professional development for teachers and principals.

 National Staff Development Council. Retrieved from

 http://www.learningforward.org/news/sparksbook/sparksbook.pdf

- Split, J.L., Helma, M.Y., Koomen, H.M.Y., & Thijs, J.T. (2011). Teacher wellbeing: The importance of teacher-student relationships. *Educational Psychology Review*, 1-21.
- Squires, D., Huitt, W., & Segars, J. (1981, December). Improving classrooms and schools: What's important. *Educational Leadership*, *39*(3), 174-179.
- Stenbacka, C. (2001). Qualitative research requires quality concepts of its own. *Management Decisions*, 39(7), 551-555.
- Stephens, C.E. (2001). Report to the governor on teacher retention and turnover. Standards

 Commission. State of Georgia, Athens, Georgia. p17. Retrieved from

 http://www.habermanfoundation.org/Articles/PDF/Teacher%20Burnout%20in%20Black
 %20and%20White.pdf
- Stewart, R.W. (Ed.) (2005). American military history volume 1: The united states army and the forging of a nation, (1775-1917). Center of Military History: Department of the Army.
- Stipek, D., & Miles, S. (2008). Effects of aggression on achievement: Does conflict with the teacher make it worse? *Child Development*, 79, 1721-1735. doi: 101111/j.1467-8624.2008.01221.
- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1990). Basis of qualitative research. Ground theory procedures and techniques (2nd ed.). Newbury Park, CA: SAGE
- Stromquist, N.P., & Monkman, K. (Eds.). (2000). *Globalization and education*. Lanham, MD.: Rowman & Littlefield Publications, Inc.
- Stubblefield, W.H., & Keane, P. (1994). *Adult education in the american experience*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Suldo, S.M., Shaunessy, E., & Hardesty, R. (2008). Relationships among stress, coping, and mental health in high-achieving high school students. *Psychology in the Schools*, 45(4),

273-290.

- Swider, B.W., & Zimmerman, R.D. (2010). Born to burnout: A meta-analytic path model of personality, job burnout, and work outcomes. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 76,487-506.
- Talmor, R., Reiter, S., & Feigin, N. (2005, May). Factors relating to regular education: Teacher burnout in inclusive education. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 20(2), 215-229. Retrieved from
 http://teach.newport.ac.uk/sen/SEN_0708/Beh_Resources/Inc_Teacher_BurnOut.pdf
- Taylor, E.W. (1998). The theory and practice of transformative learning: A critical review ERIC Clearinghouse on Adult, Career and Vocational Education (Information Series No 374). Columbus, Ohio.
- Taylor, K., Marienau, C., & Fiddler, M. (2000). *Developing adult learners. Strategies for teachers and trainers*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- TBF (2000). Managing stress in schools: Teachline first report (London, TBF, The Support Network).
- Terry, P. (1997, April). *Teacher burnout: Is it real? can we prevent it?* Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools, Chicago, IL. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/PDFS/ED408258.pdf
- Tewksbury, R. (2009). Qualitative quantitative methods: Understanding why qualitative methods are superior for criminology and criminal justice. *Journal of Theoretical and Philosophical Criminology*, *I*(1), 1-21. Retrieved from http://www.jtpcrim.org/January_Articles/Qualitative_Vs_Quantitave_Richard_Tewksbury.pdf

- The Psychology Dictionary (2003). The Heffner Media Group. Retrieved from http://allpsych.com/dictionary/s.html
- Tomic, W., & Tomic, E. (2008). Existential fulfillment and burnout among principals and teachers. *Journal of Beliefs & Values*, 29(1), 11-27.
- Tough, A.M. (1997). The adult's learning projects: A fresh approach to theory and practice adult learning. Toronto: Ontario Institute for Studies in Education.
- Travers, C.J., & Cooper, C.L. (1993). Mental health, job satisfaction and occupational stress among UK teachers, *Work & Stress*, 7(3), 203-219. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.umsl.edu/science/article/pii/S0742051X09000031 #bib40
- Travers, C.J., & Cooper, C.L. (1996). *Teachers under pressure: Stress in the teaching profession*. London: Routledge.
- Tschannen-Moran, M., & Hoy, A.W. (2001, October). Teacher efficacy: Capturing an elusive construct. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *17*, 7, 783-805.
- Tuettemann, E. (1991). Teaching: Stress and satisfaction. *Issues In Educational Research*, 1(1), 31-42.
- United States Agency For International Development. (2008). *The expansion of secondary education and the need for teachers: How big is the gap?* Retrieved from http://www.equip123.net/docs/e2-SecondaryExpansion_WP.pdf. Washington DC: Author.
- United States Department of Education, Office of the Deputy Secretary. (2004). *No child left behind: A toolkit for teachers*. Washington DC: Author. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/teachers/nclbguide/nclb-teachers-toolkit.pdf

- United States Department of Education. (2009, February 24). *National education technology* plan 2010. Retrieved from http://www.ed.gov/technology/netp-2010
- United States Department of Education. (2010, October 14). *Ready to learn television program*.

 Retrieved from http://www.ed.gov/category/program/ready-learn-television-program
- Vandenberg, D. (1997). Phenomenological research in the study of education. In D. Vandenberg (Ed.), *Phenomenology & education discourse (pp.3-37)*. Johannesburg, South Africa: Heinemann. Retrieved from http://www.ualberta.ca/~iigm/backissues/3 1/pdf/groenewald.pdf
- Vandenberghe, R., & Huberman, A.M. (1999). *Understanding and preventing teacher burnout:*a sourcebook of international research and practice. New York, NY: Cambridge Press.
- Van Dick, R., & Wagner, U. (2001). Stress and strain in teaching: A structural equation approach. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 71, 243-259.
- Van Dierendonck, D., Garssen, B., & Visser, A. (2005). Burnout prevention through personal growth. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 12(1), 62-77.
- Vanhorn, J.E., & Schaufeli, W.B. (1995). Maslach burnout inventory. University of Utrecht
- Vanhorn, J.E., Calije', D.G., Schreurs, P.J.G., & Schaufeli, W.B. (1997). Stress and burnout among teachers: A literature review, *Gedrag en Organisatie*, *10*, 247-256. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.umsl.edu/science/article/pii/S0742051X0900 0031 #bib40
- Vatcharasirisook, V. (2011). Organizational learning and employee retention: A focus study examining the role of relationships between supervisors and subordinates. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). University of Missouri-St. Louis, St. Louis, MO.
- Villa, A., & Calvete, E. (2001). Development of the teacher self-concept evaluation scale and its

- relation to burnout. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, 27, 239-255. doi: 10.1016/S0191-491X(01)00028-1
- Wagner, L.A. (2010). Occupational stress and coping resources of k-12 probationary teachers.

 *Dissertation Abstracts International Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences, 70(7-A), 2336.
- Wang, Z., Lan, Y., & Wang, M. (2001, November). A study on the resources coping with occupational stress in teachers. *Chinese Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 35(6), 381-383.
- Wang, Z., Lan, Y.J., Li, J., & Wang, M. (2002). Study of the occupational stress of the teachers in primary and secondary school. *Modern Preventive Medicine*, 29, 129-131.
- Wangberg, E.G. (1982, March). Helping teachers cope with stress. *Educational Leadership*, 1-4.

 Retrieve from http://www.ascd.org/ASCD/pdf/journals/ed_lead/el_198203_wangberg.pdf
- Ware, H., & Kitsantas, A. (2007). Teacher and collective efficacy beliefs as predictors of professional commitment. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 100(5), 303-310.

 Retrieved from http://csus
 dspace.calstate.edu/xmlui/bitstream/handle/10211.9/174/Diana%20Curtaz%20Thesis%20
 2009.pdf?sequence=1
- Waugh, C.K., & Judd, M.R. (2003, Spring). Trainer burnout: The syndrome explored. *Journal of Career and Technical Education*, 19(2). Retrieved from http://scholar.lib.vt.edu/ejournals/JCTE/v19n2/waugh.html
- Weathersby, R., & Tarule, J. (1980). Adult development: Implications for higher education.

 (AAHE-ERIC/Higher Education Research Report No. 4). Washington, DC: American Association for Higher Education.
- Webster, T. & Bergman, B. (1999, Fall). Occupational stress: Counts and rates. *Compensation*

- and Working Conditions, 4(3), 1-4. Retrieved from www.bls.gov/opub/cwc/archive/fall1999brief4.pdf
- Weissner, C.A., & Mezirow, J. (2000). Theory building and the search for common ground. In J. Mezirow and Associates (eds.), *Learning as Transformation: Critical Perspectives on a Theory in Progress.* San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Welman, J.C., & Kruger, S.J. (1999). Research methodology for the business and administrative sciences. Johannesburg, South Africa: International Thompson. Retrieved from http://www.ualberta.ca/~iigm/backissues/3 1/pdf/groenewald.pdf
- Willig, C. & Stainton-Rogers, W. (Eds.). (2008). *The sage handbook of qualitative research in Psychology*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications
- Wilson, V. (2002). Feeling the strain: An overview of the literature on teachers' stress.

 Edinburgh: Scottish Council of Research in Education. Retrieved from https://dspace.gla.ac.uk/bitstream/1905/213/1/109.pdf
- Witkin, B.R. & Altschuld, J.W. (1995). *Planning and conducting needs assessments*.

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications
- Wood, T. & McCarthy, C. (2002). *Understanding & preventing teacher burnout* (Report No. ED-99-C)-0007). Washington DC: ERIC Clearinghouse on Teaching and Teacher Education. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED477726). Retrieved from http://school-Staff-issues.suite101.com/article.cfm/teacher_attrition_rates
- Wu, S., Li, J., Wang, M., Wang, Z., & Li, H. (2006). Short communication: Intervention on occupational stress among teachers in the middle schools in china. *Stress and Health*, 22, 329-336. doi: 10.1002/smi.1108
- Yasin, S. (1999, December). The supply and demand of elementary and secondary school

- teachers in the united states. Retrieved from http://www.ericdigests.org/2003-3/demand.htm.
- Yavuz, M. (2009, December). An investigation of burn-out levels of teachers working in elementary and secondary educational institutions and their attitudes to classroom management. *Educational Research and Reviews*, *4*(12), 642-649. Retrieved from http://www.academicjournals.org/err/PDF/Pdf%202009/Dec/Yavuz.pdf
- Yong, Z., & Yue, Y. (2007). Causes for burnout among secondary and elementary school teachers and preventive strategies. *Chinese Education and Society*, 40(5), 78-85.
- Young, B.B. (1978). Anxiety and stress--how they affect teachers' teaching. *NASSP Bulletin*, 62, 78-80. Retrieved from http://www.habermanfoundation.org/Articles/PDF/Teacher%20Burnout%20in%20Black%20and%20White.pdf
- Zakowski, S., Hall, M., Klein, J., & Baum, A. (2001). Appraised control, coping, and stress in a community sample: A test of the goodness-of-fit hypothesis. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 23(3), 158-165.
- Zellars, K., Hochwarter, W., & Perrewe', P. (2004). Experiencing job burnout: The roles of positive and negative traits and states. *Journal of Applied and Social Psychology*, *34*,887-911.
- Zellmer, D.D. (2004). Teaching to prevent burnout in the helping professions. *Analytic Teaching*, 24(1), 20-25. Retrieved from https://www.viterbo.edu/analytic/Vol.24%20No.1/Teaching%20to%20prevent%20burno ut.pdf
- Zhongying, S. (2008). Current situation of job burnout of junior high school teachers in Shangqiu urban areas and its relationship with social support. *Frontiers of Education in*

China, 3, 65-71.

Zolnierczyk-Zreda, D. (2005). An intervention to reduce work-related burnout in teachers.

International Journal of Occupational Safety and Ergonomics, 11(4), 423-430.



APPENDIX A

Division of Educational Leadership
And Policy Studies
One University Blvd.
St. Louis, Missouri 63121-4499
Telephone: 314-516-5941

Informed Consent for Participation in Research Activities

"What is the Transformational Learning Experience of Secondary Teachers Who Have Dealt with Burnout?"

Participant		HSC Approval Number		
1				
Principal Investigator	Julius R. Sims I	P I's Phone Number 341-298-3704		

- 1. You are invited to participate in a research study conducted by Julius R. Sims I and sponsored by the advisor, Dr. Paulette Isaac-Savage. The purpose of this research is to gain an understanding of the coping strategies employed by secondary teachers who experienced burnout along with their transformational learning experiences.
- 2. Your participation will be a one-on-one interview, which will be conducted on campus. Approximately 8-10 teachers may be involved in this study. Teachers will be asked to share their personal experiences while implementing their strategies for coping with emotional exhaustion and depersonalization.

The amount of time involved in your participation will be one hour, and will be audio recorded for later transcription and analyzing of the data you and others provide. You will receive a \$5.00 gift card for Panera Bread Company for your time.

There are no known risks associated with this research.

- 4. There are no direct benefits for you participating in this study. However, your participation will contribute to the knowledge and importance of having measures of coping employed to help preserve the quality of classroom teaching and other professional services.
- 5. Your participation is voluntary and you may choose not to participate in this research study or withdraw your consent at any time. You will NOT be penalized in any way should you choose not to participate or withdraw. You may choose not to answer any questions that you do not want to answer.
- 6. We will do everything we can to protect your privacy. As part of this effort, your identity

will not be revealed in any publication that may result from this study. By agreeing to participate, you understand and agree that your data may be shared with other researchers and educators in the form of presentations and/or publications. In rare instances, a researcher's study must undergo an audit or program evaluation by an oversight agency (such as the Office for Human Research Protection) that would lead to disclosure of your data as well as any other information collected by the researcher. In addition, all data will be stored on a password-protected computer or in a locked office.

7. If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study, or if any problems arise, you may call the Principal Investigator, Julius Sims at (314) 853-4048 or jcsims84@sbcglobal.net or Dr. Paulette Isaac-Savage at (314) 516-5941 or EPIsaac@umsl.edu. You may also ask questions or state concerns regarding your rights as a research participant to the Office of Research Administration at the University of MO-St. Louis at (314) 516-5897.

I have read this consent form and have been given the opportunity to ask questions. I will also be given a copy of this consent form for my records. I hereby consent to my participation in the research described above.

Participant's Signature	
Date	
Signature of Investigator or Designee	
Date	

APPENDIX B

OPEN-ENDED INTERVIEW QUESTIONS

Emotional Exhaustion Questions (EE)

- 1. Describe the job-related factors that led to the emotional and mental conditions of being frustrated and burnout. How did these conditions affect your job performance?
- 2. How successful or unsuccessful you were coping with your negative feelings, actions, and attitude? Describe. What types of things or strategies did you use for coping and why?
- 3. Has job stress and your emotional overload affected you as a person? How did your employed strategies for coping help you?

Depersonalization Questions (DPZ)

- 1. Describe the work-related conditions and/or teacher responsibilities that generated a lack of care or concern towards your work and students. How successful were you using any preventive measures for coping?
- 2. What coping strategies have you used to prevent job negativity and callousness toward those in your work environment?
- 3. How have you changed as a person because of your experiences with EE and DPZ?

 Describe your personal past and present perceptions. How has your job performance and teacher/student relationship changed?

APPENDIX C

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Please complete the following background information.

1.	<u>Teaching Status</u> (circle one):	Full T	ime	Part Time				
2.	Age							
	24-30	45-51	_	65 and ove	r			
	31-37	52-58						
	38-44	59-64						
3.	<u>Gender</u>							
	Female Male							
4.	Race/Ethnicity:							
	American Indian or Alaska Na	ative	Asian	Wh	ite			
	Black or African American		Hispanic or La	atino	Other			
5.	History of Teaching (Please indicate the number of years taught at each):							
	Elementary education High School							
	Middle School/Jr. High Home-Schooling							
	Post-Secondary Education (please specify):							
6.	List the subject or subjects you are currently teaching:							
7.	Please indicate highest degre	ee obtained:						
	Bachelor's Master's Degree Educational Specialist							
	Doctorate							

APPENDIX D

INTRODUCTION OF STUDY TO THE FACULTY

To: The U-City High School Teachers

From: Julius Sims, Retired Teacher, & Doctoral Candidate

Dear Faculty Member,

My name is Julius Sims, a retired teacher that served in this district for over 30 years (Hanley Jr. High, Brittany Middle, and U-City High). I am currently a graduate student at University of Missouri-St. Louis pursuing a degree in Educational Leadership & Policy Studies, with an emphasis in Adult & Higher Education. As a dissertation study, I have selected "What is the Transformational Learning Experience of Secondary Teachers Who Have Dealt with Burnout?" I am interested in the stress, burnout, coping strategies, and transformational learning experiences of high school teachers that have dealt with burnout. After briefly introducing the study to the staff here at the high school, I will ask randomly selected teachers to share their point of view along with employed coping strategies that alleviated the feelings associated with work-related emotional exhaustion and depersonalization (i.e., components of the burnout syndrome).

My study is complementary to many past and present studies that investigated the kinds of coping strategies teachers employed that allowed them to deal with job burnout while becoming more effective with their work and students. Participation will be a volunteer bases for those that qualify. For data collecting purposes, I will ask all volunteers to participate in interviews. Your decision to participate will not affect your current or future relations with the district. Presenting further information about the study will take place at a faculty meeting through the authorization of the Head Principal. During that pre-determined faculty meeting, inquiries will be entertained along with an invitation to the potential study participants. Participants for the study will involve those teachers who are willing to share their burnout experiences, new perspectives, and coping strategies. I honor what you do for kids and certainly appreciate your time. I truly understand how the closing of the school year can be so demanding and filled with administrative expectations and teacher responsibilities.

Peace.

Julius Sims

APPENDIX E

REQUEST PERMISSION FROM SUPERINTENDENT TO CONDUCT STUDY (LETTER AND EMAIL)

Dr. Joylynn Pruitt

Superintendent of Schools University City, Missouri 63130

Dear Dr. Pruitt,

My name is Julius Sims and I am proud to have been part of the esteemed teaching faculty of the School District of University City. In June 2010, I retired from the district after serving thirty-one years (Hanley Jr. High, Brittany Woods Middle, Sr. High). Currently, I am a doctoral candidate at University of Missouri-St. Louis pursuing a degree in Educational Leadership & Policy Studies with an emphasis in Adult & Higher Education. My dissertation advisor is Dr. Paulette Isaac-Savage, episaac@umsl.edu, (314) 516-5941. As a dissertation study I have selected, "What is The Transformational Learning Experience of Secondary Teachers Who Have Dealt with Burnout".

Throughout the study, I propose to gain an understanding of the coping strategies employed by secondary teachers who experienced the effects of emotional exhaustion and depersonalization (i.e., conditions known to the burnout phenomenon). While exploring the affects these conditions had upon teachers, the study will solicit rich detailed descriptions of teachers' point of view regarding their work, stress, burnout, their lived experiences, and their personal dilemma that stimulated a different point of view (i.e. transformation). Over the years, stress and burnout have become a more pressing issue among many teachers of the field of teaching.

It is my hope to obtain your permission to conduct this study with your teachers at the high school. My initial meeting with the high school principal will consist of reiterating the purpose of the study and discussing the opportunities (i.e., staff meetings) available to introduce the study to the teaching faculty. After the process of randomly selecting a small number of volunteer participants (8-10), in-depth interviews will be scheduled and conducted. Teachers will focus and reflect on the job-related stressors, demanding classroom duties, and their strategies for coping. Privately contacting all selected volunteers will afford me the opportunity to inform them with additional information and instructions. I will be mindful to maintain measures of

confidentiality.

If there are any questions or concerns, please afford me the opportunity to clarify or answer your inquiries. I can be reached at (314) 853-4048 or e-mailed at jcsims84@sbcglobal.net.

Understanding the faculty and administrative responsibilities that exist near the closing of a school year, I will make precautions not to interfere with the job performances and/or tasks of teachers. Thank you for allowing me to conduct this study. I greatly honor your consent. Sincerely,

Julius Sims

Graduate Student

University of Missouri-St. Louis

cc: Dale Burgdorf, Head Principal

cc: Julie Ward, Administrative Assistant

APPENDIX F

IRB APPROVAL (EMAIL)

Date: 06/11/2012 09:12 AM

To: "Paulette Isaac-Savage" <episaac@umsl.edu>, "Celeste Hazley" <hazleyc@umsl.edu>, "Julius Sims"

<jcsims84@sbcglobal.net>

From: "Carl Bassi" <no-reply@irbnet.org> Reply To: "Carl Bassi" <bassi@umsl.edu>

Please note that University of Missouri-St. Louis IRB has published the following Board Document on IRBNet:

Project Title: [238883-1] What is the Transformational Learning Experience of Secondary

Teachers Who Have Dealt with Burnout? Principal Investigator: Julius Sims, Ed.D.

Submission Type: New Project
Date Submitted: June 1, 2012

Document Type: Expedited Approval Form Document Description: Expedited Approval Form

Publish Date: June 11, 2012 The IRBNet Support Team

www.irbnet.org

Subject: IRBNet Board Action

Please note that University of Missouri-St. Louis IRB has taken the following action on IRBNet:

Project Title: [238883-1] What is the Transformational Learning Experience of Secondary

Teachers Who Have Dealt with Burnout? Principal Investigator: Julius Sims, Ed.D.

Submission Type: New Project Date Submitted: June 1, 2012

Action: APPROVED

Effective Date: June 11, 2012 Review Type: Expedited Review